
                     AGENDA 
 

 City of Carlsbad | City of Del Mar | City of Escondido | City of Oceanside |  
City of San Marcos | City of Solana Beach | City of Vista 

 

Board of Directors Regular Meeting Agenda 
February 29, 2024, 2:00 p.m.  

City of Oceanside, Council Chamber 
300 North Coast Hwy, Oceanside CA 92054 

 

Members of the public can observe the livestream of the meeting via Zoom by clicking: 
 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81376410530 
or telephonically by dialing: 

(253) 215-8782 
Meeting ID: 813 7641 0530 

 

Members of the public can provide public comment in writing or orally in person as follows: 
 

Written Comments:  If you are unable to participate in person and you wish to make a comment, you 
may submit written comments prior to and during the meeting via email to: 
Secretary@thecleanenergyalliance.org.  All written comments will be posted online and become part 
of the meeting record.  To ensure announcement of receipt of your written comments during the 
meeting, please submit all written comments by 12:00pm prior to the commencement of the 
meeting.  Public comments received in writing will not be read aloud at the meeting. 
 

Oral Comments:  Members of the public can address the Board on items on the agenda at the time 
the item is being addressed or during Public Comments for topics that are not listed on the agenda. 
Speakers are limited to three (3) minutes each. In conformance with the Brown Act, no Board action 
can occur on items presented during Public Comment.  
 

If you desire to speak during Public Comment, please fill out a speaker card and submit it to the Board 
Secretary. When you are called to speak, please come forward to the podium and state your name. 
To address the Board regarding an item on the agenda, please fill out a speaker card and submit it to 
the Board Secretary before the Board Chair announces the item.  
 

CALL TO ORDER  
 

ROLL CALL   
 

FLAG SALUTE  
 

BOARD COMMENTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Minutes of the Special Meeting held October 26, 2023 
Minutes of the Regular Meeting held October 26, 2023 
Minutes of the Adjourned Meeting held November 9, 2023 
Minutes of the Regular Meeting held January 25, 2024 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81376410530
mailto:Secretary@thecleanenergyalliance.org


                     AGENDA 
 

2 
Clean Energy Alliance Board Meeting Agenda 
February 29, 2024 

 

Presentations  
 

California Community Choice Association Presentation  
 

Consent Calendar 
 

Item 1:   Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for December 2023 
 

  RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive and file the Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for December 2023. 

 

Item 2: Receive Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational Report 
 
  RECOMMENDATION: 
 Receive and file the Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational Report. 
 

New Business 
 

Item 3:   Receive Regulatory Update from Keyes & Fox 
 
  RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive the Regulatory Update from Keyes & Fox. 
 
Item 4:   Amend JP Morgan Line of Credit  
 
  RECOMMENDATION: 

Adopt the resolution to approve the amendment to the JP Morgan Line of Credit.   
 

Item 5:   Amend Community Advisory Committee 2024 Meeting Schedule   
 
  RECOMMENDATION: 

Approve the amendment to the Community Advisory Committee 2024 Meeting 
Schedule. 

 
BOARD MEMBER REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS 
 
NEXT MEETING:   Regular Board Meeting March 28, 2024, City of Oceanside, 300 North Coast Highway, 

Oceanside, CA 92054  
 

 

If you are an individual with a disability and need a reasonable modification or accommodation 
pursuant to the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), please contact 
Secretary@thecleanenergyalliance.org prior to the meeting for assistance. 

mailto:Secretary@thecleanenergyalliance.org


 

 

Clean Energy Alliance - Board of Directors 
 Special Meeting Minutes 

       October 26, 2023, 1:00 p.m. 
City of Oceanside, Council Chamber 

300 North Coast Hwy, Oceanside CA 92054 
 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Chair Druker called to order the special meeting of the Clean Energy Alliance at                                                                     
1:01 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Board Members: Becker, Bhat-Patel, Garcia, Vice Chair Musgrove, Chair Druker 
         Member Melendez arrived at 1:05 p.m. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None. 
 
Closed Session 
 
Item 1:  Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation 

Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (d) of 
Government Code Section 54956.9 (d): (1 case) 

 
Item 2: Public Employee Appointment Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957 

Title:  Chief Executive Officer 
  
Item 3: Conference with Labor Negotiator Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6  

Agency Designated Representatives: CEO Recruitment CEA Board Subcommittee, Kevin 
Ennis, Special Counsel, Cindy Krebs, Alliance Resource Consulting 
Unrepresented Employee:  Chief Executive Officer 

 
 
RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION: CEA Board recessed to closed session at 1:02 p.m. 
 
RECONVENE TO OPEN SESSION: CEA Board reconvened to open session at 1:54 p.m. 
 
GENERAL COUNSEL ANNOUNCEMENT:  General Counsel announced that no action was taken in closed 
session required to be reported. 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 1:54 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       Susan Caputo, MMC 
       Interim Board Secretary 



 

 

Clean Energy Alliance - Board of Directors 
 Regular Meeting Minutes 

October 26, 2023, 2:00 p.m. 
City of Oceanside, Council Chamber 

300 North Coast Hwy, Oceanside CA 92054 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Chair Druker called to order the regular meeting of the Clean Energy Alliance at 2:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: Board Members:  Becker, Melendez, Bhat-Patel,  Garcia, Vice Chair Musgrove, Chair Druker 
                 
FLAG SALUTE: Member Becker led the flag salute. 
 
BOARD COMMENTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS: None 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
July 27, 2023, Special and Regular Meetings 
August 31, 2023, Special Meeting 
September 28, 2023, Special and Regular Meetings 
 
Motion by Becker, second by Bhat-Patel, to approve the minutes of the CEA Board July 27, 2023, August 
31, 2023, and September 28, 2023, meetings, respectively. 
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
 
Consent Calendar 
 
Item 1:   Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for August 2023 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Receive and file Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for August 2023. 
 
Item 2: Receive Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational Report and Special 

Counsel Regulatory Report 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 
 Receive Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational Report and Special Counsel 

Regulatory Report. 
 
Item 3: Receive Clean Energy Alliance Community Advisory Committee October 5, 2023, Meeting 

Report  
 
  RECOMMENDATION 
 Receive Clean Energy Alliance Community Advisory Committee October 5, 2023, Meeting 

Report. 
 
Item 4: Consider Approval of Resolution No. 2023-010 Approving the Form of and Authorizing the 

Execution of a Memorandum of Understanding and Authorizing Participation in the Special 
District Risk Management Authority’s Health Benefits Program 

 



 

Page 2 of 6 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
Approve Resolution No. 2023-010 approving the form of and authorizing the execution of a 
Memorandum of Understanding and authorizing participation in the Special District Risk 
Management Authority’s Health Benefits Program. 
 

Item 5: Consider Approval of 11-Year Power Purchase Agreements with Edwards Solar 1A Group 2 
Opco, LLC and Edwards Solar 1A Group 3 Opco, LLC for Resource Adequacy in Satisfaction 
of a Portion of Clean Energy Alliance’s Mid-Term Reliability Requirements 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Approve 11-Year Power Purchase Agreements for Resource Adequacy with Edwards Solar 1A 
Group 2 Opco, LLC in an amount not to exceed $12,455,520 and Edwards Solar 1A Group 3 
Opco, LLC in an amount not to exceed $1,848,000 in satisfaction of a portion of Clean Energy 
Alliance’s Mid-Term Reliability Requirements. Authorize the Chief Executive Officer to 
execute all documents, substantially as to form of attached, subject to Transactions Attorney 
approval. 
 

Motion by Melendez, second by Bhat-Patel, to approve the consent calendar.  
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
 
 
Public Hearing 
 
Item 6:   Consider Adoption of Clean Energy Alliance Resolution No. 2023-009 Setting Rates and 

Approval of Agreements for Clean Energy Alliance Solar Plus Residential Distributed 
Microgrid Program Providing Solar and Battery Storage Systems 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
1. Conduct the Public Hearing: Open the Public Hearing, Receive Public Testimony, and 

Close the Public Hearing. 
2. Adopt Resolution No. 2023-009 Setting Rates for Clean Energy Alliance Solar + Program 

Effective November 1, 2023.  
3. Approve Power Purchase and Sale Agreement, Program Management Agreement, 

Program Support Agreement and Framework Distributed Microgrids Agreement with 
Participate.Energy, LLC and authorize the Chief Executive Officer to execute all 
documents subject to General and Special Counsel approval. 

 
Chair Druker opened the public hearing and Interim Board Secretary Caputo reported on the 
notices. CEO Boswell presented the item noting that the Solar Plus Program would allow 
residential customers to have access to solar and battery storage systems with zero upfront 
cost to the homeowner, provides price stability, generates 100% renewable energy. The 
program would create grid stability, locally created Green Energy, and provide customers 
with the best value offer in the market. Ms. Boswell commented on the program partners 
Tesla, Inc., and Participate.Energy LLC, noting that Tesla offers turnkey residential, new 
homes commercial and utility scale solar and battery operation throughout the state and 
Participate.Energy provides the credit and cash support. 
 
Board comments and questions included whether the program would be available to schools 
and churches; whether approval would prohibit CEA from entering into other agreements; 



 

Page 3 of 6 
 

regarding multi-family housing and new projects whether it could be available or made a 
condition of residency; and will mobile home parks be included. 
 
CEO Boswell indicated that the first phase of the program is geared to residential customers 
and upcoming phases would include commercial accounts including schools as well as 
battery access for those customers that have solar but no battery access. Also noted that the 
agreements are not exclusive, and CEA would be able to enter into other agreements. 
Regarding multi-family and new projects Ms. Boswell commented that the program is geared 
toward single-family residences but that a grant application for vehicle charging at multi-
family housing for underserved communities with a solar and battery storage component is 
in process and if successful could potentially become the pilot phase for multi-family 
communities. Regarding mobile home parks it was noted that each would be unique and 
many factors such as structure of the mobile home and whether the system could be 
installed would have to be considered. 
 
Stephen Pollock of Participate.Energy commented that four cities have signed a contract and 
are moving forward with the program and the City of Lancaster has launched the program. 
 
Interim Board Secretary Caputo commented that no requests to speak or any written 
communication have been received in the ten days prior to the hearing. 
  

Motion by Musgrove, second by Bhat-Patel, to close the public hearing. 
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
 
Motion by Musgrove, second by Becker, to adopt Resolution No. 2023-009. 
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
 
Motion by Melendez, second by Bhat-Patel, to approve agreements with Participate.Energy, LLC and 
authorize the CEO to execute all documents subject to General and Special Counsel approval. 
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
 
 
New Business  
  
Item 7: Receive Annual Audited Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2023 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
Receive and file Clean Energy Alliance Annual Audited Financial Report for the Fiscal Year 
Ended June 30, 2023. 
 
CEO Boswell introduced the item and Brett Bradford of Pisenti & Brinker LLP, who provided  
the Financial Report noting that upon completion of the audit an unmodified opinion was 
reported meaning the financial statements are materially accurate and no significant 
deficiencies or material weakness in internal control were noted for Fiscal Year ended 
June 30, 2023.  
 

PUBLIC COMMENT: None 
 

CEA Board received report.   
 



 

Page 4 of 6 
 

 
Item 8: Consider Approval of Wholesale Market Access Tariff Terms and Conditions, Wholesale 

Market Access Agreement and Positive Enrollment Agreements with San Diego County 
Water Authority and Poseidon Resources (Channelside) LP for Enrollment of the 
Channelside Account at the Carlsbad Desalination Plant 

 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

1) Approve the Wholesale Market Access Tariff Terms and Conditions; 
2) Approve Wholesale Market Access Agreement that includes Positive Enrollment 

Agreements with San Diego County Water Authority and Poseidon Resources 
(Channelside) LP for enrollment of the Channelside account at the Carlsbad Desalination 
Plant. Authorize the Chief Executive Officer to execute all documents, subject to General 
Counsel approval. 

 
CEO Boswell introduced the item and commented that Brent Fountain of the San Diego 
County Water Authority (SDCWA) is in attendance to answer any questions of the Board.  
Ms. Boswell gave an overview of the item noting that the Board previously approved the 
MOU with SDCWA & Channelside to develop a program that would allow CEA to enroll the 
Channelside account and address the risks of serving such a large load account. The 
Wholesale Market Access Tariff (WMAT) was developed as a result of diligent teamwork of 
staff, technical consultants, and legal team. The WMAT provides the ability for CEA to serve 
Channelside and mitigate risks to CEA and its customers related to normal opt-out rates. 
WMAT would be available to eligible non-residential accounts with an annual load greater 
than 150GWh that meet other certain criteria.  WMAT is consistent with the JPA goal of 
reducing GHG Emissions, and provides customers with more control over energy supply by 
participating in power procurement among other benefits. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None 
 

General Counsel Canlas commented that correspondence from a member of the public was 
received highlighting that there may be issues entering into a contract with Channelside.  
Special Regulatory Counsel has looked at the issue and found that what CEA is doing today is 
creating a new category whereby all others that fit into the new category will be able do so 
under the same terms and conditions as what is before the Board. 
 
Chair Druker commented that the agreement would benefit Carlsbad in reaching their 
Climate Action Plan goals and stated the importance of the agreement to CEA and SDCWA in 
hope that producing desalinated water may become less expensive.  
 

Motion by Bhat-Patel, second by Musgrove, to approve the Wholesale Market Access Tarriff Terms and 
Conditions. 
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
 
Motion by Bhat-Patel, second by Melendez, to approve the Wholesale Market Agreement. 
Motion carried unanimously, 6/0. 
  
 
 
 



 

Page 5 of 6 
 

 
Item 9: Consider Approval of Clean Energy Alliance Solar Billing Plan (NEM 3.0)  
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

   CEA Board direct staff to:  
• Implement Solar Billing Plan to mirror San Diego Gas & Electric’s Solar Billing Plan and 

maintain CEA’s current Net Surplus Compensation methodology effective December 15, 
2023; or 

• Implement a modified Solar Billing Plan to mirror San Diego Gas & Electric’s Solar Billing 
Plan which provides a $.01 per kWh premium to the Avoided Cost Component and 
maintain CEA’s current Net Surplus Compensation methodology effective December 15, 
2023, for 5 years; or 

• Do not implement Solar Billing Plan. 
 

CEO Boswell presented the item commenting that this is the new billing process for 
customers that have rooftop solar and applicable to customers that have applied with 
SDG&E for permits to install new solar systems after April 15, 2023. Staff is seeking direction 
as stated in staff recommendation. Ms. Boswell noted that the among the changes of the 
CPUC approved Solar Billing Plan (SPB) is the methodology for calculating charges and credits 
and Net Surplus Compensation calculation methodology, changes from an annual true-up to 
monthly, estimates solar system payback increased from 5-years to 9-years, and that CEA is 
not required to implement SBP. In addition, CEA customers with applications after April 15, 
2023, will be placed on SBP for SDG&E Transmission and Delivery  (T&D) as well as customers 
on NEM 1.0 and 2.0 who reach the end of their legacy period regardless of whether CEA 
adopts SBP.  
 
Vice Chair Musgrove inquired, and CEO Boswell responded that the modified SPB is the 
recommendation of staff and supported by the majority of the Community Advisory 
Committee (CAC). 
 
Board member Bhat-Patel exited the meeting at 2:58 p.m. and Member Melendez exited the 
meeting at 3:09 p.m. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT:  CAC Vice Chair Don Mosier addressed the Board regarding the consensus of the CAC to  
incentivize rooftop solar supporting the addition of a 6 cents per KWh compensation for CEA customers who 
put excess solar power back to the grid. 
 
Motion by Musgrove, second by Becker, to approve the implementation of a modified Solar Billing Plan to 
mirror San Diego Gas & Electric’s Solar Billing Plan which provides a $.01 per kWh premium to the Avoided 
Cost Component and maintain CEA’s current Net Surplus Compensation methodology effective December 
15, 2023, for 5 years. 
Motion carried unanimously, 4/0. 
 
Item 10: Consider Approval of Establishment of a Feed-in-Tariff (Community Solar) Program and 

Direct Staff to Return with Program Guidelines and Related Documents  
 
  RECOMMENDATION 
 Approve Establishment of a Feed-In-Tariff (Community Solar) Program with the criteria 

recommended by staff and direct staff to return with a marketing campaign, program 
guidelines, application, and power purchase agreement. 



 

Page 6 of 6 
 

 
CEA Board adjourned this item to November 9, 2023, 12pm. City of Oceanside 
 
BOARD MEMBER REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS: None 
  
NEXT MEETING:   Adjourned Board Meeting November 9, 2023, City of Oceanside, 300 North Coast  

Highway, Oceanside, CA 92054   
  

ADJOURN: Chair Druker adjourned the meeting at 3:16 p.m. 
 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       Susan Caputo, MMC 
       Interim Board Secretary 



 

 

Clean Energy Alliance - Board of Directors 
 Adjourned Meeting Minutes 

       November 9, 2023, 12:00 p.m. 
City of Oceanside, Council Chamber 

300 North Coast Hwy, Oceanside CA 92054 
 

 
CALL TO ORDER: Following the resolve of technical issues, Vice Chair Musgrove called to order the adjourned 
meeting of the Clean Energy Alliance at 12:11 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:  Board Members: Becker, Melendez, Garcia, Joyce, Bhat-Patel, Vice Chair Musgrove, Chair Druker 
       
FLAG SALUTE:  Vice Chair Musgrove led the flag salute. 
 

Chair Druker commented on his teleconference participation and indicated that Vice Chair 
Musgrove will be chairing the meeting.  Board member Bhat-Patel commented on her remote 
participation under just cause of childcare. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None. 
 
New Business 
 
Item 1:   Consider Approval of Establishment of a Feed-in-Tariff (Community Solar) Program and Direct 

Staff to Return with Program Guidelines and Related Documents  
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Establishment of a Feed-In-Tariff (Community Solar) Program with the criteria 
recommended by staff and direct staff to return with a marketing campaign, program 
guidelines, application, and power purchase agreement. 
 
CEO Boswell presented the item noting that the CEA Board and Community Advisory Committee 
have prioritized establishment of a Feed-inTariff also known as Community Solar to incentivize 
locally situated, small scale, renewable energy projects and would be a standard offering that 
would include a predetermined price that CEA would pay for the energy as well as establish the 
delivery term, project size limitations and power purchase agreement and these items will not 
be negotiated as part of the process. Ms. Boswell gave an overview of the recommended 
offering criteria commenting that the program guidelines would be consistent with CEA’s 
Inclusive & Sustainable Workforce Policy and that the majority of the Community Advisory 
Committee (CAC) support the development of the program. 
 
Board comments and questions included inquiry regarding how proposals would be weighted; 
would it be a first come, first served basis;  does staff know of any local companies currently 
making offering; unintended negative impacts. CEO Boswell responded that CEA’s Bid Criteria 
Policy would be followed and that standard offerings are evaluated as received; no knowledge 
of any specific projects but the community expressed they would like to see CEA offer in order 
to take advantage of potential smaller scale programs; and any of these projects would be 
subject to normal permitting process where any negative impact would be addressed. 
 

Motion by Joyce, second by Garcia to approve staff recommendation. 
Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 
Item 2:   Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-011 Approving the First Amendment to Chief 

Executive Officer Employment Agreement with Gregory Wade to Change the Effective Date of 
his Employment  

 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt Resolution No. 2023-011 approving the First Amendment to the Chief Executive Officer 
Employment Agreement with Gregory Wade in substantial form as Attachment A or as 
presented at the meeting, with non-substantive revisions approved by the Clean Energy Alliance 
Board of Directors Chair and reviewed and approved as to form by Special Counsel. 
 
Special Counsel Kevin Ennis presented the item commenting that the recommendation to 
approve the First Amendment to CEO Employment Agreement contains a set of changes to the 
version in the agenda packet indicating that the City of Solana Beach requests that the deferral 
date of the contract to be effective and specific to February 1, 2024. 
 
Board member Becker noted that she is the representative from Solana Beach, and in the 
interest of transparency, counsel has informed that no conflict of interest is present for this 
issue and Special Counsel Ennis concurred. 
 

Public Comment: None  
 
Motion by Bhat-Patel, second by Garcia to approve the recommended action with the changes described by 
Special Counsel Ennis to specify the effective date of the contract as February 1, 2024. 
Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
Item 3:   Consider Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-012 Approving the Fiscal Year 2023/24 Position 

Control Listing 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt Resolution No. 2023-012 approving the Fiscal Year 2023/24 Position Control Listing. 
 
CEO Boswell gave an overview of the item noting the number of people that CEA staff 
anticipates hiring in the positions that have been approved by the Board and that this is a last 
step in preparing to hire staff. 

 
Public Comment: None  
 
Motion by Becker, second by Melendez, to approve recommended action. 
Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
BOARD MEMBER REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS: None 
 
ADJOURNMENT: Vice Chair Musgrove adjourned the meeting at 12:37 p.m. 
 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       Susan Caputo, MMC 
       Interim Board Secretary 



 

 

Clean Energy Alliance - Board of Directors 
 Regular Meeting Minutes 

January 25, 2024, 2:00 p.m. 
City of Oceanside, Council Chamber 

300 North Coast Hwy, Oceanside CA 92054 
 

CALL TO ORDER: Chair Druker called to order the regular meeting of the Clean Energy Alliance at 2:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL: Board Members:  Garcia, Becker, Sanchez, Vice Chair Musgrove, Chair Druker. 

Board Member Bhat-Patel participated remotely under just cause of childcare. 
Board Member Melendez arrived at 2:02 p.m. 
                 

FLAG SALUTE: Board Member Garcia led the flag salute. 
 
Item 1:   Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair for Calendar 

Year 2024 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors Appoint Chair and Vice Chair for calendar year 2024. 
 

Motion by Vice Chair Musgrove, seconded by Board Member Becker, to appoint Chair Druker as Chair for 
calendar year 2024. Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
Motion by Chair Druker, seconded by Vice Chair Musgrove, to appoint Board Member Melendez as Vice 
Chair for calendar year 2024. Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
PRESENTATIONS: Introduction of new Clean Energy Alliance staff 
 
Interim Chief Executive Officer Barbara Boswell introduced the following CEA staff members:  
 
Emily Fabick, Regulatory Analyst 
Rob Howard, Key Accounts/Program Manager 
Kaitlin McGee, Key Accounts/Program Manager 
Kaylin McCauley, Board Secretary/Administrative Assistant  
Daniel Peckham, Power Procurement Manager 
Greg Wade, Chief Executive Officer 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: None. 
 
Consent Calendar 
 
Item 2:   Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for September 2023 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Receive and file Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for September 2023. 
 
Item 3:   Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for October 2023 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Receive and file Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for October 2023. 
 



 

Page 2 of 3 
 

Item 4:   Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for November 2023 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Receive and file Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report for November 2023. 
 
Item 5:   Consider Approval of 2024 Legislative and Regulatory Policy Platform  
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Approve Clean Energy Alliance 2024 Legislative and Regulatory Policy Platform.  
 

Item 6:   Re-appointment of Clean Energy Alliance City of Carlsbad Community Advisory Committee 
Member Paige DeCino for Term through December 31, 2024 

 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Approve the re-appointment of Clean Energy Alliance City of Carlsbad Community Advisory 
Committee Member Paige DeCino for term through December 31, 2024. 
 

Item 7: Receive Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational Report 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 
 Receive and file Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational Report. 

 
Motion by Board Member Becker, seconded by Board Member Musgrove, to approve the consent 
calendar. Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
New Business  
  
Item 8:   Receive Regulatory Update from Keyes & Fox 
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Receive Regulatory Update from Keyes & Fox. 
 
Keyes and Fox Partner and CEA Regulatory Counsel Tim Lindl presented the update.  

 
CEA Board received report.   
 
Item 9:   Receive Reports from the Community Advisory Committee Subcommittees on 2023 

Accomplishments.  
 
  RECOMMENDATION 

Receive reports from the Community Advisory Committee Subcommittees on 2023 
accomplishments. 
 

 Interim Chief Executive Officer Boswel introduced the item. Community Advisory Committee Member Paige 
DeCino provided a report on the Local Programs subcommittee. Community Advisory Committee Chair 
Dwight Worden provided a report on Outreach to Communities of Concern subcommittee. Community 
Advisory Committee Member Kevin Norris provided a report on the Electric Vehicles subcommittee. 
Community Advisory Committee Member Debra Schade provided a report on the Schools Outreach 
subcommittee.  
 



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

CEA Board received the reports.   
 
Item 10:   Provide Direction Related to Changes in Community Advisory Committee Structure, 

Consider Approval of 2024 Community Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule and 
Workplan, and Appoint Community Advisory Committee Chair  

 
  RECOMMENDATION 

1) Provide direction related to changes in the Community Advisory Committee structure. 
2) Approve 2024 Community Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule and Workplan. 
3) Appoint Community Advisory Committee 2024 Chair. 

 
Interim Chief Executive Officer Boswell presented a report and recommended that the Board maintain the 
current Community Advisory Committee structure.  
 
PUBLIC COMMENT: Dwight Worden expressed his support for maintaining the current structure of the 
Community Advisory Committee. 
 
CEA Board concluded to maintain the current structure of the Community Advisory Committee.  
 
Motion by Vice Chair Melendez, seconded by Board Member Musgrove, to approve the 2024 Community 
Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule and Workplan.  Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
Motion by Board Member Musgrove, seconded by Board Member Becker, to appoint Dwight Worden as 
Chair of the Community Advisory Community.  Motion carried unanimously, 7/0. 
 
BOARD MEMBER REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS: Vice Chair Melendez requested an update on 
events and efforts regarding the launch in the City of Vista.  
 
BOARD COMMENTS & ANNOUNCEMENTS: CEA Board Members expressed their appreciation for Interim 
Chief Executive Officer Boswell. Board Member Sanchez shared that the City of Oceanside entered into an 
agreement with Engie Services for Energy Efficiency initiatives.  
  
NEXT MEETING:   Regular Board Meeting February 29, 2024, City of Oceanside, 300 North Coast  

Highway, Oceanside, CA 92054   
  

ADJOURN: Chair Druker adjourned the meeting at 3:16 p.m. 
 
 
 
       _______________________________________ 
       Kaylin McCauley 
       Board Secretary/Administrative Assistant  
 



Staff Report 

DATE: February 29, 2024 

TO: Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors 

FROM: Andy Stern, Interim Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer 

ITEM 1: Clean Energy Alliance Treasurer’s Report 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive and File the Clean Energy Alliance (CEA) Interim Treasurer’s Report for December 2023. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 

This report provides the Board with the following financial information through December 31, 2023: 

• Statement of Financial Position (Unaudited and preliminary) – Reports assets, liabilities, and
financial position of the CEA as of December 31, 2023.

• Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position (Unaudited and preliminary)
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2023.

• Budget to Actuals Comparison Schedule (Unaudited and preliminary) – Reports actual
revenues and expenditures compared to the annual amended budget as of December 31,
2023.

• List of Payments Issued – Reports payments issued for December 2023.

As of December 31, 2023, liabilities represent invoices and estimated accruals for energy and services 
received but not yet paid. The noncurrent liabilities relate to debt with JPMorgan as well as amounts due 
to the member cities of Carlsbad, Del Mar and Solana Beach. CEA is currently making interest only 
payments on the debt from JPMorgan. The amounts due to the member agency were for start-up costs 
and services provided to CEA for the period December 2019 to June 2020.  These invoices are scheduled 
to be paid three years from the time CEA is operational. 

Submitted for Board consideration: 

___________________________________ 
Gregory Wade 
Chief Executive Officer 



February 29, 2024 
CEA Treasurer’s Report 

Page 2 of 7 
 
 

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10,168,038$     

Accounts receivable, net of allowance 12,941,540       

Accrued revenue 7,717,451         

Other receivables 472,709            

Prepaid expenses 2,655,083         

Deposits 399,000            

Total current assets 34,353,821       

Noncurrent assets

Restricted cash 207,000            

Deposits 771,376            

Total noncurrent assets 978,376            

Total assets 35,332,197       

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accrued cost of electricity 19,978,046       

Accounts payable 436,151            

Other accrued liabilities 340,705            

Interest payable 94,983              

Due to member agencies 504,017            

Total current liabilities 21,353,902       

Noncurrent liabilities

Security deposits - energy suppliers 496,150            

Bank note payable 4,950,000         

Total noncurrent liabilities 5,446,150         

Total liabilities 26,800,052       

NET POSITION

Unrestricted 8,532,145         

Total net position 8,532,145$       

These financial statements do not contain note disclosures, have not been subjected to an 

audit or review or compilation engagement, and no assurance is provided on them.

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

As of December 31, 2023

 
 



February 29, 2024 
CEA Treasurer’s Report 

Page 3 of 7 
 

OPERATING REVENUES

Electricity sales, net 114,821,829$    

OPERATING EXPENSES

Cost of electricity 96,779,830        

Contract services 2,178,222          

Other operating expenses 182,573             

   Total operating expenses 99,140,625        

Operating income (loss) 15,681,204        

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest income 76,432               

Interest expense (773,207)            

Nonoperating revenues (expenses), net (696,775)            

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 14,984,429        

Net position at beginning of year (6,452,284)         

Net position at end of period 8,532,145$        

These financial statements do not contain note disclosures, have not been subjected to an audit or 

review or compilation engagement, and no assurance is provided on them.

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

Six Months ended December 31, 2023

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



February 29, 2024 
CEA Treasurer’s Report 

Page 4 of 7 
 
 
BUDGET TO ACTUALS COMPARISON SCHEDULE 
 
At its June 2023, board meeting, the CEA Board approved the Fiscal Year (FY) 2023/24 budget approving 

$213,361,000 in total operating and nonoperating expenses. For the year-to-date, $101,426,000 has been 

expended. Revenues from electricity sales for the year-to-date reached $106,618,000. The overall change 

in available fund balance (ignoring loan proceeds) for the year-to-date was an increase of $14,984,000.  

The Budget to Actuals Comparison Schedules as of December 31, 2023, is shown on the next page. 

 

 

 

 



February 29, 2024 
CEA Treasurer’s Report 

Page 5 of 7 
 

ANNUAL 

BUDGET

 YEAR-TO-

DATE 

ACTUAL

ANNUAL 

BUDGET 

REMAINING

Operating Revenues

Energy Sales 230,915,000$    116,334,173      114,580,827$    

Operating Expenses

Power Supply 200,000,000      96,779,830        103,220,170      

Data Manager / Call Center 2,500,000          983,785             1,516,215          

Staffing/Consultants 3,000,000          199,930             2,800,070          

Legal Services 467,500             204,388             263,112             

Professional Services 1,448,885          658,761             790,124             

Audit Services 10,000               23,421               (13,421)             

Software & Licenses 15,000               25,841               (10,841)             

Membership Dues 292,040             143,520             148,520             

G&A (includes Bad Debt expense) 4,927,780          1,633,493          3,294,287          

Total Operating Expenses 212,661,205      100,652,969      112,008,236      

   Operating Income (Loss) 18,253,795        15,681,204        2,572,591          

Financing

Interest Income 50,000               76,432               (26,432)             

Interest Expense (750,000)           (773,207)           23,207               

Net Interest Income (Expense) (700,000)           (696,775)           (3,225)               

17,553,795$      14,984,429$      2,569,366$        

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

Six Months ended December 31, 2023

Change in Net Position

These financial statements do not contain note disclosures, have not been subjected to an audit or review 

or compilation engagement, and no assurance is provided on them.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



February 29, 2024 
CEA Treasurer’s Report 

Page 6 of 7 
 
 
 
LIST OF PAYMENTS ISSUED 

The report on the following page provides the detail of payments issued by CEA for the month. All 
payments were within approved budget. 
 
 
 



February 29, 2024 
CEA Treasurer’s Report 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Date Type Vendor Description  Amount 
12/28/2023 ACH/CHECK Avanti Executive Suites January 2024 -Rent 1,450.82            
12/13/2023 ACH/CHECK Braun Blaising Smith October 2023 - Professional Services - General Matters and Joint 2,069.54            
12/18/2023 ACH/CHECK Brentech Incorporated Annual Support Agreement Retainer 3,500.00            
12/19/2023 ACH/CHECK Brentech Incorporated Computer supplies and software 11,375.96          
12/19/2023 ACH/CHECK California Choice Energy November 2023 - RA 4,500.00            
12/01/2023 Wire California Public Utilities August 2023 RA E-4195-0154 226,262.40       
12/18/2023 Wire California Public Utilities September 2023 RA E-4195-0155 390,364.80       
12/07/2023 ACH/CHECK Calpine Energy Solutions October 2023 Services 165,216.00       
12/21/2023 Wire Grade 6 Oil LLC BILLING PERIOD  -  Nov 2023 RA 38,375.00          
12/14/2023 ACH/CHECK Hall Energy Law PC October 2023 - Energy Procurement Counsel Services - Transaction 4,680.00            
12/19/2023 ACH/CHECK Keyes & Fox LLP November 2023 - Professional Services 13,352.25          
12/20/2023 Wire LEAPFROG POWER, INC. December 2023 RA 1,210.00            
12/15/2023 ACH/CHECK Lupa Affairs Llc November 2023 - Professional Service 735.00                
12/13/2023 ACH/CHECK Maher Accountancy December 2023 - Accounting, cash disbursements and related tasks 9,500.00            
12/07/2023 ACH/CHECK Neyenesch Printers Printing/Mailing 1,640.24            
12/18/2023 ACH/CHECK Neyenesch Printers Printing/Mailing 307.09                
12/19/2023 ACH/CHECK Neyenesch Printers Printing/Mailing 5,223.19            
12/27/2023 ACH/CHECK Neyenesch Printers Printing/Mailing 858.69                
12/28/2023 ACH/CHECK Pacific Energy Advisors, Inc November 2023 - Technical Consulting Advisors 27,284.71          
12/21/2023 Wire Powerex Transactions for the Period of December 2023 98,562.50          
12/21/2023 Wire Resi Station LLC Proxy Demand Response CEA Nov2023 2,010.00            
12/01/2023 ACH/CHECK Richards, Watson & Special Legal Counsel Services Provided Through October 2023 28,817.00          
12/27/2023 ACH/CHECK Richards, Watson & Special Legal Counsel Services Provided Through November 2023 6,120.28            
12/05/2023 ACH/CHECK River City Bank CC office supplies - CC charges 4.14                    
12/04/2023 Wire SAAVI ENERGY SOLUTIONS, Firm Resourre Adequacy - (March 2024) Prepayment  105,000.00       
12/22/2023 ACH/CHECK San Elijo Life Banner Advertisement for a 12-month contract at $100 per month. 100.00                
12/20/2023 Wire SDG&E (Procurement) Nov-23 Resource Adequacy Sales (MCAM) 121,875.70       
12/20/2023 Wire SDG&E (Procurement) Nov-23 Resource Adequacy Sales 108,765.00       
12/20/2023 Wire SDG&E (Procurement) Nov 2023 REC Sales - LT Bundled & Unbundled 990,385.80       
12/20/2023 Wire SEMPRA November 2023 - Capacity Purchases 517,400.00       
12/15/2023 ACH/CHECK State Compensation 1st payment for Worker’s Comp 770.83                
12/01/2023 ACH/CHECK STERN, ANDREW CFO SERVICES -  For the period from Oct 22, 2023 - Nov 21, 2023 7,500.00            
12/06/2023 ACH/CHECK The Bayshore Consulting November 2023 - CEO, Clerk Services & Reimbursable Expenses. 21,228.99          
12/18/2023 Wire THE ENERGY AUTHORITY November 2023 - CAISO Weekly Settlement 120,963.75       
12/22/2023 Wire THE ENERGY AUTHORITY December 2023 - CAISO Weekly Settlement 155,901.81       
12/28/2023 ACH/CHECK THE ENERGY AUTHORITY November 2023 - Resource Management Monthly Fees 11,700.00          
12/13/2023 ACH/CHECK Tripepi, Smith & November 2023 - Communications and Marketing Service 13,274.87          
12/22/2023 ACH/CHECK Tripepi, Smith & December 2023 - Communications and Marketing Service 13,498.19          
12/13/2023 ACH/CHECK USPS First-Class Mail and First-Class Package Service 388.00                
12/13/2023 ACH/CHECK USPS First-Class Mail and First-Class Package Service 65.00                  
12/13/2023 ACH/CHECK USPS First-Class Mail and First-Class Package Service 331.84                
12/18/2023 ACH/CHECK USPS First-Class Mail and First-Class Package Service 113.44                
12/29/2023 ACH/CHECK USPS First-Class Mail and First-Class Package Service 1,056.26            
12/18/2023 ACH/CHECK Z|NEMS NEM Cash Out 29,589.82          

Total for Operating Account 3,263,328.91    

12/26/2023 Lockbox Direct Energy October 2023 -  Power purchase Hedge 1,032,170.71    
12/26/2023 Lockbox Morgan Stanley Capital November 2023 -  Power Purchase 2,576,437.71    
12/26/2023 Lockbox Tecolote Wind LLC November 2023 - Resource Adequacy Benefits 11,500.00          
12/26/2023 Lockbox Exelon Generation October 2023  - Power Purchase 3,262,079.46    
12/26/2023 Lockbox Shell Oil North America October 2023 - Energy purchase & November 2023 - RA SWAP 2,679,593.87    

Total for Lockbox Account 9,561,781.75    

PAYMENTS ISSUED DURING DECEMBER 2023

 



Staff Report 

DATE: February 29, 2024 

TO: Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors 

FROM: Gregory Wade, Chief Executive Officer 

ITEM 2: Clean Energy Alliance Chief Executive Officer Operational and Administrative Report 

RECOMMENDATION: 

Receive and File Chief Executive Officer Operational and Administrative Report. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 

This report provides an update to the Clean Energy Alliance (CEA) Board regarding operational and 

administrative activity. 

OPERATIONAL UPDATE 

Oceanside & Vista April 2024 Enrollment 

The City Councils of Oceanside and Vista have selected Clean Impact Plus, 75% Carbon Free, as the default 

power supply in which customers will be automatically enrolled.  In addition, the City of Vista City Council 

approved enrolling all municipal accounts in CEA’s Green Impact, 100% renewable power supply, in 

support of meeting its Climate Action Plan goals. 

Enrollment mailers began hitting Oceanside and Vista mailboxes in early February in preparation for the 

automatic enrollments in April 2024. The February mailers will be the first of four mailers to be sent out. 

The schedule of mailers are as follows: 

February 2024: 60-Day pre-enrollment mailer - Complete 
March 2024: 30-Day pre-enrollment mailer 
March 2024: Letter to NEM customers being enrolled in April 2024 
May 2024: 30-Day post-enrollment welcome letter 
June 2024: 60-Day post-enrollment mailer 

CEA staff and Oceanside and Vista staff have been meeting regularly over the past several months to 
prepare a marketing and communications strategy for the April 2024 enrollment.  This includes identifying 
community events to participate in, key community groups to reach out to, and key customers to contact. 
The goal of the marketing and communications strategy is to meet with affected residents and businesses 
to answer questions they may have about CEA, address concerns related to the enrollment, and to 
minimize opt-outs.  



February 29, 2024 
Admin Report 

Page 2 of 6 

To provide opportunities for the communities to meet with CEA staff and have their questions answered, 

staff is planning to attend several in person community events.  

CEA in the Community 

CEA has been busy with its outreach efforts.  Groups that staff has been in contact with include: 

Live Well, San Diego 

CleanTech San Diego 

San Diego Building Electrification Coalition 

San Diego Regional Climate Collaborative 

Universidad Popular 

Council on Supplier Diversity 

Surfrider Foundation 

Oceanside Unified School District 

San Diego North Business Chamber – Sustainability Advisory Council 

Preserve Calavera 

Oceanside & Vista Chambers of Commerce 

RE+ Conference 

Carlsbad Chamber Green Business Committee 

North County NAACP – Youth Council Black History Brunch 

 

Upcoming events that CEA will be participating in:  

DATE DESCRIPTION 

March 9, 2024 Vista Farmer’s Market 

March – TBD  Main Street Oceanside – Sunset Market 

March 21, 2024 Oceanside Chamber of Commerce Meet the City Event 

March 25, 2024 Oceanside County Club Senior Lunch Presentation 

April 7, 2024 San Marcos Spring Fling 

April 20, 2024 Vista – Earth Day at the Gardens - Alta Vista Botanical Garden 

April 27, 2024 Carlsbad Chamber Green Business Expo 

May 19, 2024 Escondido Street Festival 

May 26, 2024 Vista Strawberry Festival 
 
 
Planned advertisements related to CEA’s expansion to Oceanside & Vista include: 
 

• Coast News – Oceanside 
• 200,000 readers 

• Coast News Inland Edition – Vista 
• 10,000 readers 

• Vista Press  
• 25,000 subscribers 

 



February 29, 2024 
Admin Report 

Page 3 of 6 

• North County Daily Star – Vista & Oceanside 
• 650,000 residents in distribution area 

• Vista Magazine 
• Oceanside Magazine 
• Google, Facebook, Instagram Ads 

 
CEA is also a proud sponsor of the City of Vista Moonlight Amphitheater. Benefits of sponsorship 
include: 

• Logo recognition on Moonlight website & social media 
• Name listed in 70,000 summer season show programs 
• Custom banner on Moonlight Amphitheatre North & South entrances 
•  Full-page digital ad on Moonlight Amphitheatre billboard during all MSP events 
• Quarter-page advertisement in 70,000 summer show programs 

 
CEA meeting with San Diego Gas and Electric Executive Team 

In order to foster communication between CEA and San Diego Gas & Electric (SDG&E), a quarterly meeting 

is held between CEA and SDG&E Executive teams.  The most recent meeting took place on February 7, 

2024, and was attended by Chair Druker, Vice Chair Melendez, CEO Greg Wade, Interim CFO Andy Stern 

and Previous CEO Barbara Boswell.  Topics included 2023 Accomplishments and 2024 Goals & Priorities. 

Programs Update 

Solar Plus: CEA staff has been working diligently with its partners to implement CEA’s Solar Plus program.  

Through Solar Plus, CEA residential customers can access Tesla Solar and Battery Storage systems with no 

out-of-pocket, up-front costs. Due to the customer not buying the system there is no credit check 

required.  With this program customers who did not previously have access to the benefits of solar and 

battery storage systems will now be able to take advantage of their benefits.  CEA’s Solar Plus program 

addresses CEA’s goals of increasing the amount of renewable energy used by CEA’s customers and 

ensuring all customers have access to reliable renewable energy systems. 

Call Center Activity and Participation Statistics 

The charts on the following pages reflect customer activity through January 31, 2024. 

 



February 29, 2024 
Admin Report 

Page 4 of 6 

 

Call volumes to CEA’s Call Center increased slightly in January 2024 from November and December 2023, 

which is to be expected due to the holiday season.  The most common call topic was related to Net Energy 

Metering (NEM), which is to be expected since CEA will be enrolling NEM customers in Escondido and San 

Marcos through March 2024. 

  

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24

Call Center Stats

Total  Calls Calls Connected to Agents



February 29, 2024 
Admin Report 

Page 5 of 6 

The following chart reflects the monthly and cumulative opt-outs through January 31, 2024 for CEA: 

 

CEA’s participation rate is approximately 95.1%, with a net increase in opt-ins of 162 in December.  CEA 

and its Data Manager, Calpine, continue to refine the methodology for accounting for customer 

participation, the results of which resulted in data anomalies in July and October of last year.  The current 

statistics reflect what staff believes to be the most accurate accounting of opt out activity.  

The following chart reflects enrollments in CEA’s power supply products: 

POWER SUPPLY PRODUCT 
DECEMBER 

2023 
JANUARY 

2024 
Net 

Change 

Clean Impact – 50% Renewable  473 504 +31 

Clean Impact Plus - 75% Carbon Free 142,441 149,299 +6,858 

Green Impact – 100% Renewable 612 625 +13 

TOTAL ACCOUNTS 143,526 150,428 6,902 
 

The increase in enrollment is related to the enrollment of NEM customers in Escondido and San Marcos. 

These accounts are enrolled in the month of their annual true-up as opposed to being enrolled in April 

2023, when non-NEM customers were enrolled. 

-8,000

-6,000

-4,000

-2,000

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

Jan-23 Feb-23 Mar-23 Apr-23 May-23 Jun-23 Jul-23 Aug-23 Sep-23 Oct-23 Nov-23 Dec-23 Jan-24

Opt-Out Stats

Monthly Opt-Out Stats Cumulative Opt-outs



February 29, 2024 
Admin Report 

Page 6 of 6 

Risk Oversight Committee 

Pursuant to CEA’s Energy Risk Management Policy, the Risk Oversight Committee met on December 7, 

2023.  The Committee reviewed CEA’s recent procurement activity, current portfolio positions and future 

procurement targets, and portfolio market to market and counterparty exposure. The Committee 

confirmed that CEA is in compliance with its Energy Risk Management Policy.  The next regular meeting 

of the Committee is scheduled for March 7, 2024. 

Contracts $50,000 - $100,000 entered into by Chief Executive Officer 

VENDOR DESCRIPTION AMOUNT 

None   

 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

There is no fiscal impact with this action. 

Submitted for Board consideration: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Gregory Wade 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 

 



Staff Report 

DATE: February 29, 2024 

TO: Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors 

FROM: Gregory Wade, Chief Executive Officer 

ITEM 3: Receive Regulatory Update from Keyes & Fox 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Receive the Regulatory Update from Keyes & Fox. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
Clean Energy Alliance contracts with Keyes and Fox for Regulatory Advocacy related activities.  Each month 
Keyes and Fox provides an update to the CEA Board on key items of interest.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no fiscal impact from this action. 

Submitted for Board consideration: 

___________________________________ 
Gregory Wade 
Chief Executive Officer 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Keyes & Fox Regulatory Report



1 

Clean Energy Alliance 
Regulatory Monitoring Report 

To: Clean Energy Alliance (CEA) Board of Directors 

From: 
Tim Lindl, Partner, Keyes & Fox LLP 
Jacob Schlesinger, Partner, Keyes & Fox LLP 
Jason Hoyle, Principal Analyst, EQ Research, LLC 

Subject: Monthly Regulatory Memo 

Date: February 15, 2024 

Keyes & Fox LLP and EQ Research LLC are pleased to provide CEA’s Board of Directors with this informational memo 
describing recent developments in key California regulatory and compliance-related updates from the California Public 
Utilities Commission (CPUC). Additional information is available in CEA’s Digest of Regulatory Updates. 

Integrated Resource Planning (R.20-05-003) 
• The revised Proposed Decision clarifies that CEA’s 2022 IRP filing has been certified. For future IRPs the

Commission expects load-serving entities (LSEs) to take a more expansive view, with specific quantitative
data, of their responsibilities in regard to impacts on disadvantaged and low-income communities, including
those outside of an individual LSE’s territory.

• The Decision adopts the 25 MMT (million metric ton) in 2035 target as the preferred system plan in 2024,
which was the more stringent of the two greenhouse gas targets in the 2022 IRP cycle.

• The Petition for Modification (PFM) filed by the California Energy Storage Alliance (CESA) and Western
Power Trading Forum (WPTF) was partly granted, with the Commission allowing LSEs to obtain a three-year
extension for long lead time (LLT) resources if generic capacity is procured to make up the shortfall during the
time between the original June 1, 2028 deadline and the extended deadline of June 1, 2031. The Decision
also denied the PFM of SCE and PG&E that requested a two-year extension of the requirement to procure
Diablo Canyon replacement capacity.

Demand Flexibility (R.22-07-005) 
• The income graduated fixed charge required by AB 205, Stats. 2022, ch. 61 may be modified by the recently

introduced AB 1999. This bill would repeal the provision authorizing the CPUC to adopt an income-graduated
fixed charge for residential customers and replace it with language allowing the CPUC to adopt residential
fixed charges capped at $5/month for customers enrolled in the CARE program (i.e., low-income customers)
and $10/month for other residential customers starting January 1, 2025.

SDG&E Phase 1 GRC (A.22-05-016) 
• On February 15, the CPUC voted to approve SDG&E’s interim rate recovery of wildfire mitigation plan costs.

The decision authorizes SDG&E to recover 75% of its $376.5 million under collected wildfire mitigation plan
account balance in rates annually in 2024 and 2025.

• SDG&E is required to refund any excess rate recovery amount with interest if costs are ultimately denied
based on a review of recorded costs during the final decision in Track 2 of the general rate case. SDG&E's
request to continue recovering 50% of the remaining balance beyond 2025 is denied.

• SDG&E's revenue requirement will increase by $193.8 million in 2024 and $96.1 million in 2025.

RA Rulemaking 2025-2026 (R.23-10-011) 
• On February 6, the ALJ issued a Ruling entering the Energy Division Staff’s report on slice-of-day (SOD)

implementation into the record. The Ruling also includes the Report on SOD implementation and several
Appendices providing SOD resources and summarizing comments from parties through the implementation

Item 3 - Attachment A

https://eq-research.sharefile.com/public/share/web-sfe779caa47784a51b752688d9c70bca8
https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56::::RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:R2005003
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M525/K367/525367911.pdf
https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56::::RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:R2207005
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billHistoryClient.xhtml?bill_id=202320240AB1999
https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56:0::NO:RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:A2205016
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M525/K109/525109844.pdf
https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56::::RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:R2310011
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M524/K929/524929479.PDF
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M524/K929/524929806.PDF
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M524/K929/524929266.PDF


   

2 

process. Initial compliance implementation of the SOD framework begins with November’s year-ahead filings 
for the 2025 RA Year. 

• Under the SOD framework, load serving entity- (LSE-)specific RA obligations for each month will be based on 
the “worst day” (i.e., day with the highest 24-hour load) of each month, will vary from month to month, may not 
be the same for each LSE, and LSE’s are required to demonstrate sufficient RA resources to meet demand 
for all 24 hours of the worst day. 

• Resource contributions to RA will no longer be calculated based on effective load carrying capacity (ELCC) 
but will instead be determined using a probabilistic approach known as the exceedance method, which uses 
historical performance data to determine the ELCC-like capacity level for which a resource is credited. 
Exceedance levels are based on historical performance by resource type and location. Solar is assigned a 
70% exceedance level, but wind resources’ exceedance varies between 65% and 80% based on location and 
season for both in-state and out-of-state wind resources. 

RPS (R.24-01-017) 
• On February 1, the CPUC issued the OIR for the new RPS proceeding, R.24-01-017 (successor docket to 

R.18-07-003). The preliminary scope of this rulemaking has three principal tasks: 1) Resolving Remaining 
Issues from R.18-07-003; 2) Continuing, Monitoring, Reviewing, and Improving the RPS Program; and 3) 
Implementing New Statutory Requirements 

• Remaining issues from R.18-07-003 include establishing a cost containment mechanism for utility RPS 
procurement, including revisions mandated by SB 2 (1X) (Simitian, Stats. 2011, ch.1) and SB 350, and 
increasing coordination among the RPS docket and both the Integrated Resource Planning and Resource 
Adequacy dockets. 

• Other considerations in this proceeding include an exploration of increasing the required RPS procurement 
percentage for later compliance periods and the integration of greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) reduction 
goals and metrics into RPS procurement methods. 

 

https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56::::RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:R2401017
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M524/K254/524254825.PDF


4868-8550-8185.2  

Staff Report 

DATE: February 29, 2024 

TO: Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors 

FROM: Greg Wade, Chief Executive Officer 
Andy Stern, Interim Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer 

ITEM 4: Consideration of Adoption of Resolution No. 2024-001 Approving and Authorizing an 
Amendment to the Revolving Credit Agreement with JPMorgan Increasing the Line of 
Credit from $25MM to $40MM with an Additional $10MM Available if Certain Conditions 
are Met 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt Resolution No. 2024-001 approving and authorizing an amendment to the Revolving Credit 
Agreement with JPMorgan, increasing the existing line of credit from $25MM to $40MM, with an 
additional $10MM available if certain conditions are met, and authorize the Chief Executive Officer to 
execute all documents, subject to Financial Counsel and General Counsel approval. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
At the Clean Energy Alliance (CEA) Board of Director’s (Board) Regular Meeting held on January 21, 2021, 
the Board adopted Resolution No. 2021-004, approving a Credit Agreement with JPMorgan for $6MM 
(the “Line of Credit”) to fund start-up costs and initial cash flow needs for CEA. At its regular meeting on 
January 13, 2022, the CEA Board approved Resolution No. 2022-001 approving Amendment No. 2 to the 
Line of Credit increasing the amount available under the Line of Credit from $6MM to $15MM. At its 
regular meeting on March 30, 2023, the CEA Board adopted Resolution No. 2023-003 approving 
Amendment No. 3 to the Line of Credit increasing the available funds from $15MM to $25MM to provide 
cash flow related to the Escondido and San Marcos expansions. 

Similar to the 2023 service expansion, the expansion into Oceanside and into Vista in April 2024 impacts 
CEA’s cash flows, resulting in a need to increase the current available Line of Credit. CEA has and will incur 
energy costs related to the planned service to Oceanside and Vista beginning in January of 2024. These 
costs occur during the winter months, when CEA’s lower winter rates are in effect and cash flows are at 
their lowest point.  While CEA incurs costs related to the new service, revenue and related cash flow does 
not improve CEA’s cash flow until 3 months after service begins or starting in June 2024.  As a result, an 
increase in the Line of Credit is warranted.  

CEA staff entered into discussions with JPMorgan regarding increasing the Line of Credit from $25MM to 
$40MM to meet cash flow needs through the fall of 2024.  Based on discussions between CEA and 
JPMorgan, JPMorgan has authorized an amendment to the Line of Credit as follows: 



4868-8550-8185.2 
 

February 29, 2024 
Credit Agreement Amendment  

with JPMorgan 
Page 2 of 6 

 

 
Amendments to Existing Line of Credit 
 

1. Increase to $40,000,000 on the new Effective Date (defined as March 1, 2024). 
2. Make an additional $10,000,000 available if necessary to be added to the Line of Credit upon CEA 

meeting certain conditions. 
 
CEA does not incur any fees related to the additional $10,000,000 unless such increased funds are 
accessed.  While staff does not anticipate needing the additional funds, it recommends approving these 
funds to meet unanticipated power procurement related costs. 
 
The term of the Line of Credit remains unchanged with the full amount to be repaid by February 2, 2026. 
Based on current projections, staff anticipates CEA will repay all funds draw from the Line of Credit by the 
3rd quarter of 2025, well in advance of the required repayment date.  
 
The funds may be used for operational needs, power procurement and collateral requirements. 
 
Cost Estimates 
Based on scenarios of utilizing 0%, 50% and 100% of the Line of Credit, cost estimates are reflected below 
and on the following page (and each are based on numbers produced by JPMorgan as of February 13, 
2024). 
 



4868-8550-8185.2 
 

February 29, 2024 
Credit Agreement Amendment  

with JPMorgan 
Page 3 of 6 

 

 

 

CEA pays commitment fees (interest) based on the amount JPMorgan makes available to CEA, even if CEA 
does not utilize the funds. Assuming CEA does not utilize any of the available funds, the total costs 
(interest plus fees) through the remaining life of the credit facility are $990,552 with interest only costs 
for the remaining life being $973,052.  



4868-8550-8185.2 
 

February 29, 2024 
Credit Agreement Amendment  

with JPMorgan 
Page 4 of 6 

 

  

Assuming CEA uses $20,000,000 of the available $40,000,00, the total costs (interest plus fees) through 
the life of the credit facility are $3,956,413 and interest only costs for the remaining life are $3,938,913.  

 

 

 

 



4868-8550-8185.2 
 

February 29, 2024 
Credit Agreement Amendment  

with JPMorgan 
Page 5 of 6 

 

 

Assuming CEA draws down the full $40,000,000, the total costs (interest plus fees) through the life of the 
credit facility would be $6,922,275 and interest only costs for the remaining life would be $6,904,775.   

The Amended Credit Agreement (Attachment B) has been reviewed by CEA’s General and Special Counsel 
both of whom found the language to be acceptable. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Current fiscal year interest costs and fees are available in the current year adopted budget and will be 
included in future year proposed budgets. 
  



4868-8550-8185.2 
 

February 29, 2024 
Credit Agreement Amendment  

with JPMorgan 
Page 6 of 6 

 

Submitted for Board consideration: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Gregory Wade 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

A. Resolution No. 2024-001 Approving and Authorizing Credit Agreement Amendment with 
JPMorgan 

B. Fourth Amendment to JPMorgan Revolving Credit Agreement 
C. Annex A – Fourth Amendment to JPMorgan Revolving Credit Agreement 

  

 

 
 



4883-9742-8311.6  

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2024-001 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 

AN AMENDMENT TO THE REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT WITH 
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., INCLUDING AN INCREASE IN THE 

COMMITMENT AVAILABLE THEREUNDER, AND CERTAIN MATTERS RELATED 
THERETO 

WHEREAS, Clean Energy Alliance (“CEA”) is a joint powers authority established on 
November 4, 2019, and organized under the Joint Exercise of Powers Act (Government Code 
Section 6500 et seq.); and 

WHEREAS, CEA now currently includes the following members: the City of Carlsbad, 
the City of Del Mar, the City of Escondido, the City of Oceanside, the City of Solana Beach, the 
City of San Marcos and the City of Vista; and  

WHEREAS, CEA and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (“JPMorgan”) have previously 
entered into a Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2021, as amended by that 
certain First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2021, that 
Second Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of January 14, 2022 and that Third 
Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2023 (as previously amended 
and supplemented, the “Revolving Credit Agreement”), which Revolving Credit Agreement is 
available for general agency purposes and to provide credit support for future power purchase 
contracts, and which Revolving Credit Agreement currently allows CEA to borrow cash and/or to 
request the issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $25,000,000; 
and 

WHEREAS, CEA staff and JPMorgan have been and are negotiating the terms of that 
certain Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Amendment”, a copy of which 
is on file with the Board of Directors of CEA (the “Board”)), which, subject to satisfaction of the 
conditions precedent set forth in the Amendment, will (i) increase the commitment (the 
“Commitment”) available under the Revolving Credit Agreement to allow CEA to borrow cash 
and/or to request the issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate principal amount up to 
$40,000,000 and (ii) allow CEA to request from time to time one or more increases to the 
Commitment in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $10,000,000, in each case subject to 
the terms and conditions set forth in the Revolving Credit Agreement after giving effect to the 
Amendment (the “Amended Revolving Credit Agreement”); and  

WHEREAS, the good faith estimates required to be obtained and disclosed with respect 
to the increase in the commitment available under the Revolving Credit Agreement in accordance 
with Government Code Section 5852.1 are set forth in the report accompanying this Resolution; 
and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of Clean 
Energy Alliance, as follows: 

Item 4 - Attachment A



4883-9742-8311.6 
 

2 
 

Section 1.  The foregoing recitals are true and correct. 

Section 2.  The Board hereby approves the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer/Treasurer (including the Interim Chief Financial Officer/Treasurer) and their designees as 
authorized representatives of CEA (each an “Authorized Representative” and collectively, the 
“Authorized Representatives”) in connection with the negotiation and execution of the 
Amendment to increase the amount of the Commitment available under the Amended Revolving 
Credit Agreement to $40,000,000, with the ability to request one or more increases to the 
Commitment in an aggregate amount not to exceed $10,000,000, including such related 
amendments deemed necessary or advisable by the Authorized Representative executing the 
Amendment to implement the terms of increase, and any ancillary documents relating thereto. 

Section 3.  The Board hereby approves each Authorized Representative, acting singly, to 
execute and deliver the Amendment and any related ancillary documents in substantially the same 
form presented to the Board, with such modifications, changes, insertions and omissions as may 
be approved by such Authorized Representative as in the best interests of CEA, the execution 
thereof to be conclusive evidence of such approval. 

Section 4.  The Board hereby approves each Authorized Representative, acting singly, to 
borrow and authorize advances or the issuance of letters of credit from time to time under the 
Amended Revolving Credit Agreement in such amounts as in his or her judgment should be 
borrowed and to provide security for the obligations of CEA under the Amended Revolving Credit 
Agreement, including, without limitation, a pledge of the net revenues of CEA, and to execute and 
deliver any requests or other documents and agreements as such Authorized Representative may, 
in her or his discretion, deem reasonably necessary or proper in order to carry into effect the 
provisions of the Amendment and the Amended Revolving Credit Agreement. 

Section 5.  The Board hereby affirms the prior appointment of Nixon Peabody LLP to act 
as special counsel to CEA in connection with the negotiation and execution of the Amendment 
and the ancillary documents. 

Section 6.  The Authorized Representatives and the Board Secretary, and all other 
appropriate officials of the CEA are hereby authorized and directed to execute such other 
agreements, documents and certificates as may be necessary to effect the purposes of this 
resolution. 

Section 7.  The Board hereby approves that all acts, transactions or agreements undertaken, 
prior to the adoption of these resolutions by any of the officers of CEA, or their designees, in its 
name and for its account in connection with the foregoing matters, are hereby ratified, confirmed 
and adopted by CEA. 

Section 8.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its adoption. 
 

  



4883-9742-8311.6 
 

3 
 

The foregoing Resolution was passed and adopted this _____ day of ___________, 2024, 
by the following vote: 

 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
 
     APPROVED: 
 
 
 
     _________________________________ 
     Dave Druker, Chair 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Kaylin McCauley, Board Secretary 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



3rd4th Amend to Revolving Credit Agreement (JPM-CEA 20232024) 4889-6461-67914865-7242-7425 v64.docx
4343067

THIRDFOURTH AMENDMENT TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

This THIRDFOURTH AMENDMENT TO REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT (this 
“Amendment”) dated as of March 311, 20232024 (the “Effective Date”), is by and between 
CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE, a public agency formed under the provisions of the Joint Exercise of 
Powers Act of the State of California, Government Code Section 6500 et. seq. (together with its 
successors and assigns, “Borrower” or “CEA”), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. (together 
with its successors and assigns, the “Lender”).  All capitalized terms herein and not defined herein 
shall have the respective meanings set forth in the hereinafter defined Agreement.

W I T N E S S E T H

WHEREAS, CEA and the Lender have entered into that certain Revolving Credit Agreement 
dated as of February 3, 2021, as amended by that certain First Amendment to Revolving Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 26, 2021 and by, that certain Second Amendment to Revolving 
Credit Agreement, dated as of January 14, 2022 and that certain Third Amendment to Revolving 
Credit Agreement, dated as of March 31, 2023 (and as further amended, restated, supplemented or 
otherwise modified prior to the date hereof, the “Agreement”), relating to the advance of revolving 
loans and the issuance of letters of credit by the Lender;

WHEREAS, CEA has requested that the Lender agree to increase the Revolving 
Commitment from $15,000,000 to $25,000,000 to $40,000,000 (the “Revolving Increase”), 
establish an uncommitted accordion facility in an aggregate amount up to $10,000,000 (the 
“Accordion Facility”) and amend certain other provisions of the Agreement, and the Lender is 
willing to provide the Revolving Increase, establish the Accordion Facility and amend such other 
provisions pursuant to the terms and conditions provided for herein;

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7.1 of the Agreement, the Agreement may be amended by a 
written amendment thereto executed by the Lender and CEA;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the parties hereto hereby agree as 
follows:

1. AMENDMENTS.

Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions precedent set forth in Section 2
below:, the Agreement shall be and hereby is amended to delete the stricken text (indicated 
textually in the same manner as the following example: stricken text) and to add the underlined 
text (indicated textually in the same manner as the following example: underlined text) as set 
forth in the pages of the amended Agreement attached hereto as Annex A.

1.01. The following defined terms set forth in Section 1.1 of the Agreement are hereby 
amended and restated in their entirety to read as follows:

“Commitment” means the commitment of the Lender to make Loans and to issue 

Item 4  Attachment B 

EXECUTION VERSION



- 2 -

Letters of Credit, expressed as an amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of 
the Lender’s Revolving Credit Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be reduced 
from time to time pursuant to Section 2.8. Immediately prior to the Third Amendment 
Effective Date, the amount of the Commitment was $15,000,000, and from and after the 
Third Amendment Effective Date, the amount of the Commitment is $25,000,000.

“Fee Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated Fee Agreement, dated 
the Third Amendment Effective Date, between the Borrower and the Lender, as 
supplemented, amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

1.02. The following defined term is hereby inserted into Section 1.1 of the Agreement in 
alphabetical order:

“Third Amendment Effective Date” means March 31, 2023, being the “Effective 
Date” under and as defined in the Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated 
as of March 31, 2023, between the Lender and the Borrower.

1.03. The defined term “Second Amendment Effective Date” is hereby deleted from 
Section 1.1 of the Agreement.

2. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT.

This Amendment shall become effective on the Effective Date, subject to the satisfaction 
of or waiver by the Lender of all of the following conditions precedent:

2.01. Delivery by CEA and the Lender of an executed counterpart of this Amendment.

2.02. Delivery by CEA to the Lender of (i) the authorizing resolution of the Borrower 
approving the Revolving Increase, Accordion Facility and the execution and delivery of this 
Amendment and the Second Amended and Restated Fee Agreement, dated the date hereof (the 
“Fee Agreement”), by and between the Borrower and the Lender, and performance of its 
obligations hereunder, (ii) opinions of (a) Nixon Peabody LLP, special counsel to the Borrower, 
and (b) Burke, Williams & Sorensen, LLP, general counsel to the Borrower, each dated the 
Effective Date and each addressed to the Lender in the form satisfactory to the Lender and its 
counsel and (iii) a customary certificate executed by the appropriate officers of the Borrower 
including the incumbency and signature of the officer of the Borrower executing this Amendment 
and the Fee Agreement.

2.03. Payment of all fees and expenses of the Lender, including the Lender’s reasonable 
legal fees, incurred in connection with the preparation of this Amendment; provided, the Lender 
hereby waives the minimum amendment fee payable pursuant to Section 1.4 of the Fee Agreement 
in connection with this Amendment.

2.04. All other legal matters pertaining to the execution and delivery of this Amendment 
shall be reasonably satisfactory to the Lender and its counsel.



- 3 -

3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

3.01. Borrower represents and warrants to the Lender as follows: 

(a) the undersigned (i) is, on and as of the Effective Date, the duly appointed, 
qualified and acting Chief Executive Officer of CEA and (ii) has been and is duly 
authorized to execute and deliver, in the name of, for and on behalf of CEA, this 
Amendment;

(b) the representations and warranties of CEA contained in the Agreement and 
each of the Basic Documents are true and correct on and as of the Effective Date as though 
made on and as of each such date; and

(c) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result 
from the execution of this Amendment.

3.02. In addition to the representations given in the Agreement, the Borrower hereby 
ratifies and affirms that, both before and after giving effect to this Amendment:

(a) The Net Revenues are pledged by the Borrower to the payment of the 
Obligations without priority or distinction of one Obligation over another Obligation.  The 
pledge of Net Revenues is valid and binding in accordance with the terms of the Act, the 
Joint Powers Agreement and the Resolution, and the Net Revenues shall immediately be 
subject to the pledge, and the pledge shall constitute a lien and security interest which shall 
immediately attach to the Net Revenues and be effective, binding, and enforceable against 
the Borrower, its successors, creditors, and all others asserting the rights therein, to the 
extent set forth in the Agreement, and in accordance with the Act, the Joint Powers 
Agreement and the Resolution, irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the 
pledge and without the need for any physical delivery, recordation, filing, or further act.  
The pledge of the Net Revenues made in the Agreement shall be irrevocable until the 
Commitment has expired or been terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan 
and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid in full and all Letters of Credit shall 
have expired or terminated, in each case, without any pending draw, and all LC 
Disbursements shall have been reimbursed.  Notwithstanding any other provision of the 
Agreement to the contrary, all Obligations are limited obligations of the Borrower payable 
solely from Net Revenues.  The pledge of the Net Revenues made in the Agreement shall 
be senior to any pledge of the Net Revenues made with respect to any Subordinate Debt.

4. MISCELLANEOUS.

Except as specifically amended herein, the Agreement shall continue in full force and 
effect in accordance with its terms.  Reference to this Amendment need not be made in any note, 
document, agreement, letter, certificate, the Agreement or any communication issued or made 
subsequent to or with respect to the Agreement, it being hereby agreed that any reference to the 
Agreement shall be sufficient to refer to, and shall mean and be a reference to, the Agreement, as 
hereby amended.  In case any one or more of the provisions contained herein should be invalid, 



- 4 -

illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining 
provisions contained herein shall not in any way be affected or impaired hereby.  All capitalized 
terms used herein without definition shall have the same meanings herein as they have in the 
Agreement.  THIS AMENDMENT AND THE AGREEMENT, AS AMENDED HEREBY, SHALL BE DEEMED TO 
BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND 
INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA WITHOUT GIVING 
EFFECT TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS; PROVIDED, THAT THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE LENDER 
HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT GIVING 
EFFECT TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS.  Section 7.14 of the Agreement is incorporated herein 
by reference.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on 
different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken 
together shall constitute a single contract; provided that such execution shall be in accordance with 
Section 7.11 of the Agreement, which Section 7.11 is incorporated herein by reference.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]



Signature Page to ThirdFourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement (JPM-CEA 20232024)

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed 
and delivered by their respective officers hereunto duly authorized as of the Effective Date.

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

By:  ___________________________________
Name:  Barbara BoswellGregory Wade
Title:    Chief Executive Officer



Signature Page to ThirdFourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement (JPM-CEA 20232024)

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By:  ___________________________________
Name:  Allyson Goetschius
Title:    Executive Director



Annex A

Amended Revolving Credit Agreement

[Please see attached.]



Annex A - 4th Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement (JPMorgan-CEA 2024) 4889-2274-5249 v5.docx
4343067

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT
1

Dated as of February 3, 2021

by and between

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE,
as Borrower

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Lender

1 Conformed through the First Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of February 26, 2021, the Second 
Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of January 14, 2022 and, the Third Amendment to 
Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 2023 and the Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit 
Agreement dated as of March 1, 2024.

Item 4 Attachment C









-i-

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION HEADING PAGE

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS .................................................................................................1

Section 1.1. Definitions..............................................................................................1
Section 1.2. Terms Generally...................................................................................17
Section 1.3. Accounting Terms; GAAP...................................................................17
Section 1.4. Interest Rates; Benchmark Notification...........................................1817

ARTICLE 2 THE CREDITS ..............................................................................................18

Section 2.1. Commitments.......................................................................................18
Section 2.2. Loans and Borrowings .........................................................................18
Section 2.3. Requests for Revolving Borrowings................................................1918
Section 2.4. Letters of Credit ...................................................................................19
Section 2.5. Interest Elections..................................................................................22
Section 2.6. Termination and Reduction of Commitment; Increase in Revolving 

Commitments.......................................................................................23
Section 2.7. Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt ..........................................2425
Section 2.8. Prepayment of Loans .......................................................................2425
Section 2.9. Fees ..................................................................................................2425
Section 2.10. Interest..............................................................................................2526
Section 2.11. Alternate Rate of Interest; Illegality ................................................2627
Section 2.12. Increased Costs ................................................................................2728
Section 2.13. Break Funding Payments .................................................................2829
Section 2.14. Payments Free of Taxes ...................................................................2930
Section 2.15. Payments Generally .........................................................................3031
Section 2.16. Mitigation Obligation ......................................................................3132
Section 2.17. Extension of Maturity Date..............................................................3132
Section 2.18. Pledge; Security of Obligations .......................................................3132

ARTICLE 3 CONDITIONS............................................................................................3233

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness.............................................3233
Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to each Credit Event .....................................3334
Section 3.3. Condition Subsequent to Closing Date ............................................3334

ARTICLE 4 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES....................................................3435

Section 4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc................................................................3435
Section 4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc ........................................3435
Section 4.3. Binding Obligations .........................................................................3435
Section 4.4. Governmental Consent or Approval ................................................3435
Section 4.5. Absence of Material Litigation ........................................................3536
Section 4.6. Financial Condition..........................................................................3536
Section 4.7. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties............................3536

























































-ii-

Section 4.8. Accuracy and Completeness of Information....................................3536
Section 4.9. No Default........................................................................................3637
Section 4.10. No Proposed Legal Changes............................................................3637
Section 4.11. Compliance with Laws, Etc .............................................................3637
Section 4.12. Environmental Matters.....................................................................3637
Section 4.13. Regulation U ....................................................................................3637
Section 4.14. Liens.................................................................................................3637
Section 4.15. Sovereign Immunity.........................................................................3637
Section 4.16. Usury................................................................................................3738
Section 4.17. Insurance ..........................................................................................3738
Section 4.18. ERISA..............................................................................................3738
Section 4.19. Sanctions Concerns and Anti-Corruption Laws ..............................3738
Section 4.20. System Debt .....................................................................................3738

ARTICLE 5 COVENANTS............................................................................................3738

Section 5.1. Affirmative Covenants.....................................................................3738
Section 5.2. Negative Covenants .........................................................................4445

ARTICLE 6 DEFAULTS...............................................................................................4648

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies......................................................4648
Section 6.2. Remedies..........................................................................................4849

ARTICLE 7 MISCELLANEOUS ....................................................................................4950

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc..............................................................4950
Section 7.2. Notices .............................................................................................4950
Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns..............................5051
Section 7.4. No Recourse Against Constituent Members of CEA ......................5152
Section 7.5. Liability of Lender; Indemnification ...............................................5152
Section 7.6. Expenses ..........................................................................................5253
Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict.........................................................................5253
Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment Waiver, Etc...........................................5354
Section 7.9. Dealings ...........................................................................................5354
Section 7.10. Severability ......................................................................................5354
Section 7.11. Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution......5354
Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings............................................................5455
Section 7.13. Entire Agreement .............................................................................5455
Section 7.14. Governing Law Waiver of Jury Trial...............................................5455
Section 7.15. Reserved...........................................................................................5556
Section 7.16. USA PATRIOT Act.........................................................................5556
Section 7.17. Reserved...........................................................................................5556
Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank ..............................................5556
Section 7.19. Reserved...........................................................................................5557
Section 7.20. Arm’s Length Transaction ...............................................................5557



















































































-iii-

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A — Form of Opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP
Exhibit B — Form of Compliance Certificate
Exhibit C — Form of Borrowing Request
Exhibit D-1 — Form of Letter of Credit Request
Exhibit D-2 — Short Form Letter of Credit Application
Exhibit D-3 — Form of Continuing Agreement for Commercial and Standby Letters of Credit
Exhibit E — Form of Account Control Agreement
Exhibit F — Form of Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement
Exhibit G — Form of Security Agreement



 

REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT

THIS REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of February 3, 2021 (together with all 
amendments and supplements hereafter, this “Agreement”) is by and between CLEAN ENERGY 
ALLIANCE, a public agency formed under the provisions of the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the 
State of California, Government Code Section 6500 et. seq. (together with its successors and 
assigns, “Borrower” or “CEA”), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. (together with its successors 
and assigns, the “Lender”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Borrower has requested, and Lender has agreed to make available to Borrower, 
a revolving credit facility upon and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual agreements herein 
contained, the Borrower and the Lender agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1. Definitions.  As used in this Agreement:

“2020 Audited Financial Statements” means the statement of net position of the System at 
June 30, 2020, the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position of the System for 
the year ended June 30, 2020, and the statement of cash flows of the System for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2020, together with unqualified audit opinion of Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP.

“Account Control Agreement” means the Account Control Agreement, substantially in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit E, as amended and supplemented in accordance with the terms 
hereof, by and among by and among (i) River City Bank, a California corporation, (ii) CEA and 
(iii) River City Bank, a California corporation, not in its individual capacity, but solely as 
collateral agent.

“Act” means the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California, Government Code 
Section 6500 et. seq.

“Adjusted Term SOFR Rate” means, with respect to any SOFR Loan for any Interest 
Period, an interest rate per annum equal to (i) the Term SOFR Rate in effect for such Interest 
Period plus (ii) the Credit Spread Adjustment; provided that if the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate as so 
determined would be less than zero (0.0%), such rate shall be deemed to be zero (0.0%) for the 
purposes of this Agreement.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or 
indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common 





-2-

Control with the Person specified.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.

“Alternate Rate” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.11(c).

“Annual Debt Service” means, as of any date of calculation, for any Fiscal Year or other 
designated four fiscal quarter period, the sum of (a) all interest and fees (including facility fees, 
undrawn fees and commitment fees) due and payable on the Loans, other Parity Debt and other 
Subordinate Debt (or, in the case of projected Annual Debt Service, projected to be due and 
payable) in such Fiscal Year or other designated four fiscal quarter period and (b) the quotient 
obtained by dividing the average daily outstanding principal balance of the Loans, other Parity 
Debt and Subordinate Debt during such Fiscal Year or other designated four fiscal quarter period 
by 5.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all laws, rules, and regulations of any jurisdiction 
applicable to the Borrower from time to time concerning or relating to bribery or corruption.

“Applicable Law” means (i) all applicable common law and principles of equity and (ii) all 
applicable provisions of all (A) constitutions, statutes, rules, regulations and orders of all 
governmental and non-governmental bodies, (B) Governmental Approvals and (C) orders, 
decisions, judgments and decrees of all courts (whether at law or in equity) and arbitrators.

“Applicable Margin” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement.

“Audited Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.6.

“Authorized Representative” means an “Authorized Representative” as defined in the 
Resolution, and any other individual designated from time to time as an “Authorized 
Representative” in a certificate executed by the Borrower and delivered to the Lender.

“Available Liquidity” means the unrestricted cash and investments as reflected in the 
Statement of Net Position in the unaudited quarterly financial statements or audited financial 
statements for the relevant quarterly or fiscal year period, but excluding, without limitation: (1) 
any trustee-held funds; (2) any creditor-held funds; (3) any debt service reserve funds established 
to secure any Debt of the Borrower; (4) any self-insurance and captive insurance funds; (5) any 
pension and retirement funds; and (6) the fair market value of collateral posted to secure any swap 
termination payments under any Swap Agreement.

“Availability Period” means the period from and including the Closing Date to but 
excluding the earlier of the Maturity Date and the date of termination of the Commitment.

“Bank Agreement” means any credit agreement, liquidity agreement, standby bond 
purchase agreement, reimbursement agreement, direct purchase agreement, bond purchase 
agreement, or other agreement or instrument (or any amendment, supplement or other 
modification thereof) under which, directly or indirectly, any Person or Persons undertake(s) to (x) 



-3-

make or provide funds to make payment of, or to purchase or provide credit enhancement for, 
bonds or notes of the Borrower or (y) extend credit to the Borrower.

“Base Rate” means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime 
Rate in effect on such day, (b) the NYFRB Rate in effect on such day plus 0.5% per annum and (c) 
the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate for a one month Interest Period as published two U.S. Government 
Securities Business Days prior to such day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately 
preceding Business Day) plus 1%.  Any change in the Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, 
the NYFRB Rate or the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate shall be effective from and including the 
effective date of such change in the Prime Rate, the NYFRB Rate or the Adjusted Term SOFR 
Rate, respectively.  If the Base Rate is being used as an alternate rate of interest pursuant to Section 
2.11 hereof, then the Base Rate shall be the greater of clauses (a) and (b) above and shall be 
determined without reference to clause (c) above.  For the avoidance of doubt, if the Base Rate as 
determined pursuant to the foregoing would be less than one percent (1.0%), such rate shall be 
deemed to be one percent (1.0%) for purposes of this Agreement.

“Base Rate Borrowing”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing of a Loan, 
refers to whether such Loan or Borrowing bears interest at a rate determined by reference to the 
Base Rate.

“Basic Documents” means, at any time, each of the following documents and agreements 
as in effect or as outstanding, as the case may be, at such time: (a) this Agreement, including 
schedules and exhibits hereto, (b) the Fee Agreement, and (c) and any other documents executed 
and delivered by Borrower in connection with this Agreement or the Fee Agreement, if any.  For 
the avoidance of doubt, PPAs are not Basic Documents.

“Benchmark” means, initially, the Term SOFR Rate; provided that if a Benchmark 
Transition Event has occurred with respect to the Term SOFR Rate, then “Benchmark” means the 
Alternate Rate to the extent that such Alternate Rate has replaced such prior benchmark rate 
pursuant to clause (c) of Section 2.11.

“Benchmark Transition Event” means the occurrence of one or more of the following 
events with respect to the Term SOFR Rate: 

(i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the CME 
Term SOFR Administrator (or any successor administrator of the Term SOFR Rate, or the 
published component used in the calculation thereof) announcing that such CME Term 
SOFR Administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Term SOFR Rate (or such 
component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such 
statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide 
the Term SOFR Rate (or such component thereof); or

(ii) a public statement or publication of information by the NYFRB, the Federal 
Reserve Board, or, as applicable, the regulatory supervisor for the CME Term SOFR 
Administrator, an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the CME Term SOFR 
Administrator, a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the CME Term SOFR 



-4-

Administrator, or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over 
the CME Term SOFR Administrator, in each case, which states that the CME Term SOFR 
Administrator (or any successor administrator of the Term SOFR Rate, or the published 
component used in the calculation thereof) has ceased or will cease to provide the Term 
SOFR Rate (or such component thereof), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the 
time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue 
to provide the Term SOFR Rate (or such component thereof); or

(iii) a public statement or publication of information by the Federal Reserve 
Board, the NYFRB, the CME Term SOFR Administrator, or the regulatory supervisor for 
the CME Term SOFR Administrator (or any successor administrator of the Term SOFR 
Rate, or the published component used in the calculation thereof), announcing that the 
Term SOFR Rate (or such component thereof) is no longer, or as of a specified future date 
will no longer be, representative.

For the avoidance of doubt, a “Benchmark Transition Event” will be deemed to have 
occurred with respect to the Term SOFR Rate if a public statement or publication of information 
set forth above has occurred with respect to each then-current available tenor of the Term SOFR 
Rate.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Borrower.

“Borrower” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.

“Borrowing” means the making, conversion or continuation of a Loan.

“Borrowing Request” means a request by the Borrower for a Borrowing in accordance 
with Section 2.3 and in the form of Exhibit C hereto.

“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which 
commercial banks in New York City, Chicago or San Diego are authorized or required by law to 
remain closed; provided that, when used in connection with a SOFR Loan, the term “Business 
Day” shall also exclude any day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets 
Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire 
day for purposes of trading in United States government securities.

“Cash Collateral Loan” means a Loan (or a portion of a Loan) the proceeds of which are 
deposited with a Person other than the Borrower in order to secure the Borrower’s payment 
obligations under one or more PPAs or to make a termination payment under PPAs.

“Change in Law” means the occurrence after the date of this Agreement of (a) the 
adoption of or taking effect of any law, rule, regulation or treaty, (b) any change in any law, rule, 
regulation or treaty or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority 
or (c) compliance by the Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.12(b), by any lending office of the 
Lender or its holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not 
having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this 



-5-

Agreement; provided that, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (x) the Dodd-Frank 
Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines or directives 
thereunder or issued in connection therewith and (y) all requests, rules, guidelines or directives 
promulgated by the Lender for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking 
Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory 
authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall be deemed to be a “Change in Law,” regardless 
of the date enacted, adopted or issued.

“Closing Date” means the first date on which the conditions precedent set forth in Section 
3.1 hereof are satisfied and/or waived in writing by the Lender.

“CME Term SOFR Administrator” means CME Group Benchmark Administration 
Limited as administrator of the forward-looking term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (or a 
successor administrator).

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, 
including regulations, rulings and judicial decisions promulgated thereunder.

“Commitment” means the commitment of the Lender to make Loans and to issue Letters of 
Credit, expressed as an amount representing the maximum aggregate amount of the Lender’s 
Revolving Credit Exposure hereunder, as such commitment may be reduced from time to time 
pursuant to Section 2.8 or increased from time to time pursuant to Section 2.6. Immediately prior 
to the ThirdFourth Amendment Effective Date, the amount of the Commitment was 
$15,000,00025,000,000, and from and after the ThirdFourth Amendment Effective Date, the 
amount of the Commitment is $25,000,00040,000,000.

“Connection Income Taxes” means Other Connection Taxes that are imposed on or 
measured by net income (however denominated) or that are franchise Taxes or branch profits 
Taxes.

“Control” means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the 
direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting 
power, by contract or otherwise, “Controlling” and “Controlled” have meanings correlative 
thereto.

“Credit Spread Adjustment” means 0.10% per annum. 

“Days Liquidity on Hand” means, as of any date of determination, the quotient, in number 
of days, obtained by dividing (i) sum of Available Liquidity and the Unutilized Commitment (as 
defined in the Fee Agreement) on such date of determination by (ii) the product of (A) the sum of 
Operating and Maintenance Costs for the four consecutive fiscal quarter period ended on or 
immediately prior to such date of determination and (B) 1/365.

“Debt” of any Person means, at any date, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such 
Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, 
notes or other similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase 













-6-

price of property or services, except trade accounts payable arising in the ordinary course of 
business, (d) all obligations of such Person as lessee under capital leases, (e) all debt of others 
secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person, whether or not such debt is assumed by such Person, 
(f) all Guarantees by such Person of debt of other Persons, (g) the net obligations of such Person 
under any Swap Agreement and (h) all obligations of such Person to reimburse or repay any bank 
or other Person in respect of amounts paid or advanced under a letter of credit, credit agreement, 
liquidity facility or other instrument.  The amount of any net obligation under any Swap 
Agreement on any date shall be deemed to be the Swap Termination Value thereof as of such date.

“Debt Service Coverage Ratio” means, for any fiscal quarter of the Borrower, the quotient 
obtained by dividing Net Revenues by Annual Debt Service, in each case as determined for the 
four consecutive fiscal quarter periods ended on the last date of such fiscal quarter.

“Debt Service Coverage Ratio Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(q) hereof.

“Default” means any condition or event which with the giving of notice or lapse of time or 
both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

“Default Rate” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement.

“Direction Letter” has the meaning set forth in the Security Agreement.

“dollars” or “$” refers to lawful money of the United States of America.

“EEI Master Agreement” means the EEI Master Power Purchase and Sale Agreement, 
version 2.1 (modified 4/25/00), created by the Edison Electric Institute and National Energy 
Marketers Association.

“Electronic System” means any electronic system, including e-mail, e-fax, web portal 
access for the Borrower, and any other Internet or extranet-based site, whether such electronic 
system is owned, operated or hosted by the Lender and any of its respective Related Parties or any 
other Person, providing for access to data protected by passcodes or other security system.

“Electronic Signature” means an electronic sound, symbol, or process attached to, or 
associated with, a contract or other record and adopted by a person with the intent to sign, 
authenticate or accept such contract or record.

“Employee Plan” means an employee benefit plan covered by Title W of ERISA and 
maintained for employees of the Borrower.

“Environmental Laws” means any and all federal, state and local statutes, laws, 
regulations, ordinances, rules, judgments, orders, decrees, permits, concessions, grants, franchises, 
licenses, agreements or other governmental restrictions relating to the environment or to 
emissions, discharges or releases of pollutants, contaminants, petroleum or petroleum products, 
chemicals or industrial, toxic or hazardous substances or wastes into the environment including, 
without limitation, ambient air, surface water, ground water or land, or otherwise relating to the 



-7-

manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport or handling of 
pollutants, contaminants, petroleum or petroleum products, chemicals or industrial, toxic or 
hazardous substances or wastes or the clean-up or other remediation thereof.

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, or 
any successor statute thereto.

“Event of Default” has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1 hereof.

“Excluded Taxes” means, with respect to the Lender or any Participant, (a) taxes imposed 
on or measured by its overall net income (however denominated), and franchise taxes imposed on 
it (in lieu of net income taxes), by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) under the 
laws of which the Lender or such Participant is organized or in which its principal office is located 
and (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States or any similar tax imposed by any 
other jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located.

“Existing Debt” means (i) that certain Agreement, dated June 1, 2020, between the 
Borrower and Calpine, including that certain Promissory Note, issued in connection therewith by 
Borrower to Calpine, currently outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $400,000, and (ii) 
that certain Agreement, dated June 1, 2020, between the Borrower and Calpine, including that 
certain Promissory Note 2, issued in connection therewith by Borrower to Calpine, currently 
outstanding in the aggregate principal amount of $250,000.

“FATCA” means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement 
(or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more 
onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and 
any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code.

“Federal Funds Effective Rate” means, for any day, the rate calculated by the NYFRB 
based on such day’s federal funds transactions by depositary institutions, as determined in such 
manner as shall be set forth on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website from time to 
time, and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as the effective federal 
funds rate, provided that, if the Federal Funds Effective Rate as so determined would be less than 
zero (0.0%), such rate shall be deemed to be zero (0.0%) for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website” means the website of the NYFRB at 
http://www.newyorkfed.org, or any successor source.

“Federal Reserve Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of 
the United States of America.

“Fee Agreement” means the Second Amended and Restated Fee Agreement, dated the 
Third Amendment Effective Date, between the Borrower and the Lender, as supplemented, 
amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

“Fiscal Year” means each twelve-month period commencing on July 1 of a calendar year 



-8-

and ending on June 30 of the following calendar year.

“Floor” means the benchmark rate floor, if any, provided in this Agreement initially (as of 
the execution of this Agreement, the modification, amendment or renewal of this Agreement or 
otherwise) with respect to the Term SOFR Rate.  For the avoidance of doubt the initial Floor for 
the Term SOFR Rate shall be zero (0.0%).

“Fourth Amendment” means the Fourth Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, 
dated as of March 1, 2024, between the Lender and the Borrower.

“Fourth Amendment Effective Date” means March 1, 2024, being the “Effective Date” 
under and as defined in the Fourth Amendment.

“Fourth Amendment Resolution” means the resolution adopted by the Borrower on 
February 29, 2024 approving the Fourth Amendment.

“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America 
from time to time as set forth in (a) the opinions and pronouncements of the Accounting Principles 
Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and (b) statements and 
pronouncements of the Government Accounting Standards Board, as modified by the opinions, 
statements and pronouncements of any similar accounting body of comparable standing having 
authority over accounting by governmental entities.

“Governmental Approval” means an authorization, consent, approval, license or 
exemption of, registration or filing with, or report to, any Governmental Authority.

“Governmental Authority” means the government of the United States or any other nation 
or any political subdivision thereof or any governmental or quasi-governmental entity, including 
any court, department, commission, board, bureau, agency, administration, central bank, service, 
district or other instrumentality of any governmental entity or other entity exercising executive, 
legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory, fiscal, monetary or administrative powers or functions of or 
pertaining to government, or any arbitrator, mediator or other Person with authority to bind a party 
at law.

“Guarantees” means, for any Person, all guarantees, endorsements (other than for 
collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business) and other contingent obligations of such 
Person to purchase, to provide funds for payment, to supply funds to invest in any other Person or 
otherwise to assure a creditor of another Person against loss.

“Indemnified Taxes” means (a) Taxes other than Excluded Taxes and (b) to the extent not 
otherwise described in (a) hereof, Other Taxes.

“Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement” means the Intercreditor and Collateral 
Agency Agreement, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit F, as amended and 
supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof, is entered into by and among (i) River City 
Bank, a California corporation, not in its individual capacity, but solely in its capacity as collateral 









-9-

agent, (ii) each of the creditors from time to time signatory thereto that are party to a PPA, and (iii) 
CEA.

“Interest Election Request” means a request by the Borrower to convert or continue a 
Revolving Borrowing (other than a Base Rate Borrowing of a Reimbursement Loan) in 
accordance with Section 2.5.

“Interest Payment Date” means, (a) with respect to any Base Rate Loan, the first Business 
Day of the month and the Maturity Date, and (b) with respect to any SOFR Loan, the last day of the 
Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and the Maturity Date.

“Interest Period” means, with respect to SOFR Loans, the period commencing on the date 
of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is 
one or three months thereafter, as the Borrower may elect; provided that (a) if any Interest Period 
would end on a day which is not a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next 
succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next 
calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day, 
(b) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day 
for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest 
Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period, and 
(c) no Interest Period may extend beyond the Maturity Date.  For purposes hereof, the date of a 
Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the 
effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

“Investment Policy” means the investment guidelines of the Borrower as in effect on the 
date hereof, as such investment guidelines may be amended from time to time in accordance with 
State laws.

“Joint Powers Act” means the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California 
(Government Code Section 6500, et. seq.)

“Joint Powers Agreement” means the Joint Powers Agreement of Borrower effective as of 
November 4, 2019, and as amended from time to time.

“Law” means any treaty or any Federal, regional, state and local law, statute, rule, 
ordinance, regulation, code, license, authorization, decision, injunction, interpretation, policy, 
guideline, supervisory standard, order or decree of any court or other Governmental Authority.

“LC Collateral Account” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.4(h).

“LC Disbursement” means a payment made by the Lender pursuant to a Letter of Credit.

“LC Exposure” means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregate undrawn amount of all 
outstanding Letters of Credit at such time, plus (b) the aggregate amount of all LC Disbursements 
that have not yet been reimbursed by or on behalf of the Borrower at such time.



-10-

“Letter of Credit” means any letter of credit issued pursuant to this Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Fees” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement.

“Letter of Credit Request” means a request by the Borrower for a Letter of Credit in 
accordance with Section 2.4(a) and in the form of Exhibit D-1 hereto.

“Letter of Credit Sublimit” means $0 or, subject to the terms and conditions set forth 
herein, such greater amount as may be agreed upon by the Lender in writing from time to time.

“Lender” has the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph hereof.

“Liabilities” mean all claims (including intraparty claims), actions, suits, judgments, 
damages, losses, liability, obligations, responsibilities, fines, penalties, sanctions, costs, fees, 
Taxes, commissions, charges, disbursements and expenses (including those incurred upon any 
appeal or in connection with the preparation for and/or response to any subpoena or request for 
document production relating thereto), in each case of any kind or nature (including interest 
accrued thereon or as a result thereto and fees, charges and disbursements of financial, legal and 
other advisors and consultants), whether joint or several, whether or not indirect, contingent, 
consequential, actual, punitive, treble or otherwise.

“Lien” means, with respect to any asset, (a) any lien, charge, claim, mortgage, security 
interest, pledge or assignment of revenues of any kind in respect of such asset or (b) the interest of 
a vendor or lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title retention 
agreement relating to such asset.

“Loans” means the loans made by the Lender to the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement, 
including, without limitation, Cash Collateral Loans, the Working Capital Loans and the 
Reimbursement Loans.

“Lockbox Security Document(s)” means, individually or collectively, as applicable, the 
Security Agreement, the Account Control Agreement, the Intercreditor and Collateral Agency 
Agreement and the Direction Letter.

“Material Adverse Change” means any material or adverse change in the business, 
operations, properties, assets, liability, condition (financial or otherwise) or prospects of the 
Borrower which, in the reasonable determination of the Lender, calls into question the Borrower’s 
ability to perform Borrower’s Obligations hereunder.

“Material Adverse Effect” means (a) a Material Adverse Change in, or a material adverse 
effect on, the operations, business, assets, properties, liabilities (actual or contingent), condition 
(financial or otherwise) or prospects of the Borrower; (b) a material impairment of the rights and 
remedies of any Lender under this Agreement or any other Basic Document, or of the ability of the 
Borrower to perform its Borrower’s Obligations under this Agreement and any other Basic 
Document to which it is a party; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality, validity, binding 
effect or enforceability of Borrower’s Obligations under this Agreement or any other Basic 



-11-

Document to which Borrower is a party.

“Material Litigation” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.5.

“Maturity Date” means the date on which Commitment is scheduled to expire pursuant to 
its terms, initially 5:00 p.m. (New York time) on February 2, 2026, or such later date to which the 
Maturity Date may be extended pursuant to Section 2.17 and, if any such date is not a Business 
Day, the next preceding Business Day.

“Maximum Rate” means the maximum non-usurious interest rate that may, under 
applicable federal law and applicable state law, be contracted for, charged or received under such 
laws.

“Member” or “Members” means, individually or collectively, as applicable, (i) the City of 
Carlsbad, California (ii) the City of Del Mar, California and (iii) the City of Solana Beach, 
California.

“Member Capital Advances” means the capital contributions (whether cash or in kind) 
made by the Members prior to the Closing Date and outstanding in the aggregate amount of 
$450,000.

“Net Revenues” means, for any period and as of any date of determination, the amount 
obtained by subtracting Operating and Maintenance Costs from Revenues, in each case for such 
period as of such date.  Net Revenues does not include the “Collateral” as defined under the 
Security Agreement.

“NYFRB” means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

“NYFRB Rate” means, for any day, the greater of (a) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in 
effect on such day and (b) the Overnight Bank Funding Rate in effect on such day (or for any day 
that is not a Business Day, for the immediately preceding Business Day); provided that if none of 
such rates are published for any day that is a Business Day, the term “NYFRB Rate” means the rate 
for a federal funds transaction quoted at 11:00 a.m. on such day received by the Lender from a 
federal funds broker of recognized standing selected by it; provided, further, that if any of the 
aforesaid rates as so determined would be less than zero (0.0%), such rate shall be deemed to be 
zero (0.0%) for purposes of this Agreement.

“Obligations” means all obligations of the Borrower to the Lender or any Participant 
arising under or in relation to this Agreement and the Fee Agreement, including all unpaid 
principal of and accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans, all LC Exposure, all accrued and unpaid 
fees (including, without limitation, the Undrawn Fee and the Letter of Credit Fees) and all 
expenses, reimbursements, indemnities and other obligations and indebtedness (including interest 
and fees accruing during the pendency of any bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or other similar 
proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in such proceeding), obligations and 
liabilities of the Borrower to the Lender or any indemnified party, individually or collectively, 
existing on the Closing Date or arising thereafter, direct or indirect, joint or several, absolute or 



-12-

contingent, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, arising by 
contract, operation of law or otherwise, arising or incurred under this Agreement or any of the 
other Basic Documents or in respect of any of the Loans made or reimbursement or other 
obligations incurred or any of the Letters of Credit or other instruments at any time evidencing any 
thereof.

“Operating and Maintenance Costs” shall be determined in accordance with the accrual 
basis of accounting in accordance with GAAP and shall mean the reasonable and necessary costs 
paid or incurred by Borrower for maintaining and operating the System, including costs of electric 
energy and power generated or purchased, costs of transmission and fuel supply, and including all 
reasonable expenses of management and repair and other expenses necessary to maintain and 
preserve the System in good repair and working order, and including all administrative costs of 
Borrower that are charged directly or apportioned to the maintenance and operation of the System, 
such as salaries and wages of employees, overhead, insurance, taxes (if any) and insurance 
premiums, and including all other reasonable and necessary costs of Borrower such as fees and 
expenses of an independent certified public accountant, and including Borrower’s share of the 
foregoing types of costs of any electric properties co-owned with others, excluding in all cases 
depreciation, replacement and obsolescence charges or reserves therefore and amortization of 
intangibles and extraordinary items computed in accordance with GAAP or other bookkeeping 
entries of a similar nature.  Maintenance and Operation Costs shall include all amounts required to 
be paid by Borrower under take or pay contracts.

“Operating Reserve” means a reserve fund established by the Borrower to provide a 
reserve that can be utilized by the Borrower to pay Operating and Maintenance Costs (including 
power costs) when Revenues are insufficient.

“Other Connection Taxes” means, with respect to the Lender, Taxes imposed as a result of 
a present or former connection between the Lender and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other 
than connections arising from the Lender having executed, delivered, become a party to, 
performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest 
under, engaged in any other transaction pursuant to or enforced any Basic Document, or sold or 
assigned an interest in any Loan or Basic Document).

“Other Taxes” means all present or future stamp, court or documentary, intangible, 
recording, filing or similar Taxes that arise from any payment made under, from the execution, 
delivery, performance, enforcement or registration of, from the receipt or perfection of a security 
interest under, or otherwise with respect to, any Basic Document, except any such Taxes that are 
Other Connection Taxes imposed with respect to an assignment.

“Overnight Lender Funding Rate” means, for any day, the rate comprised of both 
overnight federal funds and overnight eurodollar transactions denominated in Dollars by 
U.S.-managed banking offices of depository institutions (as such composite rate shall be 
determined by the NYFRB as set forth on the Federal Reserve Bank of New York’s Website from 
time to time) and published on the next succeeding Business Day by the NYFRB as an overnight 
bank funding rate.



-13-

“Parity Debt” means any System Debt issued or incurred by the Borrower (i) the payment 
of which is on parity with the Borrower’s payment Obligations under this Agreement and (ii) that 
is subject to an intercreditor agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender.

“Participant” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof.

“Participation” has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b) hereof.

“Person” means an individual, a firm, a corporation, a partnership, a limited liability 
company, an association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including a government or 
political subdivision or any agency or instrumentality thereof.

“PPA” means a power purchase agreement executed between the Borrower and a PPA 
Counterparty.  For purposes of notices, “PPA” includes EEI Master Agreements, but does not 
include individual transaction confirmations executed under an EEI Master Agreement or WSPP 
Agreement.

“PPA Counterparty” means a party to a PPA other than the Borrower.

“Prime Rate” means the rate of interest last quoted by The Wall Street Journal as the 
“Prime Rate” in the U.S. or if The Wall Street Journal ceases to quote such rate, the highest per 
annum interest rate published by the Federal Reserve Board in Federal Reserve Statistical Release 
H.15 (519) (Selected Interest Rates) as the “bank prime loan” rate or, if such rate is no longer 
quoted therein, any similar rate quoted therein (as determined by the Lender) or any similar release 
by the Federal Reserve Board (as determined by the Lender). Each change in the Prime Rate shall 
be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced or quoted as being 
effective.

“Product” means any of the following: energy, renewable energy attributes, capacity 
attributes, resource adequacy benefits, or any other similar or related products contemplated in the 
PPAs.

“Property” means any interest in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or 
mixed, or tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired.

“Reimbursement Loan” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.4(d).

“Reimbursement Loan Amortization Payment Amount” means, with respect to a 
Reimbursement Loan, the principal amount of such Reimbursement Loan on the applicable 
Reimbursement Loan Start Date divided by the number of Reimbursement Loan Payment Dates in 
the applicable Reimbursement Loan Amortization Period.

“Reimbursement Loan Amortization Period” means, with respect to a Reimbursement 
Loan, the period commencing on the applicable Reimbursement Loan Start Date and ending on the 
applicable Reimbursement Loan Maturity Date.



-14-

“Reimbursement Loan Maturity Date” means, with respect to a Reimbursement Loan, (the 
Maturity Date.

“Reimbursement Loan Payment Date” means, with respect to a Reimbursement Loan, the 
first Business Day of each calendar quarter during the applicable Reimbursement Loan 
Amortization Period and the Reimbursement Loan Maturity Date.

“Reimbursement Loan Start Date” means, with respect to a Reimbursement Loan, the date 
such Reimbursement Loan is made.

“Reimbursement Obligations” means any and all obligations of the Borrower to reimburse 
the Lender for LC Disbursements under Letters of Credit and all obligations to repay the Lender 
for any Loan relating thereto, including in each instance all interest accrued thereon.

“Related Parties” means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person’s Affiliates 
and the respective directors, officers, employees, agents and advisors of such Person and such 
Person’s Affiliates.

“Relevant Governmental Body” means the Federal Reserve Board or the NYFRB, the 
CME Term SOFR Administrator, as applicable, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by 
the Federal Reserve Board or the NYFRB, or, in each case, any successor thereto.

“Requirement of Law” means, with respect to any Person, (a) the charter, articles or 
certificate of organization or incorporation and bylaws or operating, management or partnership 
agreement, or other organizational or governing documents of such Person and (b) any statute, law 
(including common law), treaty, rule, regulation, code, ordinance, order, decree, writ, judgment, 
injunction or determination of any arbitrator or court or other Governmental Authority (including 
Environmental Laws), in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its 
property or to which such Person or any of its property is subject.

“Reserve Funds Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(r) hereof.

“Reserve Policy” means the Financial Reserve Policy (CEA-09) of the Borrower, adopted 
by CEA on January 21, 2021.

“Resolution” means Resolution No. 2021-004, adopted by CEA on January 21, 2021.

“Revenues” means all revenues, rates and charges received and accrued by the Borrower 
for electric power and energy and other services, facilities and commodities sold, furnished or 
supplied by the System, together with income, earnings and profits therefrom, as determined in 
accordance with GAAP.

“Revolving Borrowing” means a Loan hereunder other than a Loan for which the proceeds 
thereof are used to repay Reimbursement Obligations.

“Revolving Credit Exposure” means, with respect to the Lender at any time, the sum of the 



-15-

outstanding principal amount of the Loans and its LC Exposure at such time.

“Sanctioned Country” means, at any time, a country, region or territory which is the 
subject or target of any Sanctions ( at the time of this Agreement, Crimea, Cuba, Iran, North Korea, 
and Syria).

“Sanctioned Person” means, at any time, (a) any Person  listed in any Sanctions-related 
list of designated Persons maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. 
Department of the Treasury, the U.S. Department of State, or by the United Nations Security 
Council, the European Union, any European Union member state, Her Majesty’s Treasury of the 
United Kingdom or other relevant sanctions authority, (b) any Person operating, organized or 
resident in a Sanctioned Country, (c) any Person owned or controlled by any such Person or 
Persons described in the foregoing clauses (a) or (b), or (d) any Person otherwise the subject of any 
Sanctions.

“Sanctions” means all economic or financial sanctions or trade embargoes imposed, 
administered or enforced from time to time by (a) the U.S. government, including those 
administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury or the 
U.S. Department of State, or (b) the United Nations Security Council, the European Union, any 
European Union member state or Her Majesty’s Treasury of the United Kingdom or other relevant 
sanctions authority.

“Security Agreement” means the Security Agreement, substantially in the form attached 
hereto as Exhibit G, as amended and supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof, by and 
among CEA, and River City Bank, a California corporation, not in its individual capacity, but 
solely as collateral agent, for the benefit of the each seller of Product under a PPA that is made a 
party to the Intercreditor Agreement, and its respective successors and assigns.

“Senior Debt” means any System Debt issued or incurred by the Borrower, whether 
secured or unsecured, the payment of which is senior to the payment in full of the Borrower’s 
payment Obligations under this Agreement.

“SOFR” means a rate equal to the secured overnight financing rate as administered by the 
NYFRB (or a successor administrator of the secured overnight financing rate).

“SOFR Borrowing” means any Borrowing bearing interest at the Adjusted Term SOFR 
Rate.

“SOFR Loan” means any Loan bearing interest at the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate. 

“State” means the State of California.

“Subordinate Debt” means any unsecured System Debt issued or incurred by the 
Borrower, the payment of which is subordinate to the payment in full of the Borrower’s payment 
Obligations under this Agreement in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender.



-16-

“Swap Agreement” means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, spot, future, 
credit default or derivative transaction or any option or similar agreement involving, or settled by 
reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, 
or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or 
value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; provided that no 
phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by 
current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Borrower or the Subsidiaries 
shall be a Swap Agreement.

“Swap Termination Value” means, in respect of any one or more Swap Agreements, after 
taking into account the effect of any legally enforceable netting agreement relating to such Swap 
Agreements, (a) for any date on or after the date such Swap Agreements have been closed out and 
termination value(s) determined in accordance therewith, such termination value(s), and (b) for 
any date prior to the date referenced in clause (a), the amount(s) determined as the mark-to-market 
value(s) for such Swap Agreements, as determined based upon one or more mid-market or other 
readily available quotations provided by any recognized dealer in such Swap Agreements (which 
may include the Lender or any Affiliate of the Lender).

“System” means (i) all facilities, works, properties, structures and contractual rights to 
distribution, metering and billing services, electric power, scheduling and coordination, 
transmission capacity, and fuel supply of Borrower for the generation, transmission and 
distribution of electric power, (ii) all general plant facilities, works, properties and structures of 
Borrower, and (iii) all other facilities, properties and structures of Borrower, wherever located, 
reasonably required to carry out any lawful purpose of Borrower.  The term shall include all such 
contractual rights, facilities, works, properties and structures now owned or hereafter acquired by 
Borrower.

“System Debt” means Debt of the Borrower.

“Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, 
withholdings (including backup withholding), value added taxes, or any other goods and services, 
use or sales taxes, assessments, fees or other charges imposed by any Governmental Authority, 
including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

“Term SOFR Rate” means, with respect to any SOFR Borrowing, such reference rate as is 
published by the CME Term SOFR Administrator at approximately 5:00 a.m., Chicago time, two 
Business Days prior to the commencement of such tenor comparable to the applicable Interest 
Period; such rate being the rate per annum determined by the Lender as the forward-looking term 
rate based on SOFR; provided that if the Term SOFR Rate as so determined would be less than the 
Floor, such rate shall be deemed to be the Floor for the purposes of this Agreement.

“Third Amendment Effective Date” means March 31, 2023, being the “Effective Date” 
under and as defined in the Third Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 
31, 2023, between the Lender and the Borrower.

“2020 Audited Financial Statements” means the statement of net position of the System at 







-17-

June 30, 2020, the statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net position of the System for 
the year ended June 30, 2020, and the statement of cash flows of the System for the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2020, together with unqualified audit opinion of Lance, Soll & Lunghard, LLP.

“Type”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of 
interest on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to 
the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Base Rate.

“Undrawn Fee” has the meaning set forth in the Fee Agreement.

“U.S. Government Securities Business Day” means any day except for (i) a Saturday, (ii) a 
Sunday or (iii) a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association 
recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for 
purposes of trading in United States government securities.

“Working Capital Loan” means any Loan other than a Cash Collateral Loan or a 
Reimbursement Loan.

“WSPP Agreement” means the WSPP Agreement created by WSPP Inc. and filed with the 
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, as revised by the WSPP Inc. from time to time.

Section 1.2. Terms Generally.  The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the 
singular and plural forms of the terms defined.  Whenever the context may require, any pronoun 
shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms.  The words “include”, 
“includes” and “including” shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase “without limitation”.  
The word “will” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word “shall”.  
Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, 
instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument 
or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to 
any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any 
reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns, 
(c) the words “herein”, “hereof’ and “hereunder”, and words of similar import, shall be construed 
to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all 
references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to 
Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words “asset” 
and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all 
tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract 
rights.

Section 1.3. Accounting Terms; GAAP.  Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, 
all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in 
effect from time to time; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Lender that the Borrower 
requests an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring 
after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if 
the Lender requests an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of 
whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, 





-18-

then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately 
before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or 
such provision amended in accordance herewith.

Section 1.4. Interest Rates; Benchmark Notification. The interest rate on a Loan may be 
derived from an interest rate benchmark that may be discontinued or is, or may in the future 
become, the subject of regulatory reform. Upon the occurrence of a Benchmark Transition Event, 
Section 2.11(c) provides a mechanism for determining an alternative rate of interest.  The Lender 
does not warrant or accept any responsibility for, and shall not have any liability with respect to, 
the administration, submission, performance or any other matter related to any interest rate used in 
this Agreement, or with respect to any alternative or successor rate thereto, or replacement rate 
thereof, including without limitation, whether the composition or characteristics of any such 
alternative, successor or replacement reference rate will be similar to, or produce the same value or 
economic equivalence of, the existing interest rate being replaced or have the same volume or 
liquidity as did any existing interest rate prior to its discontinuance or unavailability.  The Lender 
and its affiliates and/or other related entities may engage in transactions that affect the calculation 
of any interest rate used in this Agreement or any alternative, successor or alternative rate 
(including any Alternate Rate) and/or any relevant adjustments thereto, in each case, in a manner 
adverse to the Borrower.  The Lender may select information sources or services in its reasonable 
discretion to ascertain any interest rate used in this Agreement, any component thereof, or rates 
referenced in the definition thereof, in each case pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, and shall 
have no liability to the Borrower or any other person or entity for damages of any kind, including 
direct or indirect, special, punitive, incidental or consequential damages, costs, losses or expenses 
(whether in tort, contract or otherwise and whether at law or in equity), for any error or calculation 
of any such rate (or component thereof) provided by any such information source or service.

ARTICLE 2

THE CREDITS

Section 2.1. Commitments.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the 
Lender agrees to make Loans to the Borrower from time to time during the Availability Period in 
an aggregate principal amount that will not result (after giving effect to any application of proceeds 
of such Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.7) in the Revolving Credit Exposure exceeding the 
Commitment.  Within the foregoing limits and subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, 
the Borrower may borrow, prepay and reborrow Loans.

Section 2.2. Loans and Borrowings.  (a) Subject to Section 2.4(d), Section 2.5(d) and 
Section 2.11, at the time of each Borrowing, the Borrower may elect to incur a Loan as a Base Rate 
Loan or a SOFR Loan.

(b) At the commencement of each Interest Period for any SOFR Borrowing, such 
Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of $100,000.  At the time 
that each Base Rate Borrowing is made, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an 
integral multiple of $25,000 and not less than $100,000; provided that a Base Rate Borrowing may 



-19-

be in an aggregate amount that is equal to the entire unused balance of the Commitment or that is 
required to finance the reimbursement of an LC Disbursement as contemplated by Section 2.4(d). 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall not be 
entitled to request, or to elect to convert or continue, any Borrowing if the Interest Period requested 
with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date.

Section 2.3. Requests for Revolving Borrowings.  To request a Borrowing, the Borrower 
shall notify the Lender of such request by telephone (a) in the case of a SOFR Borrowing, not later 
than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, three (3) Business Days before the date of the proposed 
Borrowing or (b) in the case of a Base Rate Borrowing, not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City 
time, one Business Day before the date of the proposed Borrowing.  Each such telephonic 
Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by electronic means to 
the Lender of a written Borrowing Request in a form attached hereto as Exhibit C and signed by 
the Borrower.  Each such telephonic and written Borrowing Request shall specify the information 
set forth in Exhibit C hereto.

If no election as to the Type of Borrowing is specified, then the requested Borrowing shall 
be a Base Rate Borrowing.  If no Interest Period is specified with respect to any requested SOFR 
Borrowing, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month’s 
duration.  Subject to satisfaction of the terms and conditions of Section 3.2, the Lender shall make 
available to, or for the account of, the Borrower the amount of each Borrowing no later than 2:00 
p.m., New York City time, on date of the applicable Borrowing.

Section 2.4. Letters of Credit.

(a) General.  Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, the Borrower may 
request the issuance of Letters of Credit as the applicant thereof for the support of its PPA payment 
obligations, in the form of a Letter of Credit Request set forth in Exhibit D-1 hereto at any time and 
from time to time during the Availability Period; provided, however, that prior to the issuance of 
the initial Letter of Credit hereunder, the Borrower and the Lender shall execute a Continuing 
Agreement for Commercial and Standby Letters Of Credit in the form of Exhibit D-3 hereto.  In 
the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and the terms 
and conditions of any form of letter of credit application or other agreement submitted by the 
Borrower to, or entered into by the Borrower with, the Lender relating to any Letter of Credit, the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement shall control.

(b) Notice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal, Extension; Certain Conditions.  To request 
the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or the amendment, renewal or extension of an outstanding Letter 
of Credit), the Borrower shall hand deliver or fax (or transmit through an Electronic System, if 
arrangements for doing so have been approved by the Lender) to the Lender (reasonably in 
advance of the requested date of issuance, amendment, renewal or extension, but in any event no 
less than five (5) Business Days) a notice requesting the issuance of a Letter of Credit, or 
identifying the Letter of Credit to be amended, renewed or extended, and specifying the date of 
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (which shall be a Business Day), the date on which 
such Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall comply with paragraph (c) of this Section), the 



-20-

amount of such Letter of Credit, the name and address of the beneficiary thereof and such other 
information as shall be necessary to prepare, amend, renew or extend such Letter of Credit.  If 
requested by the Lender, the Borrower also shall submit a letter of credit application on the 
Lender’s standard form in connection with any request for a Letter of Credit.  A Letter of Credit 
shall be issued, amended, renewed or extended only if (and upon issuance, amendment, renewal or 
extension of each Letter of Credit the Borrower shall be deemed to represent and warrant that), 
after giving effect to such issuance, amendment, renewal or extension (i) the Revolving Credit 
Exposure shall not exceed the Commitment and (ii) the LC Exposure shall not exceed the Letter of 
Credit Sublimit.  

The Lender shall not be under any obligation to issue any Letter of Credit if:

(i) any order, judgment or decree of any Governmental Authority or arbitrator 
shall by its terms purport to enjoin or restrain the Lender from issuing such Letter of Credit, 
or any Requirement of Law relating to the Lender or any request or directive (whether or 
not having the force of law) from any Governmental Authority with jurisdiction over the 
Lender shall prohibit, or request that the Lender refrain from, the issuance of letters of 
credit generally or such Letter of Credit in particular or shall impose upon the Lender with 
respect to such Letter of Credit any restriction, reserve or capital requirement (for which 
the Lender is not otherwise compensated hereunder) not in effect on the Closing Date, or 
shall impose upon the Lender any unreimbursed loss, cost or expense which was not 
applicable on the Closing Date and which the Lender in good faith deems material to it, or 

(ii) the issuance of such Letter of Credit would violate one or more policies of 
the Lender applicable to letters of credit generally.

(c) Expiration Date.  Unless otherwise expressly agreed to by the Lender, each Letter of 
Credit shall expire (or be subject to termination by notice from the Lender to the beneficiary 
thereof) at or prior to the close of business on the date that is five (5) Business Days prior to the 
Maturity Date.

(d) Reimbursement.  If the Lender shall make any LC Disbursement in respect of a Letter 
of Credit, the Borrower shall reimburse such LC Disbursement by paying to the Lender an amount 
equal to such LC Disbursement not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date that 
such LC Disbursement is made, if the Borrower shall have received notice of such LC 
Disbursement prior to 9:00 a.m., New York City time, on such date, or, if such notice has not been 
received by the Borrower prior to such time on such date, then not later than 11:00 a.m., New York 
City time, on the Business Day immediately following the day that the Borrower receives such 
notice, if such notice is not received prior to such time on the day of receipt; provided that, if such 
LC Disbursement is not less than $100,000, and no Default or Event of Default shall have 
occurred, the Borrower may, subject to the conditions to borrowing set forth herein, request in 
accordance with Section 2.3 that such payment be financed with a Base Rate Revolving Borrowing 
in an equivalent amount and, to the extent so financed, the Borrower’s obligation to make such 
payment shall be discharged and replaced by the resulting Base Rate Borrowing (such Base Rate 
Borrowing, a “Reimbursement Loan”).



-21-

(e) Obligations Absolute.  The Borrower’s obligation to reimburse LC Disbursements as 
provided in paragraph (d) of this Section shall be absolute, unconditional and irrevocable, and 
shall be performed strictly in accordance with the terms of this Agreement under any and all 
circumstances whatsoever and irrespective of (i) any lack of validity or enforceability of any Letter 
of Credit or this Agreement, or any term or provision therein, (ii) any draft or other document 
presented under a Letter of Credit proving to be forged, fraudulent or invalid in any respect or any 
statement therein being untrue or inaccurate in any respect, (iii) payment by the Lender under a 
Letter of Credit against presentation of a draft or other document that does not comply with the 
terms of such Letter of Credit, or (iv) any other event or circumstance whatsoever, whether or not 
similar to any of the foregoing, that might, but for the provisions of this Section, constitute a legal 
or equitable discharge of, or provide a right of setoff against, the Borrower’s obligations 
hereunder.  Neither the Lender nor any of its Related Parties, shall have any liability or 
responsibility by reason of or in connection with the issuance or transfer of any Letter of Credit, 
any payment or failure to make any payment thereunder (irrespective of any of the circumstances 
referred to in the preceding sentence), or any error, omission, interruption, loss or delay in 
transmission or delivery of any draft, notice or other communication under or relating to any Letter 
of Credit (including any document required to make a drawing thereunder), any error in 
interpretation of technical terms, any error in translation or any consequence arising from causes 
beyond the control of the Lender; provided that the foregoing shall not be construed to excuse the 
Lender from liability to the Borrower to the extent of any direct damages (as opposed to special, 
indirect, consequential or punitive damages, claims in respect of which are hereby waived by the 
Borrower to the extent permitted by applicable law) suffered by the Borrower that are caused by 
the Lender’s failure to exercise care when determining whether drafts and other documents 
presented under a Letter of Credit comply with the terms thereof.  The parties hereto expressly 
agree that, in the absence of gross negligence or willful misconduct on the part of the Lender (as 
finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction), the Lender shall be deemed to have 
exercised care in each such determination.  In furtherance of the foregoing and without limiting the 
generality thereof, the parties agree that, with respect to documents presented which appear on 
their face to be in substantial compliance with the terms of a Letter of Credit, the Lender may, in its 
sole discretion, either accept and make payment upon such documents without responsibility for 
further investigation, regardless of any notice or information to the contrary, or refuse to accept 
and make payment upon such documents if such documents are not in strict compliance with the 
terms of such Letter of Credit.

(f) Disbursement Procedures.  The Lender shall, promptly following its receipt thereof, 
examine all documents purporting to represent a demand for payment under a Letter of Credit.  
The Lender shall promptly after such examination notify the Borrower by telephone (confirmed by 
fax or through an Electronic System) of such demand for payment if the Lender has made or will 
make an LC Disbursement thereunder; provided that any failure to give or delay in giving such 
notice shall not relieve the Borrower of its obligation to reimburse the Lender with respect to any 
such LC Disbursement.

(g) Interim Interest.  If the Lender shall make any LC Disbursement, then, unless the 
Borrower shall reimburse such LC Disbursement in full on the date such LC Disbursement is 
made, the unpaid amount thereof shall bear interest, for each day from and including the date such 
LC Disbursement is made to but excluding the date that the reimbursement is due and payable at 



-22-

the rate per annum set forth in Section 2.10(d) for Base Rate Loans and such interest shall be due 
and payable on the date when such reimbursement is payable.

(h) Cash Collateralization.  If any Event of Default shall occur and be continuing, on the 
Business Day that the Borrower receives notice from the Lender demanding the deposit of cash 
collateral pursuant to this paragraph, the Borrower shall deposit in an account with the Lender, in 
the name and for the benefit of the Lender (the “LC Collateral Account”), an amount in cash equal 
to 105% of the amount of the LC Exposure as of such date plus accrued and unpaid interest 
thereon; provided that the obligation to deposit such cash collateral shall become effective 
immediately, and such deposit shall become immediately due and payable, without demand or 
other notice of any kind, upon the occurrence of any Event of Default with respect to the Borrower 
described in Section 6.01(e) or Section 6.01(f) hereof.  The Lender shall have exclusive dominion 
and control, including the exclusive right of withdrawal, over the LC Collateral Account and the 
Borrower hereby grants the Lender a security interest in the LC Collateral Account and all moneys 
or other assets on deposit therein or credited thereto.  Other than any interest earned on the 
investment of such deposits, which investments shall be made at the option and sole discretion of 
the Lender and at the Borrower’s risk and expense, such deposits shall not bear interest.  Interest or 
profits, if any, on such investments shall accumulate in such account.  Moneys in such account 
shall be applied by the Lender for LC Disbursements for which it has not been reimbursed, 
together with related fees, costs, and customary processing charges,  and, to the extent not so 
applied, shall be held for the satisfaction of the reimbursement obligations of the Borrower for the 
LC Exposure at such time or, if the maturity of the Loans has been accelerated, be applied to 
satisfy other Obligations.  If the Borrower is required to provide an amount of cash collateral 
hereunder as a result of the occurrence of an Event of Default, such amount (to the extent not 
applied as aforesaid) shall be returned to the Borrower within three (3) Business Days after all such 
Events of Default have been cured or waived as confirmed in writing by the Lender.

Section 2.5. Interest Elections.  (a) Each Borrowing initially shall be of the Type specified 
in the applicable Borrowing Request and, in the case of a SOFR Borrowing, shall have an initial 
Interest Period as specified in such Borrowing Request.  Thereafter, the Borrower may elect to 
convert such Borrowing (other than a Base Rate Borrowing of a Reimbursement Loan) to a 
different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a SOFR Borrowing, may elect 
Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section.  The Borrower may elect different options 
with respect to different portions of the affected Borrowing (other than a Base Rate Borrowing of a 
Reimbursement Loan) and the Loan comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate 
Borrowing.

(b) To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall notify the Lender of 
such election by telephone by the time that a Borrowing Request would be required under Section 
2.3 if the Borrower were requesting a Borrowing of the Type resulting from such election to be 
made on the effective date of such election.  Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall 
be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by electronic copy to the Lender of a written 
Interest Election Request in a form approved by the Lender and signed by the Borrower.



-23-

(c) Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following 
information in compliance with Section 2.2:

(i) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if 
different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions 
thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be 
specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting 
Borrowing);

(ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election 
Request, which shall be a Business Day;

(iii) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be a Base Rate Borrowing or a SOFR 
Borrowing; and

(iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a SOFR Borrowing, the Interest Period to be 
applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period contemplated 
by the definition of the term “Interest Period”.

If any such Interest Election Request requests a SOFR Borrowing but does not specify an 
Interest Period, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one 
month’s duration.

(d) If the Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a 
SOFR Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such 
Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period such Borrowing shall be 
converted to a Base Rate Borrowing.  Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event 
of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Lender so notifies the Borrower, then, so long as 
an Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued 
as a SOFR Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, each SOFR Borrowing shall be converted to a Base 
Rate Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto; provided, however, that the 
actions specified in clauses (i) and (ii) immediately above shall apply automatically without notice 
from the Lender if the Event of Default that has occurred and is continuing is an Event of Default 
described in Section 6.1(e) or Section 6.1(f).

Section 2.6. Termination and Reduction of Commitment; Increase in Revolving 
Commitments.  (a) Unless previously terminated, the Commitment shall terminate automatically 
on the Maturity Date.

(b) Subject to the provisions of the Fee Agreement, the Borrower may at any time 
terminate, or from time to time reduce, the Commitment; provided that (i) each reduction of the 
Commitment shall be in an amount that is an integral multiple of $100,000 and not less than 
$500,000 and (ii) the Borrower shall not terminate or reduce the Commitment if, after giving effect 
to any concurrent prepayment of the Loans in accordance with Section 2.8, the Revolving Credit 
Exposure would exceed the Commitment.





-24-

(c) The Borrower shall notify the Lender of any election to terminate or reduce the 
Commitments under paragraph (b) of this Section at least three (3) Business Days prior to the 
effective date of such termination or reduction, specifying such election and the effective date 
thereof.  Each notice delivered by the Borrower pursuant to this Section shall be irrevocable; 
provided that a notice of termination of the Commitment delivered by the Borrower may state that 
such notice is conditioned upon the effectiveness of other credit facilities, in which case such 
notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Lender on or prior to the specified 
effective date) if such condition is not satisfied.  Any termination or reduction of the Commitment 
shall be permanent.

(d) The Borrower shall have the right to request an increase to the Commitment by 
making a written request for an additional Commitment to the Lender, provided that (i) any such 
request for an increase shall be in a minimum amount of $2,000,000, (ii) the Borrower may make a 
maximum of three (3) such requests, (iii) after giving effect thereto, the sum of the total of the 
additional Commitments does not exceed $10,000,000 and (iv) the procedures described in 
Section 2.6(e) below have been satisfied.  Nothing contained in this Section 2.6 shall constitute, or 
otherwise be deemed to be, a commitment on the part of the Lender to increase its Commitment 
hereunder at any time.

(e) Any amendment hereto for such an increase or addition shall be in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Lender and shall only require the written signatures of the Lender and 
the Borrower.  As a condition precedent to such an increase or addition, the Borrower shall deliver 
to the Lender (i) a certificate signed by an Authorized Representative of the Borrower (A) 
certifying that the Fourth Amendment Resolution has not been amended and remains in full effect 
as of the date of such request and (B) certifying that, before and after giving effect to such increase 
or addition, (1) the representations and warranties contained in Article 4 and the other Basic 
Documents are true and correct, except to the extent that such representations and warranties 
specifically refer to an earlier date, in which case they are true and correct as of such earlier date, 
(2) no Default exists and (3) the Borrower is in compliance (on a pro forma basis) with the 
covenants contained in Section 5.1(q), (ii) legal opinions and documents substantially consistent 
with those delivered on the Fourth Amendment Effective Date, to the extent requested by the 
Lender and (iii) a new promissory note payable to the Lender and in a form approved by the 
Lender, to the extent requested by the Lender.

(f) On the effective date of any such increase or addition, the Borrower shall be 
deemed to have repaid and reborrowed all outstanding Revolving Borrowings as of the date of any 
increase (or addition) in the Commitment (with such reborrowing to consist of the same Type of 
Revolving Borrowings, with related Interest Periods if applicable, specified in a notice delivered 
by the Borrower, in accordance with the requirements of Section 2.3).  The deemed payments 
made pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be accompanied by payment of all 
accrued interest on the amount prepaid and, in respect of each SOFR Loan, shall be subject to 
indemnification by the Borrower pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.13 if the deemed payment 
occurs other than on the last day of the related Interest Periods.

Section 2.7. Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.  (a) The Borrower hereby 
unconditionally promises to pay to the Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan on 









-25-

the Maturity Date.

(b) The Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or 
accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to the Lender resulting from each Loan 
made by the Lender, the Type of each Loan and the Interest Period, if any, applicable thereto and 
the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to the Lender from time to time hereunder.  
The entries made in such account or accounts shall be prima facie evidence of the existence and 
amounts of the obligations recorded therein; provided that the failure of the Lender to maintain 
such account or accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the 
Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(c) The Lender may request that Loans made by it be evidenced by a promissory note.  In 
such event, the Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to the Lender a promissory note 
payable to the Lender and in a form approved by the Lender.  Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by 
such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to 
Section 7.3) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such form.

Section 2.8. Prepayment of Loans.  (a) The Borrower shall have the right at any time and 
from time to time to prepay any Borrowing in whole or in part, subject to prior notice in 
accordance with paragraph (b) of this Section and in accordance with any amounts due and owing 
pursuant to Section 2.13 of this Agreement.

(b) The Borrower shall notify the Lender by telephone (confirmed by fax) or through 
Electronic System, if arrangements for doing so have been approved by the Lender, of any 
prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of prepayment of a SOFR Borrowing, not later than 10:00 
a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment, or (ii) in the case of 
prepayment of a Base Rate Borrowing, not later than 10:00 a.m., New York City time, one 
Business Day before the date of prepayment.  Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall 
specify the prepayment date and the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be 
prepaid; provided that, if a notice of prepayment is given in connection with a conditional notice of 
termination of the Commitments as contemplated by Section 2.6, then such notice of prepayment 
may be revoked if such notice of termination is revoked in accordance with Section 2.6.  Each 
partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of 
an advance of a Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Section 2.2.  Prepayments shall be 
accompanied by accrued interest to the extent required by Section 2.10.

Section 2.9. Fees.  The Borrower agrees to pay to the Lender the fees and other amounts 
set forth in the Fee Agreement at the time and in the manner set forth in the Fee Agreement, 
including, but not limited to, the Undrawn Fee and the Letter of Credit Fees.  The Fee Agreement 
is, by this reference, incorporated herein in its entirety as if set forth herein in full.  All fees and 
other amounts payable under the Fee Agreement shall be paid in immediately available funds.  
Fees paid shall not be refundable under any circumstances.

Section 2.10. Interest.  (a) The Loans comprising each Base Rate Borrowing (other than 
Reimbursement Loans) shall bear interest at the Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin.



-26-

(b) The Loans comprising each SOFR Borrowing shall bear interest at the Adjusted 
Term SOFR Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Margin. 

(c) The Reimbursement Loans shall bear interest at the Base Rate plus the Applicable 
Margin.

(d) Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default hereunder, the Default 
Rate shall apply to all Loans and Letters of Credit.  Interest and fees for Letters of Credit accruing 
at the Default Rate shall be payable on demand of the Lender.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if 
any principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the Borrower 
hereunder or under the Fee Agreement is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon 
acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount shall bear interest, after as well as before 
judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of any Loan, 3% plus the 
rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section, (ii) 
in the case of the undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit at such time, 3% plus the LC 
Facility Fee (as defined in the Fee Agreement) and (iii) in the case of any other amount, 3% plus 
the rate applicable to Base Rate Loans as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section.

(e) Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment 
Date for such Loan and upon termination of the Commitment; provided that (i) interest accrued 
pursuant to paragraph (d) of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any 
repayment or prepayment of any Loan (other than a prepayment of a Base Rate Loan prior to the 
end of the Availability Period), accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be 
payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any conversion of 
any SOFR Loan prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor, accrued interest on such 
Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.

(f) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days and the 
actual number of days elapsed, except that interest computed by reference to the Base Rate at times 
when the Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days 
and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but 
excluding the last day).  The applicable Base Rate, Adjusted Term SOFR Rate, and Term SOFR 
Rate shall be determined by the Lender, and such determination shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error.

(g) Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, the amount of interest payable 
hereunder for any interest period shall not exceed the Maximum Rate.  If for any interest period the 
applicable interest rate would exceed the Maximum Rate, then (i) such interest rate will not exceed 
but will be capped at such Maximum Rate and (ii) in any interest period thereafter that the 
applicable interest rate is less than the Maximum Rate, any Obligation hereunder will bear interest 
at the Maximum Rate until the earlier of (x) payment to the Lender of an amount equal to the 
amount which would have accrued but for the limitation set forth in this Section and (y) the 
Maturity Date.  Upon the Maturity Date or, if no Revolving Credit Exposure is outstanding, on the 
date the Commitment is permanently terminated, in consideration for the limitation of the rate of 
interest otherwise payable hereunder, to the extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Borrower 
shall pay to the Lender a fee in an amount equal to the amount which would have accrued but for 



-27-

the limitation set forth in this Section 2.10(g) that has not previously been paid to the Lender in 
accordance with the immediately preceding sentence.

Section 2.11. Alternate Rate of Interest; Illegality.  (a)  Subject to clause (c) of this 
Section 2.11, if prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a SOFR Borrowing:

(i) the Lender determines (which determination shall be conclusive and binding 
absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the 
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Term SOFR Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period; 
or

(ii) the Lender determines the Adjusted Term SOFR Rate or the Term SOFR 
Rate, as applicable, for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to 
the Lender of making or maintaining its Loans (or Loan) included in such Borrowing for 
such Interest Period;

then the Lender shall give notice thereof to the Borrower by telephone, fax or through an 
Electronic System as provided in Section 7.2 as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until (x) the 
Lender notifies the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist and 
(y) the Borrower delivers a new Interest Election Request in accordance with the terms of Section 
2.5 or a new Borrowing Request in accordance with the terms of Section 2.3, (A) any Interest 
Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any 
Borrowing as, a SOFR Borrowing shall be ineffective and any such SOFR Borrowing shall be 
repaid or converted into a Base Rate Borrowing on the last day of the then current Interest Period 
applicable thereto, and (B) if any Borrowing Request requests a SOFR Borrowing, such 
Borrowing shall be made as a Base Rate Borrowing.

(b) If the Lender determines that any Requirement of Law has made it unlawful, or if 
any Governmental Authority has asserted that it is unlawful, for the Lender or its applicable 
lending office to make, maintain, fund or continue any SOFR Borrowing, or any Governmental 
Authority has imposed material restrictions on the authority of the Lender to purchase or sell, or to 
take deposits of, dollars in the interbank offering market, then, on notice thereof by the Lender to 
the Borrower, any obligations of the Lender to make, maintain, fund or continue SOFR Loans or to 
convert Base Rate Borrowings to SOFR Borrowings will be suspended until the Lender notifies 
the Borrower that the circumstances giving rise to such determination no longer exist.  Upon 
receipt of such notice, the Borrower will upon demand from the Lender, either prepay or convert 
all SOFR Borrowings of the Lender to Base Rate Borrowings, either on the last day of the Interest 
Period therefor, if the Lender may lawfully continue to maintain such SOFR Borrowings to such 
day, or immediately, if the Lender may not lawfully continue to maintain such Loans.  Upon any 
such prepayment or conversion, the Borrower will also pay accrued interest on the amount so 
prepaid or converted. 

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein or in any other LoanBasic 
Document (and any Swap Agreement shall be deemed not to be a “LoanBasic Document” for 
purposes of this 2.11(c)), if a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, Lender may, by notice to 
Borrower, amend this Agreement to establish an alternate rate of interest for the Benchmark that 







-28-

gives due consideration to (i) any selection or recommendation of a replacement benchmark rate or 
the mechanism for determining such a rate by the Relevant Governmental Body or (ii) the 
then-evolving or prevailing market convention for determining a benchmark rate as a replacement 
for the then current Benchmark at such time (the “Alternate Rate”); Borrower acknowledges that 
the Alternate Rate may include a mathematical adjustment using any then-evolving or prevailing 
market convention or method for determining a spread adjustment for the replacement of the 
Benchmark (which may include, if any Benchmark already contains such a spread, adding that 
spread to the Alternate Rate). The Lender may further amend this Agreement by such notice to 
Borrower to make technical, administrative or operational changes (including, without limitation, 
changes to the definition of “Interest Period”, timing and frequency of determining rates and 
making payments of interest, the timing of prepayment or conversion notices, the length of 
lookback periods, the applicability of breakage provisions and other technical, administrative or 
operational matters) that Lender decides in its reasonable discretion may be appropriate to reflect 
the adoption and implementation of the Alternate Rate. The Alternate Rate, together with all such 
technical, administrative and operational changes as specified in any notice, shall become 
effective at the later of (i) the fifth Business Day after Lender has provided notice (including 
without limitation for this purpose, by electronic means) to the Borrower (the “Objection Date”) 
and (ii) a date specified by Lender in the notice, without any further action or consent of the 
Borrower, so long as Lender has not received, by 5:00 pm Eastern time on the Objection Date, 
written notice of objection to the Alternate Rate from the Borrower. If, on the date the Benchmark 
actually becomes permanently unavailable pursuant to a Benchmark Transition Event, an 
Alternate Rate has not been established in this manner, Advances will, until an Alternate Rate is so 
established, bear interest at the Base Rate. In no event shall the Alternate Rate be less than the 
Floor. 

(d) All determinations by Lender under this Section 2.11 shall be conclusive and 
binding absent manifest error and may be made in its sole discretion and without consent from any 
other party to this Agreement or any other LoanBasic Document, except, in each case, as expressly 
required pursuant to this Section 2.11.

Section 2.12. Increased Costs.  (a) If any Change in Law shall:

(i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit, liquidity or 
similar requirement (including any compulsory loan requirement, insurance charge or 
other assessment) against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended 
by, the Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted Term SOFR 
Rate); or

(ii) impose on the Lender or the London interbank market any other condition, 
cost or expense (other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Loans made by the Lender 
or any Letter of Credit; or

(iii) subject the Lender to any Taxes (other than (A) Indemnified Taxes, (B) 
Taxes described in clauses (b) through (d) of the definition of Excluded Taxes and (C) 
Connection Income Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or 
other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto;





-29-

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to the Lender of making, 
continuing, converting into or maintaining any Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any 
such Loan) or to increase the cost to the Lender of issuing or maintaining any Letter of Credit or to 
reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by the Lender hereunder (whether of 
principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrower will pay to the Lender such additional amount 
or amounts as will compensate the Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.  

(b) If the Lender determines that any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity 
requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the Lender’s capital or 
on the capital of the Lender’s holding company, as a consequence of this Agreement, the 
Commitment of or the Loans made by, or the Letters of Credit issued by, the Lender, to a level 
below that which the Lender or the Lender’s holding company could have achieved but for such 
Change in Law (taking into consideration the Lender’s policies and the policies of the Lender’s 
holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time the 
Borrower will pay to the Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate the Lender 
or the Lender’s holding company for any such reduction suffered.

(c) A certificate of the Lender setting forth the amount or amounts necessary to 
compensate the Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, as specified in paragraph (a) or 
(b) of this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error.  
The Borrower shall pay the Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within ten 
(10) days after receipt thereof.

(d) Failure or delay on the part of the Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this 
Section shall not constitute a waiver of the Lender’s right to demand such compensation; provided 
that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate the Lender pursuant to this Section for any 
increased costs or reductions incurred more than 270 days prior to the date that the Lender notifies 
the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of the 
Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor; provided further that, if the Change in Law 
giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 270-day period referred to 
above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

Section 2.13. Break Funding Payments.  In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of 
any SOFR Loan other than on the last day of an Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a 
result of an Event of Default or as a result of any prepayment pursuant to Section 2.8 hereof), (b) 
the conversion of any SOFR Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable 
thereto, or (c) the failure to borrow, convert, continue or prepay any SOFR Loan on the date 
specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be 
revoked under Section 2.8(b) and is revoked in accordance therewith), then, in any such event, the 
Borrower shall compensate the Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event.  In 
the case of a SOFR Loan, such loss, cost or expense to the Lender shall be deemed to include an 
amount determined by the Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest which would 
have accrued on the principal amount of such SOFR Loan had such event not occurred, at the 
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate that would have been applicable to such SOFR Loan, for the period 
from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the 
case of a failure to borrow, convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest 



-30-

Period for such SOFR Loan), over (ii) the amount of interest which would accrue on such principal 
amount for such period at the interest rate which the Lender would bid were it to bid, at the 
commencement of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other 
banks in the applicable interbank market, whether or not such SOFR Loan was in fact funded. A 
certificate of the Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that the Lender is entitled to receive 
pursuant to this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest 
error.  The Borrower shall pay the Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 
thirty (30) days after receipt thereof.

Section 2.14. Payments Free of Taxes.  (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any 
obligation of the Borrower under any Basic Document shall be made without deduction or 
withholding for any Taxes, except as required by applicable law.  If any applicable law (as 
determined in the good faith discretion of the Borrower) requires the deduction or withholding of 
any Tax from any such payment by the Borrower, then the Borrower shall be entitled to make such 
deduction or withholding and shall timely pay the full amount deducted or withheld to the relevant 
Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law and, if such Tax is an Indemnified 
Tax, then the sum payable by the Borrower shall be increased as necessary so that after such 
deduction or withholding has been made (including such deductions and withholdings applicable 
to additional sums payable under this Section 2.14) the Lender receives an amount equal to the 
sum it would have received had no such deduction or withholding been made.

(b) The Borrower shall timely pay to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance 
with applicable law, or at the option of the Lender timely reimburse the Lender for, Other Taxes.

(c) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by the Borrower to a 
Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.14, the Borrower shall deliver to the Lender the 
original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such 
payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment 
reasonably satisfactory to the Lender.

(d) The Borrower shall indemnify the Lender, within 30 days after demand therefor, for 
the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes (including Indemnified Taxes imposed or asserted on or 
attributable to amounts payable under this Section) payable or paid by the Lender or required to be 
withheld or deducted from a payment to the Lender and any reasonable expenses arising therefrom 
or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes were correctly or legally imposed 
or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority.  A certificate as to the amount of such 
payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by the Lender shall be conclusive absent manifest 
error.

(e) If the Lender determines, in its sole discretion exercised in good faith, that it has 
received a refund of any Taxes as to which it has been indemnified pursuant to this Section 2.14 
(including by the payment of additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.14), it shall pay to the 
Borrower an amount equal to such refund (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made 
under this Section 2.14 with respect to the Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all 
out-of-pocket expenses (including Taxes) of the Lender and without interest (other than any 
interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund).  The Borrower, 



-31-

upon the request of the Lender, shall repay to the Lender the amount paid over pursuant to this 
paragraph (e) (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental 
Authority) in the event that the Lender is required to repay such refund to such Governmental 
Authority.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph (e), in no event will the 
Lender be required to pay any amount to the Borrower pursuant to this paragraph (e) the payment 
of which would place the Lender in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the Lender would 
have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been 
deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts 
with respect to such Tax had never been paid.  This paragraph shall not be construed to require the 
Lender to make available its Tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it 
deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person.

(f) Each party’s obligations under this Section 2.14 shall survive any assignment of 
rights by the Lender, the termination of the Commitment and the repayment, satisfaction or 
discharge of all obligations under any Basic Document.

(g) For purposes of this Section 2.14, the term “applicable law” includes FATCA.

Section 2.15. Payments Generally.  (a) The Borrower shall make each payment required to 
be made by it hereunder or under the Fee Agreement (whether of principal, interest, fees or 
reimbursement of LC Disbursements, or of amounts payable under Section 2.12, 2.13 or 2.14, or 
otherwise) prior to 12:00 noon, New York City time, on the date when due, in immediately 
available funds, without set off or counterclaim.  Any amounts received after such time on any date 
may, in the discretion of the Lender, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding 
Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon.  All such payments shall be made to the 
Lender at its offices at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York, except that payments pursuant to 
Sections 2.12, 2.13, 2.14 and 7.5 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto.  If any 
payment hereunder shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be 
extended to the next succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, 
interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension.  All payments hereunder shall be 
made in dollars.

(b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Lender to pay 
fully all amounts of principal, unreimbursed LC Disbursements, interest and fees then due 
hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of interest and fees then due 
hereunder, and (ii) second, ratably towards payment of principal and unreimbursed LC 
Disbursements then due hereunder.

Section 2.16. Mitigation Obligation.  If the Lender requests compensation under Section 
2.12, or if the Borrower is required to pay any Indemnified Taxes or additional amounts to the 
Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of the Lender pursuant to Section 2.14, 
then the Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or 
booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its 
offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of the Lender, such designation or assignment (i) 
would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Sections 2.12 or 2.14, as the case may be, 
in the future and (ii) would not subject the Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would 



-32-

not otherwise be disadvantageous to the Lender.  The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable 
costs and expenses incurred by the Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

Section 2.17. Extension of Maturity Date.  The Maturity Date may be extended an 
unlimited number of times, in each case in the manner set forth in this Section 2.17.  Upon receipt 
of written request of the Borrower to extend the Maturity Date, received no more than one hundred 
twenty (120) days and no less than sixty (60) days prior to the then current Maturity Date, the 
Lender will use its commercially reasonable efforts to notify the Borrower of its response within 
thirty (30) days of receipt of the request therefor (the Lender’s decision to be made in its sole and 
absolute discretion and on such terms and conditions as to which the Lender and the Borrower may 
agree); provided, however, that the failure of the Borrower to receive a written confirmation from 
the Lender within the time established therefor shall be deemed a denial of such request.  Any 
extension of the Maturity Date will be deemed to be on the existing terms of this Agreement unless 
the Lender and the Borrower have entered into a written agreement confirming a change in any 
term of this Agreement.

Section 2.18. Pledge; Security of Obligations.  The Net Revenues are hereby pledged by 
the Borrower to the payment of the Obligations without priority or distinction of one Obligation 
over another Obligation.  The pledge of Net Revenues is valid and binding in accordance with the 
terms of the Act, the Joint Powers Agreement and the Resolution, and the Net Revenues shall 
immediately be subject to the pledge, and the pledge shall constitute a lien and security interest 
which shall immediately attach to the Net Revenues and be effective, binding, and enforceable 
against the Borrower, its successors, creditors, and all others asserting the rights therein, to the 
extent set forth in this Agreement, and in accordance with the Act, the Joint Powers Agreement 
and the Resolution, irrespective of whether those parties have notice of the pledge and without the 
need for any physical delivery, recordation, filing, or further act.  The pledge of the Net Revenues 
herein made shall be irrevocable until the Commitment has expired or been terminated and the 
principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid in full 
and all Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated, in each case, without any pending draw, 
and all LC Disbursements shall have been reimbursed.  Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this Agreement to the contrary, all Obligations are limited obligations of the Borrower payable 
solely from Net Revenues.  The pledge of the Net Revenues herein made shall be senior to any 
pledge of the Net Revenues made with respect to any Subordinate Debt.

ARTICLE 3

CONDITIONS

Section 3.1. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness.  The obligation of the Lender to make 
Loans and to issue Letters of Credit hereunder shall not become effective until the date on which 
each of the following conditions is satisfied:

(a) Opinions.  The Lender has received an opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, 
special counsel to the Borrower, dated the Closing Date and addressed to the Lender in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit A.



-33-

(b) Documents.  (i) The Lender has received executed copies of the Basic 
Documents executed by the Borrower on the Closing Date or prior to the Closing Date if 
certified by the Secretary of the Borrower, the Clerk of the Board or any Authorized 
Representative or the Board, as applicable, as being complete and in full force and effect on 
and as of the Closing Date.

(ii) The Lender has received a certified copy of the Joint Powers Agreement.

(c) Defaults; Representations and Warranties.  On and as of the Closing Date, 
the representations of the Borrower set forth in Article Four hereof are true and correct in 
all material respects on and as of the Closing Date with the same force and effect as if made 
on and as of such date and no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or 
would result from the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Fee Agreement.

(d) No Litigation.  No action, suit, investigation or proceeding is pending or, to 
the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened (i) in connection with the Basic Documents or 
any transactions contemplated thereby or (ii) against or affecting the Borrower, the result 
of which could have a Material Adverse Effect.

(e) No Material Adverse Change.  Since the date of the 2020 Audited Financial 
Statements, (i) no Material Adverse Change has occurred in the status of the business, 
operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrower or its ability to perform its 
obligations under the Basic Documents and (ii) to the best of its knowledge, no law, 
regulation, ruling or other action (or interpretation or administration thereof) of the United 
States, the State of California or any political subdivision or authority therein or thereof is 
in effect or has occurred, the effect of which would be to prevent the Lender from fulfilling 
its obligations under this Agreement or the Letters of Credit.

(f) Certificate. The Lender has received (i) certified copies of all proceedings 
of the Borrower authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of the Basic 
Documents and the transactions contemplated thereby and (ii) a certificate or certificates of 
one or more Authorized Representatives dated the Closing Date certifying the accuracy of 
the statements made in Section 3.1(c), (d), (e) and (i) hereof and further certifying the 
name, incumbency and signature of each individual authorized to sign this Agreement, the 
Fee Agreement and the other documents or certificates to be delivered by the Borrower 
pursuant hereto or thereto, on which certification the Lender may conclusively rely until a 
revised certificate is similarly delivered, and that the conditions precedent set forth in this 
Section 3.1 have been satisfied.

(g) Payment of Fees.  The Lender has received all fees and expenses due and 
payable to the Lender and/or its legal counsel pursuant to the Fee Agreement.

(h) Financial Statements.  The Lender has received the 2020 Audited Financial 
Statements, internally prepared quarterly budget reports of the Borrower for the most 
recent fiscal quarter end, if not previously provided.



-34-

(i) Rates.  The Lender has received satisfactory evidence that rates charged by 
the Borrower for its services will be reasonably competitive to the rates of the San Diego 
Gas & Electric Company.

(j) Other Matters.  The Lender has received such other statements, certificates, 
agreements, documents and information with respect to the Borrower and matters 
contemplated by this Agreement as the Lender may have requested.

Section 3.2. Conditions Precedent to each Credit Event.  The obligation of the Lender to 
make a Loan on the occasion of any Borrowing, and of the Lender to issue, amend, renew or 
extend any Letter of Credit, is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions:

(a) The Borrower shall have filed the necessary notices and filings with and 
provided for payment to the California Debt Issuance Advisory Commission of any fee 
related thereto.

(b) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in this 
Agreement shall be true and correct on and as of the date of such Borrowing or the date of 
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of such Letter of Credit, as applicable.

(c) At the time of and immediately after giving effect to such Borrowing or the 
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of such Letter of Credit, as applicable, no 
Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing.

(d) It has provided the Lender with a completed Borrowing Request 
substantially in the form of Exhibit C hereto or a Letter of Credit Request substantially in 
the form of Exhibit D-1 hereto, as applicable.

Each Borrowing and each issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of a Letter of Credit 
shall be deemed to constitute a representation and warranty by the Borrower on the date thereof as 
to the matters specified in paragraphs (a) and (b) of this Section.

Section 3.3. Condition Subsequent to Closing Date. Within five (5) Business Days of 
the Closing Date, the Borrower shall provide written evidence that the Existing Debt has been paid 
in full in immediately available funds, and such Existing Debt and the documents thereto shall 
have been terminated to the satisfaction of the Lender.  Failure to comply with this Section 3.3 
shall constitute an Event of Default under Section 6.1 hereunder.

ARTICLE 4

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

In order to induce the Lender to make Loans and issue the Letters of Credit, the Borrower 
represents and warrants to the Lender as follows:



-35-

Section 4.1. Organization, Powers, Etc.  The Borrower (a) is a public agency formed 
under the provisions of the Joint Powers Act that is qualified to be a community choice aggregator 
pursuant to California Public Utilities Code Section 366.2 and; (b) has full and adequate power to 
own its Property and conduct its business as now conducted, and is duly licensed or qualified in 
each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it or the nature of the Property 
owned or leased by it requires such licensing or qualifying unless the failure to be so licensed or 
qualified could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower has 
the agency power to (i) execute, deliver and perform its obligations under the Basic Documents; 
(ii) provide for the security of this Agreement and the Fee Agreement pursuant to the Joint Powers 
Act; and (iii) has complied with all Laws in all matters related to such actions of the Borrower as 
are contemplated by the Basic Documents.

Section 4.2. Authorization, Absence of Conflicts, Etc.  The execution, delivery and 
performance by the Borrower of the Basic Documents (a) have been duly authorized by all 
necessary action on the part of the Borrower, (b) do not conflict with, or result in a violation of, any 
Laws, including the Joint Powers Agreement, or any order, writ, rule or regulation of any court or 
governmental agency or instrumentality binding upon or applicable to the Borrower which 
violation would result in a Material Adverse Effect and (c) do not conflict with, result in a violation 
of, or constitute a default under, any resolution, agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is 
a party or by which the Borrower or any of its property is bound which, in any case, would result in 
a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.3. Binding Obligations.  The Basic Documents are valid and binding 
obligations of the Borrower (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the other 
parties thereto) enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, except 
to the extent, if any, that the enforceability thereof may be limited by (i) any applicable 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar law of the State or Federal 
government affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally heretofore or hereafter 
enacted, (ii) the fact that enforcement may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in 
appropriate cases and (iii) the limitations on legal remedies against public agencies of the State.

Section 4.4. Governmental Consent or Approval.  No consent, approval, permit, 
authorization or order of, or registration or filing with, any court or government agency, authority 
or other instrumentality not already obtained, given or made is required on the part of the Borrower 
for execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Basic Documents.

Section 4.5. Absence of Material Litigation.  There is no action, suit, proceeding, inquiry 
or investigation, at law or in equity, before or by any court, arbitrator or governmental or other 
board, body or official pending or, to the best knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or 
affecting the Borrower questioning the validity of the Joint Powers Agreement, the execution, 
delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Basic Documents or any proceeding taken or to 
be taken by the Borrower or the Board in connection therewith, or seeking to prohibit, restrain or 
enjoin the execution, delivery and performance by the Borrower of the Basic Documents, or which 
could reasonably be expected to result in any Material Adverse Effect, or wherein an unfavorable 
decision, ruling or finding would in any way materially adversely affect the transactions 
contemplated by the Basic Documents (any such action or proceeding being herein referred to as 



-36-

“Material Litigation”).

Section 4.6. Financial Condition.  The most recent audited financial statements of the 
System delivered (or deemed delivered) to the Lender (the “Audited Financial Statements”) were 
prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods involved 
and were subject to certification by independent certified public accountants of nationally 
recognized standing or by independent certified public accountants otherwise acceptable to the 
Lender. The most recent unaudited financial statements of the System delivered (or deemed 
delivered) to the Lender were prepared on a consistent basis and in accordance with GAAP. The 
data on which such financial statements and budget reports are based were true and correct in all 
material respects. The Audited Financial Statements and the budget reports present fairly the net 
position of the System as of the date they purport to represent and the revenues, expenses and 
changes in fund balances and in net position for the periods then ended. Since the date of the most 
recent Audited Financial Statements delivered to the Lender, no Material Adverse Effect has 
occurred.

Section 4.7. Incorporation of Representations and Warranties.  The representations and 
warranties of the Borrower set forth in the Basic Documents (other than this Agreement and the 
Fee Agreement) are true and accurate in all material respects on the Closing Date, as fully as 
though made on the Closing Date. The Borrower makes, as of the Closing Date, each of such 
representations and warranties to, and for the benefit of, the Lender, as if the same were set forth at 
length in this Section 4.7 together with all applicable definitions thereto. No amendment, 
modification or termination of any such representations, warranties or definitions contained in the 
Basic Documents (other than this Agreement and the Fee Agreement) will be effective to amend, 
modify or terminate the representations, warranties and definitions incorporated in this Section 4.7 
by this reference, without the prior written consent of the Lender.

Section 4.8. Accuracy and Completeness of Information.  The Basic Documents and all 
certificates, financial statements, documents and other written information furnished to the Lender 
by or on behalf of the Borrower in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby were, as 
of their respective dates, complete and correct in all material respects to the extent necessary to 
give the Lender true and accurate knowledge of the subject matter thereof and did not contain any 
untrue statement of a material fact.

Section 4.9. No Default.  (a) No Default or Event of Default under this Agreement has 
occurred and is continuing.

(b) No “event of default” has occurred and is continuing under any other material 
mortgage, indenture, contract, agreement or undertaking respecting the System (including, but not 
limited to, any PPA) to which the Borrower is a party or which purports to be binding on the 
Borrower or on any of the property of the System.

Section 4.10. No Proposed Legal Changes.  There is no amendment or, to the knowledge 
of the Borrower, proposed amendment to the Constitution of the State, any State law or the Joint 
Powers Agreement or any administrative interpretation of the Constitution of the State, any State 
law, or the Joint Powers Agreement, or any judicial decision interpreting any of the foregoing, the 



-37-

effect of which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.11. Compliance with Laws, Etc.  The Borrower is in compliance with the 
Investment Policy and all Laws applicable to the Borrower, non-compliance with which could 
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.  In addition, no benefit plan maintained 
by the Borrower for its employees is subject to the provisions of ERISA, and the Borrower is in 
compliance with all Laws in respect of each such benefit plan.

Section 4.12. Environmental Matters.  In the ordinary course of its business, the Borrower 
conducts an ongoing review of Environmental Laws on the business, operations and the condition 
of its property, in the course of which it identifies and evaluates associated liabilities and costs 
(including, but not limited to, any capital or operating expenditures required for clean-up or 
closure of properties currently or previously owned or operated, any capital or operating 
expenditures required to achieve or maintain compliance with environmental protection standards 
imposed by law or as a condition of any license, permit or contract, any related constraints on 
operating activities, including any periodic or permanent shutdown of any facility or reduction in 
the level of or change in the nature of operations conducted thereat and any actual or potential 
liabilities to third parties, including employees, and any related costs and expenses). On the basis 
of such review, the Borrower does not believe that Environmental Laws are likely to have a 
Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.13. Regulation U.  The Borrower is not engaged in the business of extending 
credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U 
issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System).

Section 4.14. Liens.  This Agreement creates a valid Lien on and pledge of the Net 
Revenues to secure the payment and performance of the Borrower’s obligations under this 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement, and no filings, recordings, registrations or other actions are 
necessary on the part of the Borrower, the Lender or any other Person to create or perfect such 
Lien. Except for the Lien over Net Revenues contained in this Agreement, there is no pledge of or 
Lien on Net Revenues.

Section 4.15. Sovereign Immunity.  The Borrower is not entitled to claim immunity on the 
grounds of sovereignty or other similar grounds (including, without limitation, governmental 
immunity) with respect to itself or its revenues (irrespective of their use or intended use) from (i) 
any action, suit or other proceeding arising under or relating to this Agreement or any other Basic 
Document, (ii) relief by way of injunction, order for specific performance or writ of mandamus or 
for recovery of property or (iii) execution or enforcement of any judgment to which it or its 
revenues might otherwise be made subject in any action, suit or proceeding relating to this 
Agreement or any other Basic Document, and no such immunity (whether or not claimed) may be 
attributed to the Borrower or its revenues.

Section 4.16. Usury.  The terms of the Basic Documents regarding the calculation and 
payment of interest and fees do not violate any applicable usury laws.

Section 4.17. Insurance.  As of the Closing Date, the Borrower maintains such insurance, 



-38-

including self-insurance, as is required by Section 5.1(k) hereof.

Section 4.18. ERISA.  The Borrower does not maintain or contribute to, and has not 
maintained or contributed to, any Employee Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA.

Section 4.19. Sanctions Concerns and Anti-Corruption Laws.  The Borrower and its 
respective officers and directors and to the knowledge of the Borrower, its employees and agents, 
are in compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable Sanctions in all material respects.  
None of (a) the Borrower, any of its directors or officers or employees, or (b) to the knowledge of 
the Borrower, any agent of the Borrower that will act in any capacity in connection with or benefit 
from the credit facility established hereby, is a Sanctioned Person.  No Borrowing or Letter of 
Credit, use of proceeds, Transaction or other transaction contemplated by this Agreement or the 
other Basic Documents will violate Anti-Corruption Laws or applicable Sanctions.  

Section 4.20. System Debt.  The Borrower has not incurred or issued any System Debt 
other than the System Debt created under this Agreement and the Member Capital Advances.

ARTICLE 5

COVENANTS

Section 5.1. Affirmative Covenants.  Until the Commitment has expired or been 
terminated and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have 
been paid in full and all Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated, in each case, without 
any pending draw, and all LC Disbursements shall have been reimbursed, the Borrower covenants 
and agrees with the Lender that:

(a) Accounting and Reports.  The Borrower shall maintain a standard system of 
accounting in accordance with GAAP consistently applied and furnish to the Lender:

(i) as soon as available, and in any event within sixty (60) days after the 
close of each of the first three (3) fiscal quarters of each Fiscal Year, an unaudited 
balance sheet of Borrower, including the specific amount in the Operating Reserve, 
as of the last day of the quarterly period then ended and the statements of income, 
retained earnings and cash flows of Borrower for the quarterly period then ended, 
prepared in accordance with GAAP and in a form acceptable to Lender;

(ii) as soon as available, and in any event within six (6) months after the 
close of each Fiscal Year of Borrower, a copy of the audited balance sheet of 
Borrower, including the specific amount in the Operating Reserve, as of the last day 
of the Fiscal Year then ended and the statements of income, retained earnings and 
cash flows of Borrower for the Fiscal Year then ended, and accompanying notes 
thereto, each in reasonable detail showing in comparative form the figures for the 
previous Fiscal Year, accompanied by an unqualified opinion thereon of 
Borrower’s independent public accountants, to the effect that the financial 



-39-

statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly in 
accordance with GAAP the financial condition of Borrower as of the close of such 
Fiscal Year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the Fiscal Year then 
ended and that an examination of such accounts in connection with such financial 
statements has been made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
and, accordingly, such examination included such tests of the accounting records 
and such other auditing procedures as were considered necessary in the 
circumstances;

(iii) promptly after receipt thereof, any additional written reports, 
management letters or other detailed information contained in writing concerning 
significant aspects of Borrower’s operations and financial affairs given to it by its 
independent public accountants;

(iv) promptly after knowledge thereof shall have come to the attention of 
any responsible officer of Borrower, written notice of any litigation threatened in 
writing or any pending litigation or governmental proceeding or labor controversy 
against Borrower which, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to 
have a Material Adverse Effect or result in the occurrence of any Default or Event 
of Default hereunder;

(v) as soon as available, and in any event within 30 days of adoption, 
the Borrower shall provide the Lender its annual budget; 

(vi) as soon as available, and in any event within 30 days of the end of 
each month, the monthly operating information of the Borrower, substantially in 
the form agreed upon between CEA and the Lender, which shall include customer 
enrollments, opt-outs, total revenues and a summary report of all hedging 
transactions described in Section 5.1(u) hereof; 

(vii) as soon as available and, in any event, within forty-five (45) days 
after the end of each calendar month, a monthly liquidity report disclosing 
Available Liquidity after the end of such preceding calendar month, in form and 
substance satisfactory to the Bank; 

(viii) promptly after receipt thereof, copies of each PPA entered into by 
the Borrower; and

(ix) promptly after the request therefor, all such other information as 
Lender may reasonably request.

Each of the financial statements furnished to Lender pursuant to subsection (a)(i) 
and (ii) of this Section 5.1 shall be accompanied by a compliance certificate, substantially 
in the form of Exhibit B hereto, signed by an Authorized Representative (i) stating that no 
Event of Default or Default has occurred or if any Event of Default or Default has 
occurred, specifying the nature of such Event of Default or Default, the period of its 



-40-

existence, the nature and status thereof and any remedial steps taken or proposed to correct 
such Event of Default or Default, (ii) including (A) a reasonably detailed calculation of the 
amount of the Available Liquidity (including amounts in each individual reserve fund of 
the Borrower) as of the end of such fiscal quarter or Fiscal Year, as applicable, (B) a 
certification of compliance with Section 5.1(q) hereof and the related Debt Service 
Coverage Ratio and Days Liquidity on Hand calculations, (C) the amount set forth in the 
Operating Reserve and (D) any updates to the most recent annual budget provided pursuant 
to Section 5.1(n) hereof.

(b) Access to Records.  At any reasonable time and from time to time, during 
normal business hours and, so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, 
on at least five (5) Business Days’ notice, the Borrower shall permit the Lender or any of its 
agents or representatives to visit and inspect any of the properties of the Borrower and the 
other assets of the Borrower, to examine the books of account of the Borrower (and to 
make copies thereof and extracts therefrom), and to discuss the affairs, finances and 
accounts of the Borrower with, and to be advised as to the same by, its officers, all at such 
reasonable times and intervals as the Lender may reasonably request.

(c) Compliance with Basic Documents; Operation and Maintenance of System.  
(i) The Borrower shall perform and comply with each covenant set forth in the Basic 
Documents and any other agreements, instruments or documents evidencing Parity Debt or 
Subordinate Debt. By the terms of this Agreement, the Lender is hereby made a third party 
beneficiary of the covenants set forth in each of the Basic Documents (other than this 
Agreement and the Fee Agreement), and each such covenant, together with the related 
definitions of terms contained therein, is incorporated by reference in this Section 5.1(c) 
with the same effect as if it were set forth herein in its entirety. Except as otherwise set 
forth in paragraph (ii) below and in Section 5.2(a) hereof, the Borrower will not amend, 
supplement or otherwise modify (or permit any of the foregoing), or request or agree to any 
consent or waiver under, or effect or permit the cancellation, acceleration or termination of, 
or release or permit the release of any collateral held under any of the Basic Documents in 
any manner without the prior written consent of the Lender, and the Borrower shall take, or 
cause to be taken, all such actions as may be reasonably requested by the Lender to strictly 
enforce the obligations of the other parties to any of the Basic Documents, as well as each 
of the covenants set forth therein. The Borrower shall give prior written notice to the 
Lender of any action referred to in this subparagraph (i).

(ii) The Borrower covenants that it will maintain and preserve the System in 
good repair and working order at all times from the Revenues available for such purposes, 
in conformity with standards customarily followed for municipal power systems of like 
size and character. The Borrower will from time to time make all necessary and proper 
repairs, renewals, replacements and substitutions to the properties of the System, so that at 
all times business carried on in connection with the System shall and can be properly and 
advantageously conducted in an efficient manner and at reasonable cost, and will operate 
the System in an efficient and economical manner and shall not commit or allow any waste 
with respect to the System.



-41-

(d) Defaults.  The Borrower shall notify the Lender of any Default or Event of 
Default of which the Borrower has knowledge, as soon as possible and, in any event, 
within three (3) Business Days of acquiring knowledge thereof, setting forth the details of 
such Default or Event of Default and the action which the Borrower has taken and proposes 
to take with respect thereto.

(e) Compliance with Laws.  The Borrower shall comply in all material respects 
with all Laws binding upon or applicable to the Borrower (including Environmental Laws) 
and material to the Basic Documents. The Borrower will maintain in effect and enforce 
policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Borrower and its respective 
directors, officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable 
Sanctions. The Borrower will not use or allow any tenants or subtenants to use its Property 
for any business activity that violates any federal or state law or that supports a business 
that violates any federal or state law.

(f) Investment Policy and Guidelines.  The Borrower shall promptly notify the 
Lender in writing, not less than thirty (30) days after the Borrower receives notice of the 
formal consideration thereof, of any change proposed to the Investment Policy, which 
proposed change would increase the types of investments permitted thereby as of the 
Closing Date.

(g) Notices.  The Borrower shall promptly give notice to the Lender of any 
action, suit or proceeding actually known to it at law or in equity or by or before any court, 
governmental instrumentality or other agency which, if adversely determined, would 
materially impair the ability of the Borrower to perform its obligations under any Basic 
Document.

(h) Bank Agreements.  In the event that Borrower shall enter into or otherwise 
consent to any amendment, supplement or other modification of any Bank Agreement after 
the Closing Date which Bank Agreement contains additional or more restrictive covenants 
or additional or more restrictive events of default or additional or improved remedies 
(“Improved Provisions,” which for the avoidance of doubt does not include pricing, 
termination fees and provisions related to interest rates but does include improved term-out 
provisions), then the Borrower shall provide the Lender with a copy of such Bank 
Agreement and the Improved Provisions shall automatically be deemed incorporated into 
this Agreement and the Lender shall have the benefit of the Improved Provisions until such 
time as the Bank Agreement containing such Improved Provisions terminates. The 
Borrower shall promptly cooperate with the Lender to enter into an amendment of this 
Agreement to include such Improved Provisions.

(i) Further Assurances.  The Borrower shall execute, acknowledge where 
appropriate and deliver, and cause to be executed, acknowledged where appropriate and 
delivered, from time to time, promptly at the request of the Lender, all such instruments 
and documents as are usual and customary or advisable to carry out the intent and purpose 
of the Basic Documents.



-42-

(j) Notices.  The Borrower shall promptly furnish, or cause to be furnished, to 
the Lender (i) notice of the occurrence of any “default” or “event of default” or 
“termination event” under any Basic Document (other than this Agreement and the Fee 
Agreement) or any PPA, (ii) copies of any communications received from any 
Governmental Authority with respect to the transactions contemplated by the Basic 
Documents or any other System Debt which are not restricted or prohibited from being 
shared with the Lender under the law or the direction of a court of competent jurisdiction or 
other Governmental Authority, (iii) notice of any proposed modification to any Lockbox 
Security Document, (iv) copies of all PPAs and modifications thereto, promptly following 
the execution thereof; provided, however, that to the extent any such PPA is subject to a 
confidentiality agreement, pricing, credit-specific, and other commercially sensitive 
provisions may be redacted by the Borrower in order to comply with such confidentiality 
agreement, (v) notice of any proposed substitution of any Letter of Credit, and (vi) notice 
of the passage of any state or local Law not of general applicability to all Persons of which 
the Borrower has knowledge, which could reasonably be expected to have a Material 
Adverse Effect.

(k) Maintenance of Insurance.  The Borrower shall maintain, or cause to be 
maintained, at all times, insurance on and with respect to its properties with responsible 
and reputable insurance companies; provided, however, that the Borrower may maintain 
self-insurance general liability on its properties not covered by the public entity property 
insurance program policy, for worker’s compensation and vehicle liability and, with the 
consent of the Lender, such other self-insurance as it deems prudent. Such insurance must 
include casualty, liability and workers’ compensation and be in amounts and with 
deductibles and exclusions customary and reasonable for governmental entities of similar 
size and with similar operations as the Borrower. The Borrower shall, upon request of the 
Lender, furnish evidence of such insurance to the Lender. The Borrower shall also procure 
and maintain at all times adequate fidelity insurance or bonds on all officers and employees 
handling or responsible for any Revenues or funds of the System, such insurance or bond to 
be in an aggregate amount at least equal to the maximum amount of such Revenues or 
funds at any one time in the custody of all such officers and employees or in the amount of 
one million dollars ($1,000,000), whichever is less. The insurance described above may be 
provided as part of any comprehensive fidelity and other insurance and not separately for 
the System.

(l) Preservation of Security.  The Borrower shall take any and all actions 
necessary to preserve and defend the pledge of Net Revenues set forth in this Agreement.

(m) Rates. The Borrower shall fix, establish, maintain and collect rates and 
charges for electric power and energy and other services, facilities and commodities sold, 
furnished or supplied through the facilities of the System, which shall be fair and 
nondiscriminatory and adequate to provide the Borrower with Revenues in each Fiscal 
Year sufficient to pay, to the extent not paid from other available moneys, any and all 
amounts the Borrower is obligated to pay or set aside from Revenues by law or contract in 
such Fiscal Year.  If the Borrower adjusts rates and charges as described in the preceding 
sentence and the cumulative integer of such adjustments is 5% or greater than the budgeted 



-43-

rates and charges set forth in the most recent annual budget delivered pursuant to Section 
5.1(n) hereof, the Borrower will be required to promptly notify the Bank and provide the 
Bank with an updated twelve (12) month financial projection of Revenues.

(n) Budget.  The Borrower shall include in each annual budget of the Borrower 
all amounts reasonably anticipated to be necessary to pay all obligations due to the Lender 
hereunder and under the Fee Agreement. If the amounts so budgeted are not adequate for 
the payment of the obligations due hereunder and under the Fee Agreement, the Borrower 
shall take such action as may be necessary to cause such annual budget to be amended, 
corrected or augmented so as to include therein the amounts required to be paid to the 
Lender during the course of the Fiscal Year to which such annual budget applies.

(o) Payment of Taxes, Etc.  The Borrower shall pay and discharge, or cause to 
be paid and discharged, all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges which may 
hereafter be lawfully imposed upon the Borrower on account of the System or any portion 
thereof and which, if unpaid, might impair the security of this Agreement and the Fee 
Agreement, but nothing herein contained will require the Borrower to pay any such tax, 
assessment or charge so long as it in good faith contests the validity thereof. The Borrower 
shall duly observe and comply with all valid material requirements of any Governmental 
Authority relative to the System or any part thereof.

(p) Lockbox Security Documents and PPAs.  The Borrower shall perform and 
comply with all its agreements and covenants set forth in the Lockbox Security Documents 
and the PPAs.  The Borrower will not amend, supplement or otherwise modify (or permit 
any of the foregoing) any Lockbox Security Document in any manner that could 
reasonably be expected to have a materially adverse effect on the interests of the Lender 
without the prior written consent of the Lender, and the Borrower shall take, or cause to be 
taken, all such actions as may be reasonably requested by the Lender to strictly enforce the 
obligations of the other parties to any of the Lockbox Security Documents, as well as each 
of the covenants set forth therein. The Borrower shall give prior written notice to the 
Lender of any proposed action referred to in this subparagraph (p).

(q) Debt Service Coverage. The Borrower shall maintain a Debt Service 
Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.40 for each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, commencing 
with the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2023. The Debt Service Coverage Ratio shall be 
tested on a rolling last twelve month basis and forward for the following twelve months as 
of the last day of each fiscal quarter commencing with the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 
2023. The Borrower shall determine the Debt Service Coverage Ratio at each fiscal quarter 
and provide written notice thereof together with supporting calculations in reasonable 
detail to the Lender as soon as practicable following the end of a fiscal quarter and in any 
event no later than forty-five (45) calendar days following the end of such fiscal quarter 
(each such notice, a “Debt Service Coverage Ratio Notice”).  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, during any fiscal quarter in which the Debt Service Coverage Ratio is less than 
1.40 for such fiscal quarter, the Borrower shall have been deemed to have cured its failure 
to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 1.40 (the “Days Liquidity on Hand Cure”) if 
(i) during the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2023, Days Liquidity on Hand exceeds thirty 



-44-

(30) days as of the last day of such fiscal quarter in which the Debt Service Coverage Ratio 
is less than 1.40 for such fiscal quarter or (ii) during any fiscal quarter in the Fiscal Year 
ending June 30, 2024 and thereafter, Days Liquidity on Hand exceeds fifty (50) days as of 
the last day of such fiscal quarter in which the Debt Service Coverage Ratio is less than 
1.40 for such fiscal quarter; provided that the Days Liquidity on Hand Cure may only be 
applied two (2) times in the aggregate for any consecutive four (4) fiscal quarters or such 
failure to maintain a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.40 shall be deemed to 
be a breach of this Section 5.1(q).

(r) Reserve Policy. (i) The Borrower shall comply with the terms of its Reserve 
Policy in all respects and shall not amend such Reserve Policy without the prior written 
consent of the Lender.

(ii) As of the end of each Fiscal Year (commencing with Fiscal Year ending 
June 30, 2022), as shown in the audited balance statement of the Borrower delivered 
pursuant to Section 5.1(a)(ii) hereof for such Fiscal Year, the Borrower shall maintain an 
Operating Reserve in an amount equal to at least five percent (5%) of Revenues to cover 
unexpected revenue losses, extraordinary payments and other contingencies, and to 
provide liquidity in connection with the Borrower’s outstanding Debt.

(s) Use of Proceeds.  (i) The proceeds of the Loans will be used only for 
working capital purposes to repay LC Disbursements, to cash collateralize PPA obligations 
or, through September 30, 2021, to pay interest accrued on any Loans hereunder or any 
fees owing hereunder or under the Fee Agreement.  No part of the proceeds of any Loan 
and no Letter of Credit will be used, whether directly or indirectly, for any purpose that 
entails a violation of any of the regulations of the Federal Reserve Board, including 
Regulations T, U and X.  Letters of Credit will be issued only to support collateral posting 
requirements under PPAs.

(ii) The Borrower will not request any Borrowing or Letter of Credit, and the 
Borrower shall not use, and shall procure that its directors, officers, employees and agents 
shall not use, the proceeds of any Borrowing or Letter of Credit (A) in furtherance of an 
offer, payment, promise to pay, or authorization of the payment or giving of money, or 
anything else of value, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Corruption Laws, (B) for the 
purpose of funding, financing or facilitating any activities, business or transaction of or 
with any Sanctioned Person, or in any Sanctioned Country, except to the extent permitted 
for a Person required to comply with Sanctions, or (c) in any manner that would result in 
the violation of any Sanctions applicable to any party hereto.

(t) Repayment.  The Borrower shall repay $5,000,000 aggregate principal 
amount of Loans on or before December 31, 2023 and may not reborrow such amount for 
at least thirty (30) consecutive days.

(u) Required Power Purchase Hedging.  No later than August 31, 2022, and at 
all times thereafter, the Borrower will maintain one or more hedging transactions in 
connection with its power purchase requirements (which may include, without limitation, 



-45-

long-term fixed price purchase contracts) with one or more counterparties reasonably 
acceptable to the Lender, covering the percentage of projected load requirements 
(including, without limitation, projected load requirements for the cities of Escondido and 
San Marcos and any other approved new Members) of the Borrower during each related 
period specified below:

Period Required Percentage of Projected Load 
Requirements Hedged

1/1/22 through 12/31/22 80%

1/1/23 through 12/31/23 60%

1/1/24 through 12/31/24 40%

Without limiting the foregoing, the Lender may in its reasonable discretion, by written 
notice to the Borrower, adjust the periods and percentages (but in any event not greater 
than the respective percentages specified above for any three-year consecutive period) 
specified in this clause (u) (including, without limitation, a “roll forward” of such 
requirements), it being understood that any such adjustment shall (i) not occur more than 
once per fiscal year, (ii) not occur until after the annual meeting between the Borrower and 
the Lender to discuss such requirements (which both parties agree to hold at least once per 
year), and (iii) give due regard to then prevailing market conditions for power purchases 
and CEA’s financial condition at the time of any such adjustment, the Lender hereby 
agreeing to consider such factors described in this clause (iii) in good faith in connection 
with any such adjustment.

Section 5.2. Negative Covenants.  Until the Commitment has expired or been terminated 
and the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid 
in full and all Letters of Credit shall have expired or terminated, in each case, without any pending 
draw, and all LC Disbursements shall have been reimbursed, the Borrower covenants and agrees 
with the Lender that it will not:

(a) No Impairment.  Take any action that would have an adverse effect on (i) 
the ability of the Borrower to pay when due amounts owing to the Lender or any 
Participant under this Agreement or the Fee Agreement; (ii) the pledge of Net Revenues or 
the priority of payments from Net Revenues provided in this Agreement; or (iii) the rights 
or remedies of the Lender under the Basic Documents.

(b) Merger, Disposition of Assets.  Consolidate or merge with or into any 
Person or sell, lease or otherwise transfer all or substantially all of its assets to any Person.

(c) Abandon.  Take any action to abandon the System or any significant portion 
thereof.

(d) Preservation of Corporate Existence, Etc.  Take any action to terminate its 
existence as a public agency under the Joint Powers Act or its rights and privileges as such 



-46-

entity within the State.

(e) Liens.  Create or suffer to exist or permit any Lien on the Revenues or the 
proceeds thereof other than the Liens (i) created by this Agreement, and (ii) created by the 
Security Agreement.

(f) Sovereign Immunity.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, with 
respect to its obligations arising under this Agreement or any other Basic Document, the 
Borrower irrevocably agrees that it will not assert or claim any immunity on the grounds of 
sovereignty or other similar grounds (including, without limitation, governmental 
immunity) from (i) any action, suit or other proceeding arising under or relating to this 
Agreement or any other Basic Document, (ii) relief by way of injunction, order for specific 
performance or writ of mandamus or (iii) execution or enforcement of any judgment to 
which it or its revenues might otherwise be entitled in any such action, suit or other 
proceeding, and the Borrower hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by 
applicable law, with respect to itself and its revenues (irrespective of their use or intended 
use), all such immunity.

(g) System.  Construct, operate or maintain any system or utility competitive 
with the System. The Borrower shall have in effect, or cause to have in effect, at all times 
an ordinance or resolution requiring all customers of the System to pay the fees, rates and 
charges applicable to the services and facilities furnished by the System. The Borrower 
shall not provide any service of the System free of charge to any Person, except (i) to the 
extent that any such free use is required by the terms of any existing contract or agreement 
and (ii) for incidental insignificant free use so long as such free use does not prevent the 
Borrower from satisfying the other covenants of this Agreement.

(h) Preservation of Existence, Etc.  Take any action to accomplish a merger, 
consolidation or combination of the System with any other entity or enterprise.

(i) Use of Proceeds.  Use the Letters of Credit for any purpose other than to 
secure the Borrower’s obligations under PPAs. Use the proceeds of any Loan, whether 
directly or indirectly, and whether immediately, incidentally or ultimately, to purchase or 
carry margin stock (within the meaning of Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System) or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or 
carrying margin stock or to refund indebtedness originally incurred for such purpose, in 
each case in violation of, or for a purpose which violates, or would be inconsistent with, 
Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Use the 
proceeds for any Loan for any purposes other than (i) to provide cash collateral to secure 
the Borrower’s obligations under PPAs, (ii) to repay in whole or in part any LC 
Disbursement, (iii) for general corporate purposes, or (iv) capital expenditures related to 
the development or acquisition of new assets related to the System subject to prior written 
approval by the Lender, which such approval shall not be unreasonably be withheld. For 
the avoidance of doubt, Loan Proceeds may not be used for other long-term expenditures or 
for funding the Operating Reserve. Use the proceeds of any Loan or any Letter of Credit in 
violation of any Sanctions or Anti-Corruption Laws.



-47-

(j) System Debt.  Not issue, incur or assume to exist any Senior Debt, Parity 
Debt or Subordinate Debt except for (i) Debt existing under this Agreement and (ii) 
Member Capital Advances in an amount not to exceed $450,000.

(k) Excess Revenues.  Not use excess revenues for any purpose other than: (i) 
payment of Operating and Maintenance Costs; (ii) payment of Obligations; (iii) funding 
and replenishment of the Operating Reserve; (iv) capital expenditures in connection with 
assets that will become part of the System; (v) rebates to System customers; and (vi) any 
other lawful purpose that inures to the direct benefit of the System.

(l) Swap Agreements.  Not enter into any Swap Agreement, except (a) Swap 
Agreements entered into to hedge or mitigate risks to which the Borrower has actual 
exposure, and (b) Swap Agreements entered into in order to effectively cap, collar or 
exchange interest rates (from floating to fixed rates, from one floating rate to another 
floating rate or otherwise) with respect to any interest-bearing liability or investment of the 
Borrower.

(m) Repayment of Member Capital Advances.  Not to repay the Member Capital 
Advances without prior written consent of the Lender unless (i) such repayment is made on 
or after the third (3rd) anniversary of the date the System commences providing utility 
services to customers, (ii) on the date of such repayment, no Default or Event of Default 
has occurred and is continuing hereunder and (iii) the Borrower shall have provided to 
Lender a certificate, together with reasonably detailed calculations, demonstrating that 
Borrower has maintained and continues to maintain on a historical and projected basis a 
Debt Service Coverage Ratio of not less than 1.50 for each Fiscal Year.

ARTICLE 6

DEFAULTS

Section 6.1. Events of Default and Remedies.  If any of the following events occur, each 
such event will be an “Event of Default”:

(a) the Borrower fails to pay, or cause to be paid, as and when due, (i) any 
principal of or any interest on any Loan or Reimbursement Obligation or (ii) any other 
Obligation hereunder or under the Fee Agreement and, in the case of clause (ii), such 
failure continues for three (3) Business Days.

(b) any representation or warranty made by or on behalf of the Borrower in this 
Agreement or in any other Basic Document or in any certificate or statement delivered 
hereunder or thereunder is incorrect or untrue in any material respect when made or 
deemed to have been made or delivered;

(c) the Borrower defaults in the due performance or observance of any of the 
covenants set forth in Section 5.1(a), 5.1(c), 5.1(d), 5.1(g), 5.1(k), 5.1(1), 5.1(m), 5.1(q), 



-48-

5.1(r)(i), 5.1(s) or 5.2 hereof;

(d) the Borrower defaults in the due performance or observance of any other 
term, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any other Basic Document 
and such default remains unremedied for a period of thirty (30) days after the occurrence 
thereof;

(e) the Borrower, directly or indirectly, (i) has entered involuntarily against it 
an order for relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, (ii) becomes 
insolvent or does not pay, or is unable to pay, or admits in writing its inability to pay, its 
debts generally as they become due, (iii) makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, 
(iv) applies for, seeks, consents to, or acquiesces in, the appointment of a receiver, 
custodian, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official for it or any substantial part of its 
Property, (v) institutes any proceeding seeking to have entered against it an order for relief 
under the United States Bankruptcy Code, as amended, to adjudicate it insolvent or seeking 
dissolution, winding up, liquidation, reorganization, arrangement, marshalling of assets, 
adjustment or composition of it or its debts under any law relating to bankruptcy, 
insolvency or reorganization or relief of debtors or fails to file an answer or other pleading 
denying the material allegations of any such proceeding filed against it, (vi) takes any 
corporate action in furtherance of any matter described in clauses (i) through (v) above or 
(vii) fails to contest in good faith any appointment or proceeding described in Section 
6.1(f) of this Agreement;

(f) a custodian, receiver, trustee, examiner, liquidator or similar official is 
appointed for the Borrower or any substantial part of its Property, or a proceeding 
described in Section 6.1(e)(v) is instituted against the Borrower and such proceeding 
continues undischarged, undismissed and unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days;

(g) a debt moratorium, debt restructuring, debt adjustment or comparable 
restriction is imposed on the repayment when due and payable of the principal of or interest 
on any Debt of the Borrower by the Borrower or any Governmental Authority with 
appropriate jurisdiction;

(h) any material provision of this Agreement, the Joint Powers Agreement or 
any other Basic Document at any time for any reason ceases to be valid and binding on the 
Borrower as a result of any legislative or administrative action by a Governmental 
Authority with competent jurisdiction or is declared in a final non-appealable judgment by 
any court with competent jurisdiction to be null and void, invalid or unenforceable, or the 
validity or enforceability thereof is publicly contested by the Borrower, or the Borrower 
publicly contests the validity or enforceability of any obligation to pay System Debt, or any 
Authorized Representative publicly repudiates or otherwise denies in writing that it has 
any further liability or obligation under or with respect to any provision of this Agreement, 
the Joint Powers Agreement, any other Basic Document or any operative document related 
to System Debt;

(i) dissolution or termination of the existence of the Borrower;



-49-

(j) the Borrower (i) defaults on the payment of the principal of or interest on 
any System Debt beyond the period of grace, if any, provided in the instrument or 
agreement under which such System Debt was created or incurred or (ii) defaults in the 
observance or performance of any agreement or condition relating to any System Debt, 
including, without limitation, any Bank Agreement, or contained in any instrument or 
agreement evidencing, securing or relating thereto, or any other default, event of default or 
similar event occurs or condition exists, the effect of which default, event of default or 
similar event or condition is to permit (determined without regard to whether any notice is 
required) any such System Debt to become immediately due and payable in full as the 
result of the acceleration, mandatory redemption or mandatory tender of such System 
Debt;

(k) any final, nonappealable judgment or judgments, writ or writs or warrant or 
warrants of attachment, or any similar process or processes, in an aggregate amount not 
less than $250,000 are entered or filed against the Borrower or against any of its Property 
and remain unpaid, unvacated, unbonded and unstayed for a period of sixty (60) days;

(l) Reserved;

(m) the passage of any Law has occurred which could reasonably be expected to 
have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.2. Remedies.  Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default (other than an Event 
of Default described in Section 6.1(e) or 6.1(f)), and at any time thereafter during the continuance 
of such event, the Lender may by notice to the Borrower, take either or both of the following 
actions, at the same or different times: (i) terminate the Commitment, and thereupon the 
Commitment shall terminate immediately, (ii) require cash collateral for the LC Exposure in 
accordance with Section 2.4(h) hereof and (iii) declare all Obligations then outstanding to be due 
and payable in whole (or in part, in which case any principal not so declared to be due and payable 
may thereafter be declared to be due and payable), and thereupon the principal of the Loans so 
declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other 
obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, 
without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived 
by the Borrower; and in case of any Event of Default described in Section 6.1(e) or 6.1(f), the 
Commitment shall automatically terminate and the principal of the Loans then outstanding, and 
cash collateral for the LC Exposure, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other 
obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, 
without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived 
by the Borrower.

ARTICLE 7

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 7.1. Amendments, Waivers, Etc.  No amendment or waiver of any provision of 



-50-

this Agreement, or consent to any departure by the Borrower therefrom, will in any event be 
effective unless the same is in writing and signed by the Lender and an Authorized Representative 
of the Borrower, and then such waiver or consent is effective only in the specific instance and for 
the specific purpose for which given.

Section 7.2. Notices.  All notices and other communications provided for hereunder must 
be in writing (including required copies) and sent by courier (including Federal Express or other 
receipted courier service), facsimile transmission or regular mail, as follows:

(a) if to the Borrower:

Clean Energy Alliance
1200 Carlsbad Village Drive
Carlsbad, California 92008
Attention: Chief Executive Officer
Email: CEO@thecleanenergyalliance.org

with a copy to:

Nixon Peabody LLP

300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 4100
Los Angeles, CA 9007
Attention: Rudy S. Salo
Telephone: (213) 629-6069
Facsimile: (866) 817-1940
Email: rsalo@nixonpeabody.com

(b) if to the Lender:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
383 Madison Avenue, 3rd Floor
New York, New York  10179
Mail Code: NY1-M076
Attention: Allyson Goetschius or Janice Fong
Telephone: (212) 270-0335 or (212) 270-3762
Facsimile: (917) 849-0272
Email: Allyson.l.goetschius@jpmorgan.com or

Janice.r.fong@jpmorgan.com

with a copy to:

JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association
JPM-Delaware Loan Operations
500 Stanton Christiana Road, NCC5, Floor 01
Newark, DE 19713-2107

mailto:Janice.r.fong@jpmorgan.com


-51-

Attention: PFG Servicing
Telephone: (302) 634-9627
Email/Fax: PFG_Servicing@jpmorgan.com

And, for compliance-related items, with a copy to:

public.finance.notices@jpmchase.com

or, as to each Person named above, at such other address or telephone or telecopy number as is 
designated by such Person in a written notice to the parties hereto. All such notices and other 
communications will, when delivered, sent by facsimile transmission or mailed, be effective when 
deposited with the courier, sent by facsimile transmission or mailed, respectively, addressed as 
aforesaid, except that requests for LC Disbursements submitted to the Lender will not be effective 
until received by the Lender.

Section 7.3. Survival of Covenants; Successors and Assigns.  (a) All covenants, 
agreements, representations and warranties made herein and in the certificates delivered pursuant 
hereto will survive the making of any Loan, and will continue in full force and effect until all of the 
Obligations hereunder are paid in full. Whenever in this Agreement any of the parties hereto is 
referred to, such reference will, subject to the last sentence of this Section, be deemed to include 
the successors and assigns of such party, and all covenants, promises and agreements by or on 
behalf of the Borrower which are contained in this Agreement will inure to the benefit of the 
successors and assigns of the Lender. The Borrower may not transfer its rights or obligations under 
this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Lender. The Lender may transfer or assign 
some or all of its rights and obligations under this Agreement and the Fee Agreement with, so long 
as no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, the prior written consent of the Borrower 
(which consent may not be withheld unreasonably); provided that the Lender shall be responsible 
for all costs solely relating to such transfer or assignment. This Agreement is made solely for the 
benefit of the Borrower and the Lender, and no other Person (including, without limitation, any 
PPA Counterparty) will have any right, benefit or interest under or because of the existence of this 
Agreement.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Lender will be permitted to grant to one or more 
financial institutions (each a “Participant”) a participation or participations in all or any part of 
the Lender’s rights and benefits and obligations under this Agreement, the Fee Agreement, the 
Loans and the Letters of Credit on a participating basis but not as a party to this Agreement (a 
“Participation”) without the consent of the Borrower. In the event of any such grant by the Lender 
of a Participation to a Participant, the Lender shall remain responsible for the performance of its 
obligations hereunder and under the Letters of Credit, and the Borrower may continue to deal 
solely and directly with the Lender in connection with the Lender’s rights and obligations under 
this Agreement, under the Fee Agreement and under the Letters of Credit. The Borrower agrees 
that each Participant will, to the extent of its Participation, be entitled to the benefits of this 
Agreement as if such Participant were the Lender; provided that no Participant will have the right 
to declare, or to take actions in response to, an Event of Default under Section 6.1 hereof; and 
provided, further, that the Borrower’s liability to any Participant (including, without limitation, 
amounts payable pursuant to Sections 2.12, 2.13 and 2.14) will not in any event exceed that 



-52-

liability which the Borrower would owe to the Lender but for such participation.

Section 7.4. No Recourse Against Constituent Members of CEA.  CEA is organized as a 
Joint Powers Authority in accordance with the Joint Powers Act of the State of California 
(Government Code Section 6500 et seq.) pursuant to a Joint Powers Agreement dated November 
4, 2019, and is a public entity separate from its constituent members.  CEA shall solely be 
responsible for all debts, obligations and liabilities accruing and arising out of this Agreement.  
The Lender shall not make any claims, take any actions or assert any remedies against any of 
CEA’s constituent members arising solely as a result of CEA’s breach of this Agreement.

Section 7.5. Liability of Lender; Indemnification.  (a) To the extent permitted by the laws 
of the State, the Borrower assumes all risks of the acts or omissions of the PPA Counterparties with 
respect to the use of the Letters of Credit or the use of proceeds thereunder; provided that this 
provision is not intended to and will not preclude the Borrower from pursuing such rights and 
remedies as it may have against the PPA Counterparties under any other agreements. Neither the 
Lender nor any of its respective officers or directors will be liable or responsible for (i) the use of 
any Letter of Credit, the LC Disbursements or the Loans or the transactions contemplated hereby 
and by the other Basic Documents or for any acts or omissions of any PPA Counterparty, (ii) the 
validity, sufficiency or genuineness of any documents determined in good faith by the Lender to be 
valid, sufficient or genuine, even if such documents, in fact, prove to be in any or all respects 
invalid, fraudulent, forged or insufficient, (iii) payments by the Lender against presentation of 
requests for LC Disbursements or requests which the Lender in good faith has determined to be 
valid, sufficient or genuine and which subsequently are found not to comply with the terms of this 
Agreement or (iv) any other circumstances whatsoever in making or failing to make payment 
hereunder; provided that the Borrower is not required to indemnify the Lender for any claims, 
losses, liabilities, costs or expenses to the extent, but only to the extent that a court of competent 
jurisdiction has determined by a final, non-appealable judgment were caused by the gross 
negligence or willful misconduct of the Lender.

(b) To the extent permitted by the laws of the State, the Borrower indemnifies and holds 
harmless the Lender from and against any and all direct, as opposed to consequential, claims, 
damages, losses, liabilities, costs and expenses (including specifically reasonable attorneys’ fees) 
which the Lender may incur (or which may be claimed against the Lender by any Person 
whatsoever) by reason of or in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of the 
Basic Documents, the Letters of Credit and the transactions contemplated thereby; provided that 
the Borrower is not required to indemnify the Lender to the extent, but only to the extent, any such 
claim, damage, loss, liability, cost or expense is caused by the Lender’s willful misconduct or 
gross negligence as determined by a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction. The Lender is 
expressly authorized and directed to honor any demand for payment which is made under any 
Letter of Credit without regard to, and without any duty on its part to inquire into the existence of, 
any disputes or controversies between the Borrower, any PPA Counterparty or any other Person or 
the respective rights, duties or liabilities of any of them or whether any facts or occurrences 
represented in any of the documents presented under any Letter of Credit are true and correct.

(c) To the fullest extent permitted by Applicable Law, the Borrower shall not assert, and 
waives, any claim against the Lender, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential 



-53-

or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or 
as a result of, any Basic Document or any agreement or instrument contemplated thereby, the 
transactions contemplated thereby or the use of the proceeds thereof.

(d) The obligations of the Borrower under this Section 7.5 will survive the termination of 
this Agreement.

Section 7.6. Expenses.  Upon receipt of a written invoice, the Borrower shall promptly 
pay (i) the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to the Lender incurred in connection with the 
preparation, execution and delivery and administration of this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, 
the Fee Agreement and the other Basic Documents as set forth in the Fee Agreement, (ii) the 
reasonable out-of-pocket expenses of the Lender incurred in connection with the preparation, 
execution and delivery and administration of this Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Fee 
Agreement and the other Basic Documents, (iii) the fees and disbursements of counsel to the 
Lender with respect to advising the Lender as to its rights and responsibilities under the Basic 
Documents after the occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default and (iv) all costs and expenses, 
if any, in connection with the administration and enforcement of the Basic Documents, including 
in each case the fees and disbursements of counsel to the Lender. In addition, and notwithstanding 
the foregoing, the Borrower agrees to pay, after the occurrence of an Event of Default, all costs and 
expenses (including attorneys’ fees and costs of settlement) incurred by the Lender in enforcing 
any obligations or in collecting any payments due from the Borrower hereunder or under the Fee 
Agreement by reason of such Event of Default or in connection with any refinancing or 
restructuring of the credit arrangements provided under this Agreement in the nature of a 
“workout” or of any insolvency or bankruptcy proceedings. The obligations of the Borrower under 
this Section 7.6 will survive the termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.7. No Waiver; Conflict.  Neither any failure nor any delay on the part of the 
Lender in exercising any right, power or privilege hereunder, nor any course of dealing with 
respect to any of the same, will operate as a waiver thereof or preclude any other or further exercise 
thereof, nor will a single or partial exercise thereof, preclude any other or further exercise thereof 
or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The remedies herein provided are cumulative 
and not exclusive of any remedies provided by law. To the extent of any conflict between this 
Agreement and any other Basic Documents, this Agreement will control solely as between the 
Borrower and the Lender.

Section 7.8. Modification, Amendment Waiver, Etc.  No modification, amendment or 
waiver of any provision of this Agreement will be effective unless the same is in writing and 
signed in accordance with Section 7.1 hereof.

Section 7.9. Dealings.  The Lender and its affiliates may accept deposits from, extend 
credit to and generally engage in any kind of banking, trust or other business with the Borrower 
and/or any PPA Counterparty regardless of the capacity of the Lender hereunder or under any 
Letter of Credit.

Section 7.10. Severability.  Any provision of this Agreement which is prohibited or 
unenforceable in any jurisdiction will, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such 



-54-

prohibition or unenforceability without invalidating the remaining provisions hereof or affecting 
the validity or enforceability of such provision in any other jurisdiction, and all other remaining 
provisions hereof will be construed to render them enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by 
law. The parties shall endeavor in good faith negotiations to replace the invalid, illegal or 
unenforceable provisions with valid provisions the economic or legal effect of which comes as 
close as possible to that of the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions.

Section 7.11. Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness; Electronic Execution.  (a) This 
Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different 
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall 
constitute a single contract.  This Agreement, the other Basic Documents and any separate letter 
agreements with respect to fees payable to the Lender constitute the entire contract among the 
parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and 
understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.  Except as provided in Section 
3.1, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Lender and 
when the Lender shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the 
signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the 
benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns.

(b) Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of (x) this Agreement, (y) 
any other Basic Document and/or (z) any document, amendment, approval, consent, information, 
notice (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any notice delivered pursuant to Section 7.2), 
certificate, request, statement, disclosure or authorization related to this Agreement, any other 
Basic Document and/or the transactions contemplated hereby and/or thereby (each an “Ancillary 
Document”) that is an Electronic Signature transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other 
electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page shall be effective 
as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement, such other Basic Document or 
such Ancillary Document, as applicable.  The words “execution,” “signed,” “signature,” 
“delivery,” and words of like import in or relating to this Agreement, any other Basic Document 
and/or any Ancillary Document shall be deemed to include Electronic Signatures, deliveries or the 
keeping of records in any electronic form (including deliveries by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any 
other electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page), each of 
which shall be of the same legal effect, validity or enforceability as a manually executed signature, 
physical delivery thereof or the use of a paper-based recordkeeping system, as the case may be; 
provided that nothing herein shall require the Lender to accept Electronic Signatures in any form 
or format without its prior written consent and pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided, 
further, without limiting the foregoing, (i) to the extent the Lender has agreed to accept any 
Electronic Signature, the Lender shall be entitled to rely on such Electronic Signature purportedly 
given by or on behalf of the Borrower without further verification thereof and without any 
obligation to review the appearance or form of any such Electronic Signature and (ii) upon the 
request of the Lender, any Electronic Signature  shall be promptly followed by a manually 
executed counterpart.  Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Borrower hereby (A) 
agrees that, for all purposes, including without limitation, in connection with any workout, 
restructuring, enforcement of remedies, bankruptcy proceedings or litigation among the Lender 
and the Borrower, Electronic Signatures transmitted by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other 
electronic means that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page and/or any 



-55-

electronic images of this Agreement,  any other Basic Document and/or any Ancillary Document 
shall have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as any paper original, (B) the Lender 
may, at its option, create one or more copies of this Agreement, any other Basic Document and/or 
any Ancillary Document in the form of an imaged electronic record in any format, which shall be 
deemed created in the ordinary course of such Person’s business, and destroy the original paper 
document (and all such electronic records shall be considered an original for all purposes and shall 
have the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a paper record), (C) waives any argument, 
defense or right to contest the legal effect, validity or enforceability of this Agreement, any other 
Basic Document and/or any Ancillary Document based solely on the lack of paper original copies 
of this Agreement, such other Basic Document and/or such Ancillary Document, respectively, 
including with respect to any signature pages thereto and (D) waives any claim against any 
Lender-Related Person for any Liabilities arising solely from the Lender’s reliance on or use of 
Electronic Signatures and/or transmissions by telecopy, emailed pdf. or any other electronic means 
that reproduces an image of an actual executed signature page, including any Liabilities arising as 
a result of the failure of the Borrower to use any available security measures in connection with the 
execution, delivery or transmission of any Electronic Signature.

Section 7.12. Table of Contents; Headings.  The table of contents and the section and 
subsection headings used herein have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not 
constitute matters to be considered in interpreting this Agreement.

Section 7.13. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the Fee Agreement represents the 
final agreement between the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and may not be 
contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous or subsequent oral agreements of the parties 
hereto as to such subject matter.

Section 7.14. Governing Law Waiver of Jury Trial.  (a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE 
DEEMED TO BE A CONTRACT UNDER, AND FOR ALL PURPOSES SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND 
CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS; PROVIDED, THAT THE OBLIGATIONS 
OF THE LENDER HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK 
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS PROVISIONS.

(b) TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO 
WAIVES ITS RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING 
OUT OF THE BASIC DOCUMENTS OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBY, 
INCLUDING CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, AND ALL OTHER COMMON 
LAW OR STATUTORY CLAIMS. IF AND TO THE EXTENT THAT THE FOREGOING WAIVER OF THE RIGHT TO 
A JURY TRIAL IS UNENFORCEABLE FOR ANY REASON IN SUCH FORUM, EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO 
CONSENTS TO THE ADJUDICATION OF ALL CLAIMS PURSUANT TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE AS PROVIDED 
IN CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE SECTION 638, AND THE JUDICIAL REFEREE IS 
EMPOWERED TO HEAR AND DETERMINE ALL ISSUES IN SUCH REFERENCE, WHETHER FACT OR LAW.  
EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER AND CONSENT 
AND, FOLLOWING CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL ON SUCH MATTERS, KNOWINGLY AND 
VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS AND CONSENTS TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE. IN THE 
EVENT OF LITIGATION, A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE FILED AS A WRITTEN CONSENT TO A 



-56-

TRIAL BY THE COURT OR TO JUDICIAL REFERENCE UNDER CALIFORNIA CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 
SECTION 638 AS PROVIDED HEREIN.

(c) The covenants and waivers made pursuant to this Section 7.14 are irrevocable and 
unmodifiable, whether in writing or orally, and are applicable to any subsequent amendments, 
renewals, supplements or modifications of this Agreement. In the event of litigation, this 
Agreement may be filed as a written consent to a trial by the court.

Section 7.15. Reserved.

Section 7.16. USA PATRIOT Act.  The Lender notifies the Borrower that, pursuant to the 
requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 
2001)) (the “Act”), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the 
Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Borrower and other 
information that will allow the Lender to identify the Borrower in accordance with the Act. The 
Borrower agrees to provide such documentary and other evidence of the Borrower’s identity as 
may be requested by the Lender at any time to enable the Lender to verify the Borrower’s identity 
or to comply with any Applicable Law or regulation, including, without limitation, the Act.

Section 7.17. Reserved.

Section 7.18. Assignment to Federal Reserve Bank.  The Lender may assign and pledge all 
or any portion of the obligations owing to it hereunder to any Federal Reserve Bank or the United 
States Treasury as collateral security pursuant to Regulation A of the Board of Governors of the 
Federal Reserve System and any Operating Circular issued by such Federal Reserve Bank, 
provided that any payment in respect of such assigned obligations made by the Borrower to the 
Lender in accordance with the terms of this Agreement will satisfy the Borrower’s obligations 
hereunder in respect of such assigned obligation to the extent of such payment. No such 
assignment will release the Lender from its obligations hereunder.

Section 7.19. Reserved.



-57-

Section 7.20. Arm’s Length Transaction.  The transaction described in this Agreement is an 
arm’s length, commercial transaction between the Borrower and the Lender in which: (i) the 
Lender is acting solely as a principal (i.e., as a lender) and for its own interest; (ii) the Lender is not 
acting as a municipal advisor or financial advisor to the Borrower; (iii) the Lender has no fiduciary 
duty pursuant to Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 to the Borrower with respect 
to this transaction and the discussions, undertakings and procedures leading thereto (irrespective 
of whether the Lender or any of its affiliates has provided other services or is currently providing 
other services to the Borrower on other matters); (iv) the only obligations the Lender has to the 
Borrower with respect to this transaction are set forth in this Agreement, the Fee Agreement and 
the Letters of Credit; and (v) the Lender is not recommending that the Borrower take an action 
with respect to the transaction described in this Agreement and the other Basic Documents, and 
before taking any action with respect to the this transaction, the Borrower should discuss the 
information contained herein with the Borrower’s own legal, accounting, tax, financial and other 
advisors, as the Borrower deems appropriate.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]



Signature Page to Revolving Credit Agreement

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower and the Lender have duly executed this Agreement as 
of the date first written above.

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

By:____________________________________
Name: ______________________________
Title: _______________________________

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By:____________________________________
Name: ______________________________
Title: _______________________________



EXHIBIT A

FORM OF OPINION OF NIXON PEABODY LLP

[See Index No. 4 of the Closing Transcript]



EXHIBIT B

FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

This Compliance Certificate (this “Certificate”) is furnished to JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A. (including its successors and assigns, the “Lender”) pursuant to the Revolving Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2021 (together with all amendments and supplements thereto, 
the “Agreement”), by and between the Clean Energy Alliance (including its successors and 
assigns, the “Borrower”) and the Lender.  Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms used in this 
Certificate have the meanings assigned thereto in the Agreement.

This Compliance Certificate is being delivered in connection with [annual audited 
financials for the Fiscal Year ended ___________, 20__][unaudited financial statements for 
the fiscal quarter ended ______________, 20__].

THE UNDERSIGNED HEREBY CERTIFIES THAT:

1. I am an Authorized Representative of the Borrower;

2. I have reviewed the terms of the Agreement and I have made, or have 
caused to be made under my supervision, a detailed review of the transactions and 
conditions of the Borrower during the accounting period covered by the attached financial 
statements;

3. The examinations described in paragraph 2 did not disclose, and I have no 
knowledge of, the existence of any condition or the occurrence of any event which 
constitutes a Default or Event of Default during or at the end of the accounting period 
covered by the attached financial statements or as of the date of this Certificate, except as 
set forth below; and

4. To the best of my knowledge the financial statements required by Section 
5.1(a) of the Agreement and being furnished to you concurrently with this certificate fairly 
represent the consolidated financial condition of the Clean Energy Alliance System in 
accordance with GAAP as of the date and for the period covered thereby.

[Describe below the exceptions, if any, to paragraph 3 by listing, in detail, the 
nature of the condition or event, the period during which it has existed and the action 
which the Borrower has taken, is taking, or proposes to take with respect to each 
such condition or event:

________________________________________________________________________
________________________________________________________________________
_______________________________________________________________________]



-2-

�6.�The amount of Available Liquidity as of the end of the [Fiscal Year][fiscal quarter] for which this certificate is being delivered is: ________________.2

7. The Borrower is in compliance with Section 5.1(q) of the Agreement on the 
date hereof, as evidenced by the Debt Service Coverage Ratio and Days Liquidity on Hand 
calculations set forth on Appendix I hereto.

8. Amounts held in the Operating Reserve are as follows: $____________.

9. The undersigned, on behalf of the Borrower, hereby represents that the 
Borrower has fixed, established, maintained and collected rates and charges for electric 
power and energy and other services, facilities and commodities sold, furnished or 
supplied through the facilities of the System, which are fair and nondiscriminatory and 
adequate to provide the Borrower with Revenues in Fiscal Year ended [________, 20___] 
sufficient to pay, to the extent not paid from other available moneys, any and all amounts 
the Borrower is obligated to pay or set aside from Revenues by law or contract in such 
Fiscal Year.3

10. [There have been no updates to the most recent annual budget provided 
pursuant to Section 5.1(n) of the Agreement.][Attached hereto as Appendix II are 
[describe updates to budget].]

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank]

2 As required by Section 5.1(a)(iii), please provide a reasonably detailed calculation of the Available Liquidity 
when submitting this certificate.

3 Pursuant to Section 5.1(m), to the extent that rates have moved by 5% or greater (as compared to the 
Borrower’s most recently adopted annual budget), the Borrower is required to promptly provide the Bank 
notice, as soon as possible, and in no event later than five (5) Business Days after such adjustment, the 
Commission shall provide the Bank with an updated twelve (12) month projection of Revenues.



-3-

The foregoing certifications and the financial statements delivered with this Certificate in 
support hereof, are made and delivered this ____ day of _____________, 20__.

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

By:____________________________________
Name: ______________________________
Title: _______________________________



APPENDIX I TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

[FOR ANY FISCAL QUARTER IN FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023:]

[A. Days Liquidity on Hand (Section 5.1(q))

1. Available Liquidity and Unutilized Commitment $___________
2. Sum of operating and interest expense for the four 

consecutive fiscal quarter period ended on or 
immediately prior to such date of determination

$___________

3. Line A2 times 1/365 __________
4. Line A1 divided by Line A3 ________
5. Days Liquidity on Hand based on Line A4 ________ Days
6. Line A5 must not be less than 30 Days
7. The Borrower is in compliance (circle one) Yes/No]

[FOR ANY FISCAL QUARTER IN FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024 OR THEREAFTER:]

[A. Days Liquidity on Hand (Section 5.1(q))

1. Available Liquidity and Unutilized Commitment
$__________

_
2. Sum of operating and interest expense for the four 

consecutive fiscal quarter period ended on or 
immediately prior to such date of determination

$__________
_

3. Line A2 times 1/365 __________
4. Line A1 divided by Line A3 ________

5. Days Liquidity on Hand based on Line A4
________ 

Days
6. Line A5 must not be less than 50 Days
7. The Borrower is in compliance (circle one) Yes/No]

B. Debt Service Coverage Ratio (Section 5.1(q))

1. Net Revenues as determined for the four consecutive fiscal 
quarter periods ended on the last date of such fiscal quarter

$___________

2. Annual Debt Service as determined for the four 
consecutive fiscal quarter periods ended on the last date of 
such fiscal quarter

$___________



-2-

3. Ratio of Line B1 to B2 ___________
4. Line B3 must not be less than 1.40:1.00
5. The Borrower is in compliance (circle one) Yes/No



APPENDIX II TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE

[ATTACHED]



EXHIBIT C

FORM OF BORROWING REQUEST

_____________, 20__

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
383 Madison Avenue, 3rd Floor
New York, New York  10179
Mail Code: NY1-M076
Attention: _____________

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned refers to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2021 
(together with any amendments or supplements thereto, the “Agreement”), by and between Clean 
Energy Alliance (with its successors and assigns, the “Borrower”) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A. (with its successors and assigns, the “Lender”) (the terms defined therein being used herein 
as therein defined) and hereby requests, pursuant to Section 2.3 of the Agreement, that the Lender 
make a Loan under the Agreement and disburse such funds as set forth in #6 below, and in that 
connection sets forth below the following information relating to such Loan (the “Proposed 
Loan”):

1. The Business Day of the Proposed Loan is ___________, 20__ (the 
“Issuance Date”).

2. The principal amount of the Proposed Loan is $______________, which is 
not greater than the Revolving Credit Exposure or the Loan Sublimit as of the Issuance 
Date set forth in 1 above.  After giving effect to the Proposed Loan, the aggregate principal 
amount of all Loans outstanding under the Agreement will not exceed the Loan Sublimit as 
of the Issuance Date, and the aggregate principal amount of all Loans and LC Exposure 
outstanding under the Agreement will not exceed the Revolving Credit Exposure as of the 
Issuance Date. 

3. The interest rate with respect to the Proposed Loan shall be a [Base Rate 
Loan*][SOFR Loan][.][;[IN THE CASE OF A SOFR BORROWING] the initial Interest 
Period shall be for [one month][three months].]

4. The undersigned hereby certifies that the following statements are true on 
the date hereof, and will be true on the Issuance Date, before and after giving effect to the 
Proposed Loan:

(a) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in 

* Reimbursement Loans may only be Base Rate Loans, not Eurodollar Loans.



-2-

Article IV of the Agreement (other than in Section 4.7 thereof) are true and correct 
in all material respects (or in the case of any representation qualified by materiality, 
in all respects) on the date hereof, as if made on the date hereof;

(b) No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing; and

(c) No event or change shall be in effect or shall have occurred that 
could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

5. The proceeds for Proposed Loan are being used for the following purposes:

(a) To provide cash collateral to secure the Borrower’s obligations 
under PPAs,

(b) to repay in whole or in part any LC Disbursement under Section 
2.4(d) in the case of a Reimbursement Loan*,

(c) for general corporate purposes, 

(d) to pay interest accrued on any Obligations through September 30, 
2021, or

(e) capital expenditures related to the development or acquisition of 
new assets related to the System.

6. The Proposed Loan shall be made by the Lender by wire transfer of 
immediately available funds or deposited [in the amount of $_____] into Borrower’s 
account at the Lender in accordance with the instructions set forth in the Agreement or to or 
on behalf of the Borrower in accordance with the instructions set forth below and the 
Borrower hereby confirms that the Lender is authorized to make said disbursements:

[Insert wire instructions and amounts]

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

By:____________________________________
Name: ______________________________
Title: _______________________________

* Reimbursement Loans may only be Base Rate Loans, not Eurodollar Loans



-3-

Approved by the Lender:

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By:_________________________________
Name: ___________________________
Title: ____________________________



EXHIBIT D-1

FORM OF LETTER OF CREDIT REQUEST

_____________, 20__

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.
383 Madison Avenue, 3rd Floor
New York, New York  10179
Mail Code: NY1-M076
Attention: _____________

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The undersigned refers to the Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2021 
(together with any amendments or supplements thereto, the “Agreement”), by and between Clean 
Energy Alliance (with its successors and assigns, the “Borrower”) and JPMorgan Chase Bank, 
N.A. (with its successors and assigns, the “Lender”) (the terms defined therein being used herein 
as therein defined) and hereby requests, pursuant to Section 2.4 of the Agreement, that the Lender 
issue a Letter of Credit under the Agreement, and in that connection sets forth below the following 
information relating to such Letter of Credit (the “Proposed Letter of Credit”):

1. The Business Day of the Proposed Letter of Credit is ___________, 20__ 
(the “Issuance Date”).

2. The principal amount of the Proposed Letter of Credit is 
$______________, which is not greater than the Revolving Credit Exposure or the Letter 
of Credit Sublimit as of the Issuance Date set forth in 1 above.  After giving effect to the 
Proposed Letter of Credit, the aggregate principal amount of all Letters of Credit 
outstanding under the Agreement will not exceed the Letter of Credit Sublimit as of the 
Issuance Date set forth in 1 above, and the aggregate principal amount of all Loans and 
Letters of Credit outstanding under the Agreement will not exceed the Revolving Credit 
Exposure as of the Issuance Date set forth in 1 above. 

3. The tenor of the Proposed Letter of Credit shall be [____________].

4. The undersigned hereby certifies that the following statements are true on 
the date hereof, and will be true on the Issuance Date, before and after giving effect thereto:

(a) The representations and warranties of the Borrower set forth in 
Article IV of the Agreement (other than in Section 4.7 thereof) are true and correct 
in all material respects on the date hereof, as if made on the date hereof;

(b) No Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;

(c) No event or change shall be in effect or shall have occurred that 



-2-

could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

5. The undersigned hereby confirms that the Borrower has submitted a 
Standby Letter of Credit Application, a form of which is on file with the Borrower and the 
Lender.

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

By:____________________________________
Name: ______________________________
Title: _______________________________



EXHIBIT D-2

SHORT FORM LETTER OF CREDIT APPLICATION

TO BE PROVIDED UNDER SEPARATE COVER BY THE LENDER.



EXHIBIT D-3

FORM OF COMMERCIAL & STANDBY LETTERS OF CREDIT
BETWEEN CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE AND JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

(FOR CREDITS ISSUED UNDER A CREDIT AGREEMENT)

To induce JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and/or any of its domestic or foreign subsidiaries 
or affiliates (individually and collectively, “Bank”), to issue for the account of Applicant or for the 
account of the Account Party named in the Application, one or more standby or commercial letters 
of credit or other independent undertakings, from time to time at the request of the undersigned 
(individually and collectively, “Applicant”; jointly and severally, if more than one), Applicant 
agrees as to each letter of credit or undertaking (together with any replacements, extensions or 
modifications, a “Credit,” collectively, “Credits” ) as follows:

All Credits issued pursuant to this Continuing Agreement (as amended, supplemented or 
otherwise modified, the “Agreement”) are issued under and pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of the Revolving Credit Agreement (as amended, extended, restated or otherwise modified from 
time to time, and including any successor agreement to which the Bank is a party (as a letter of 
credit issuing bank) which refinances or otherwise governs the Credits, the “Credit Agreement”) 
dated as of among Clean Energy Alliance and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Lender.  Capitalized 
terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meaning assigned to them in the Credit 
Agreement.  If the Credit Agreement is terminated or expires, references in this Agreement to the 
Credit Agreement shall refer to the Credit Agreement in the form it was in immediately prior to 
such termination or expiration, unless otherwise agreed by Bank and Applicant.  In the event of 
any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement and the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement shall control, 
except that provisions relating to indemnification and limitation of Bank’s liability as set forth in 
this Agreement shall also apply.

SECTION 1. DEFINITIONS.

The following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

“Application” means an irrevocable request to issue a Credit, in a form acceptable to the 
Bank.

“Costs” means any and all claims, suits, judgments, costs, losses, fines, penalties, 
damages, liabilities, and expenses, including reasonable and documented expert witness fees and 
legal fees, charges and disbursements of any counsel for any Indemnified Person.

“Drawing Document” means any document presented for purposes of drawing under a 
Credit.

“Good Faith” means honesty in fact in the conduct of the transaction concerned.



-2-

“Instructions” means each Application, any inquiries, communications and instructions 
(in any form, whether oral, telephonic, written, electronic mail or transmission or facsimile) 
regarding a Credit.  Bank’s records of the content of any Instruction shall be conclusive absent 
manifest error.

“ISP” means International Standby Practices 1998 (International Chamber of Commerce 
Publication No. 590) and any subsequent revision thereof adhered to by Bank on the date such 
Credit is issued.

“LOIs” means steamship guarantees, releases or letters of indemnity in favor of a carrier 
issued by Bank upon Instruction of Applicant as set forth on Annex I.

“Obligations” means all obligations and liabilities of Applicant to Bank in respect of any 
and all Credits and LOIs issued hereunder (if any), whether matured or unmatured, absolute or 
contingent, now existing or hereafter incurred.

“Property” means all property of any kind whatsoever (now existing or hereafter 
acquired) referred to, or relating to, an applicable Credit including, without limitation, any and all 
right, title and interest of Applicant in any goods, equipment, inventory, money, documents, letters 
of credit, warehouse receipts, instruments, securities, security entitlements, financial assets, 
investment property, precious and base metals, chattel paper, electronic chattel paper, accounts, 
commercial tort claims, deposit accounts, general intangibles (including any claims for breach of 
contract, breach of warranty claims and any insurance policies and proceeds), letter of credit 
rights, choses in action and the proceeds of any and all thereof (including any and all of the 
aforesaid referred to in any Credit or the Drawing Documents relating thereto).

“Released Merchandise” means, with respect to a Credit, all Property released (including 
pursuant to a forwarders cargo receipt or by any other means whatsoever) or consigned to 
Applicant or any Person designated by Applicant in connection with such Credit or related LOI.

“Standard Letter of Credit Practice” means, for Bank, any domestic or foreign law or 
letter of credit practices applicable in the city in which Bank issued the applicable Credit or for its 
branch or correspondent, such laws and practices applicable in the city in which it has advised, 
confirmed or negotiated such Credit, as the case may be.  Such practices shall be (i) of banks that 
regularly issue Credits in the particular city and (ii) required or permitted under the UCP or the 
ISP, as chosen in the applicable Credit.

“UCP” means Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits 2007 Revision, 
International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 600 and any subsequent revision thereof 
adhered to by Bank on the date such Credit is issued.

“UN Convention” means the United Nations Convention on Independent Guarantees and 
Standby Letters of Credit.



-3-

SECTION 2. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY; INDEMNIFICATION.

(a) Without limiting any provision of the Credit Agreement covering the limitation of 
liability of the issuing bank (including any exception set forth therein), Bank and each other 
Indemnitee shall not be responsible to Applicant for, and Bank’s rights and remedies against 
Applicant and Applicant’s obligation to reimburse Bank under the Credit Agreement shall not be 
impaired by: (i) honor of a presentation under any Credit which on its face substantially complies 
with the terms of such Credit; (ii) honor of a presentation of any Drawing Documents which 
appear on their face to have been signed, presented or issued (X) by any purported successor or 
transferee of any beneficiary or other party required to sign, present or issue the Drawing 
Documents or (Y) under a new name of the beneficiary; (iii) acceptance as a draft of any written or 
electronic demand or request for payment under a Credit, even if nonnegotiable or not in the form 
of a draft, and may disregard any requirement that such draft, demand or request bear any or 
adequate reference to the Credit; (iv) the identity or authority of any presenter or signer of any 
Drawing Document or the form, accuracy, genuineness, or legal effect of any presentation under 
any Credit or of any Drawing Documents; (v) disregard of any non-documentary conditions stated 
in any Credit; (vi) acting upon any Instruction which it, in Good Faith, believes to have been given 
by a Person or entity authorized to give such Instruction; (vii) any errors, omissions, interruptions 
or delays in transmission or delivery of any message, advice or document (regardless of how sent 
or transmitted) or for errors in interpretation of technical terms or in translation; (viii) any delay in 
giving or failing to give any notice; (ix) any acts, omissions or fraud by, or the solvency of, any 
beneficiary, any nominated Person or any other Person; (x) any breach of contract between the 
beneficiary and Applicant or any of the parties to the underlying transaction; (xi) assertion or 
waiver of any provision of the UCP or ISP which primarily benefits an issuer of a letter of credit, 
including, any requirement that any Drawing Document be presented to it at a particular hour or 
place; (xii) payment to any paying or negotiating bank (designated or permitted by the terms of the 
applicable Credit) claiming that it rightfully honored or is entitled to reimbursement or indemnity 
under the Standard Letter of Credit Practice applicable to it; or (xiii) acting or failing to act as 
required or permitted under Standard Letter of Credit Practice (or in the case of other independent 
undertakings or guarantees, the UN Convention) applicable to where it has issued, confirmed, 
advised or negotiated such Credit, as the case may be.

(b) Without limiting any provision in the Credit Agreement covering the indemnification 
of the issuing bank by the Applicant (including any limitation or exception set forth therein) 
(“Indemnity Provisions”), such Indemnity Provisions shall apply to Bank and each related 
Indemnitee notwithstanding the occurrence of any of the events specified in clause (a) of this 
Section 2.

(c) If a Credit is to be governed by a law other than that of the State of New York, Bank 
shall not be liable for any Costs resulting from any act or omission by Bank in accordance with the 
UCP or the ISP, as applicable, and Applicant shall indemnify Bank for all such Costs.

SECTION 3. FOREIGN CURRENCY.

Unless otherwise previously agreed by the Bank, if an amount drawn under any Credit is in 
non-United States dollar (“foreign currency”), Applicant shall reimburse Bank, on demand, the 



-4-

United States dollar equivalent of such drawn amount based on the Bank’s actual cost of 
settlement of its obligation.  Applicant’s obligation to make payments in any currency (the 
“Contract Currency”) shall not be discharged or satisfied by any tender, or any recovery pursuant 
to any judgment or otherwise, that is expressed in or converted into any currency other than the 
Contract Currency, except to the extent that such tender or recovery results in the actual receipt by 
Bank at its designated office of the full amount of the Contract Currency specified to be payable 
hereunder.  Applicant’s obligation to make payments in the Contract Currency shall be 
enforceable as an alternative or additional cause of action to the extent that such actual receipt is 
less than the full amount of the Contract Currency specified to be payable hereunder, and shall not 
be affected by judgment being obtained for other sums due hereunder.  Applicant shall indemnify 
Bank for any shortfall in such actual receipt.

SECTION 4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

Applicant hereby represents and warrants on and as of the date hereof, and the date of each 
issuance, amendment, renewal and extension of a Credit, as applicable, that (i) this Agreement 
constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of Applicant enforceable against it in accordance 
with its terms; (ii) the representations and warranties set forth in the Credit Agreement are true and 
correct; and (iii) if applicable, no goods or vessels used to transport goods related to such Credit 
will be the subject of any Sanctions.

SECTION 5. REMEDIES.

If at any time there shall occur and be continuing any action for a temporary restraining 
order, preliminary or permanent injunction, beneficiary wrongful dishonor action or the issuance 
or commencement of any similar order, action or event in connection with any Credit or any 
Drawing Document or this Agreement, which order, action or event may apply, directly or 
indirectly, to Bank or which otherwise threatens to extend or increase Bank’s contingent liability 
beyond the time, amount or other limit provided in such Credit or this Agreement then, Applicant 
shall, upon Bank’s demand, deliver to Bank, as additional security for the Obligations, cash in an 
amount required by Bank.

SECTION 6. ASSERTION OF RIGHTS

To the extent Bank honors a presentation for which Bank remains unpaid, Bank may assert 
rights of Applicant and Applicant shall cooperate with Bank in its assertion of Applicant’s rights, 
if any, against the beneficiary, the beneficiary’s rights against Applicant and any other rights that 
Bank may have by subordination, subrogation, reimbursement, indemnity or assignment.

SECTION 7. NOTICES, S.W.I.F.T., ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSIONS.

(a) Notices.  Unless otherwise provided in the Credit Agreement, notices to Bank shall be 
sent to the address of Bank as set forth in the Credit and shall be delivered by hand, overnight 
courier or certified mail, return receipt requested.  Notices to Applicant shall be sent to the address 
set forth in the Application unless advised otherwise in writing.



-5-

(b) S.W.I.F.T.  Bank may transmit a Credit and any amendment thereto by S.W.I.F.T. 
message and thereby bind Applicant directly and as indemnitor to the S.W.I.F.T. rules.

(c) Electronic Transmissions.  Bank is authorized to accept and process any Application 
and any amendments, transfers, assignments of proceeds, Instructions, consents, waivers and all 
documents relating to the Credit or the Application which are sent by electronic transmission using 
the system provided by Bank, including S.W.I.F.T., electronic mail, facsimile or other computer 
generated telecommunications (“Electronic Transmission”) and such Electronic Transmission 
shall have the same legal effect as an original and shall be binding upon and enforceable against 
Applicant.  Bank may, but shall not be obligated to, require authentication of such Electronic 
Transmission or receipt of original documents prior to acting on such Electronic Transmission.  If 
it is a condition of the Credit that payment may be made upon receipt by Bank of an Electronic 
Transmission advising negotiation, Applicant hereby agrees to reimburse Bank on demand for the 
amount indicated in such Electronic Transmission advice, and further agrees to hold Bank 
harmless if the documents fail to arrive, or if, upon the arrival of the documents, Bank should 
determine that the documents do not comply with the terms and conditions of the Credit.

SECTION 8. COMMERCIAL CREDITS.

(a) Pledge of Underlying Goods and Title Documents.  As security for the payment and 
performance of all obligations and liabilities of Applicant to Bank in respect of any and all 
commercial Credits and LOIs issued hereunder (if any) and under this Agreement, Applicant 
hereby grants to Bank a continuing lien and security interest in all of Applicant’s right, title and 
interest in, to and under all the underlying goods relating to the commercial Credits and the title 
documents evidencing such goods and all products and proceeds of the foregoing (whether now 
existing or hereafter created or acquired) which have been or at any time shall be delivered to, 
received by or otherwise come into the possession or control of Bank, its correspondents or 
Applicant in connection with each Credit.

(b) Acceptance of Drawing Documents; No Waiver.  Applicant’s acceptance or retention 
of a Drawing Document presented under or in connection with any Credit (whether or not the 
document is genuine) or of any Released Merchandise shall ratify Bank’s honor of the presentation 
and preclude Applicant from raising a defense, set-off or claim with respect to Bank’s honor of 
such Credit.  Bank shall not be required to seek any waiver of discrepancies from Applicant or to 
grant any waiver of discrepancies which Applicant approves or requests.

(c) Possession of Drawing Documents.  If Bank shall agree to honor (accept) Drawing 
Documents under a Credit on a time draft or deferred payment basis, Applicant shall not take 
possession of the Drawing Documents or the underlying Property except for the purpose of 
loading, unloading, storing, shipping, transshipping, manufacturing, processing or otherwise 
dealing with such Property in a manner preliminary to its sale or exchange.  An Instruction to 
release any such Drawing Document or Property shall be deemed a representation by Applicant to 
Bank that Applicant seeks such release for one of said purposes.  In each such case, Applicant shall 
apply the proceeds of Property to the Obligations relating to the applicable Credit.

(d) Absence of Written Instructions.  In the absence of written instructions to the 



-6-

contrary, Applicant agrees that (i) if the Credit authorizes drawings and/or shipments in 
installments and any installment is not drawn and/or shipped within the period allowed for that 
installment but Applicant waives such discrepancy, Bank is authorized to honor any subsequent 
installments so long as documents for such installments are presented within the period allowed 
for such installments; and (ii) each negotiated Credit shall expire at the counters of the nominated 
person even if notice of the presentation or any documents contained in the presentation is not 
received by Bank until after the expiry date of the Credit or any installment thereof.

(e) Release of Documents or Claiming of Goods from the Carrier.  In the event Bank, 
upon Applicant’s request, agrees to deliver to Applicant, a customs broker or any other person 
designated by Applicant, any of the documents of title relating to the Credit, prior to having 
received payment in full of all the Obligations, Applicant agrees to obtain possession of any goods 
represented by such documents within twenty-one days after the date of delivery of such 
documents, and if Applicant fails to do so, Applicant agrees to return such documents or to have 
them returned to Bank prior to the expiration of the twenty-one day period.  Applicant further 
agrees to execute and deliver to Bank receipts for such documents and the goods represented 
thereby identifying and describing such documents and goods.  If Applicant claims from the 
carrier any goods identified in the shipping documents required under the Credit (by virtue of a 
steamship release, air release, letter of indemnity or any other means), with or without the 
assistance of Bank, and such goods have been released to Applicant or a customs broker or agent 
acting on Applicant’s behalf, Applicant hereby authorizes Bank to immediately, and without 
further inquiry and consideration, debit any account of Applicant in an amount equal to the fair 
market value of such goods, that have been released, together with any out-of-pocket charges or 
expenses owing to Bank.

SECTION 9. STANDBY CREDITS.

(a) Installments.  If the Credit is issued subject to UCP 600, unless otherwise agreed, in 
the event that any installment of the Credit is not drawn within the period allowed for that 
installment, the Credit may continue to be available for any subsequent installments in the sole 
discretion of Bank, notwithstanding Article 32 of UCP 600.

(b) Auto Extend Notice.  If the Credit provides for automatic extension without 
amendment, Applicant agrees that it will notify Bank in writing at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
last day specified in the Credit by which Bank must give notice of nonextension if Applicant 
wishes the Credit not to be extended.  Any decision to extend or not extend the Credit shall be in 
Bank’s sole discretion and judgment.  Applicant hereby acknowledges that in the event Bank 
notifies the beneficiary of the Credit that it has elected not to extend the Credit and the beneficiary 
draws on the Credit after receiving the notice of non-extension, Applicant acknowledges and 
agrees that Applicant shall have no claim or cause of action against Bank or defense against 
payment under the Agreement for Bank’s discretionary decision to extend or not extend the Credit.

(c) Pending Expiry Notice.  If a Credit’s terms and conditions provide that Bank give 
beneficiary a notice of pending expiration, Applicant agrees that it will notify Bank in writing at 
least thirty (30) days prior to the last day specified in the Credit by which Bank must give such 
notice of the pending expiration date.  In the event Applicant fails to so notify Bank and the Credit 



-7-

is extended, Applicant’s Obligations under this Agreement shall continue in effect and be binding 
on Applicant with regard to the Credit as so extended.

SECTION 10. WAIVER OF DEFENSE; JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY.

Applicant waives any defense whatsoever which might constitute a defense available to, or 
discharge of, a surety or a guarantor.  If more than one Person signs this Agreement or an 
Application hereunder, each of them shall be jointly and severally liable hereunder and thereunder 
and all the terms and provisions regarding liabilities, obligations and Property of such Persons 
shall apply to any liabilities, obligations and Property of any and all of them.

SECTION 11. TERMINATION.

This Agreement is a continuing agreement and may not be terminated by Applicant except 
upon (i) thirty (30) days’ prior written notice of such termination by Applicant to Bank at the 
address of Bank set forth on the most recent Credit issued hereunder, (ii) payment of all 
Obligations and (iii) the expiration or cancellation of all Credits issued hereunder.  
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, if a Credit is issued in favor of a sovereign or commercial 
entity, which is to issue a guarantee or undertaking on Applicant’s behalf in connection therewith, 
or is issued as support for such a guarantee, Applicant shall remain liable with respect to such 
Credit until Bank is fully released in writing by such entity.

SECTION 12. AMENDMENT; WAIVER.

Bank shall not be deemed to have amended or modified any term hereof, or waived any of 
its rights unless Bank consents in writing to such amendment, modification or waiver.  No such 
waiver, unless expressly stated therein, shall be effective as to any transaction which occurs 
subsequent to such waiver, nor as to any continuance of a breach after such waiver.  Bank’s 
consent to any amendment, modification or waiver does not mean that Bank shall consent or has 
consented to any other or subsequent Instruction to amend, modify, or waive a term of this 
Agreement or any Credit.

SECTION 13. COMMENCEMENT OF ACTION.

Any action or proceeding in respect of any matter arising under or in connection with 
Credits, the Applications or this Agreement must be brought by Applicant against Bank within the 
time period specified in Section 5-115 of the Uniform Commercial Code.

SECTION 14. JURISDICTION; WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL; GOVERNING LAW.

Applicant agrees to be bound by the provisions in the Credit Agreement relating to 
jurisdiction, venue, and waiver of jury trial and that such provisions shall also apply to this 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of 
the State of New York.



-8-

SECTION 15. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS.

The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Bank 
and Applicant and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that Applicant 
may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior 
written consent of Bank.  Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to 
confer any right or benefit upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, the Indemnified Persons 
and their respective successors and permitted assigns).

SECTION 16. COUNTERPARTS; INTEGRATION; ELECTRONIC EXECUTION.

This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on 
different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken 
together shall constitute a single contract.  This Agreement and the Credit Agreement constitute 
the entire contract and final agreement among the parties relating to the subject matter and may not 
be contradicted by evidence of prior, contemporaneous, or subsequent oral agreements of the 
parties.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy, 
emailed .pdf or any other electronic means that reproduces an image of the actual executed 
signature page shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

SECTION 17. SURVIVAL.

The provisions of Sections 2, 8(a), 11, 14 and 17 shall survive and remain in full force and 
effect regardless of the consummation of any transactions contemplated hereby, the 
reimbursement or repayment of any drawings or Obligations, the expiration or termination of the 
Credits or LOIs or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Applicant hereto has caused this Agreement to be duly executed 
and delivered by its respective authorized officer as of the day and year written below.

APPLICANT/OBLIGOR:

CLEAN ENERGY ALLIANCE

By:____________________________________
Name: ______________________________
Title: _______________________________



ANNEX I TO CONTINUING AGREEMENT

If Bank issues an LOI or endorses a bill of lading at the instruction of Applicant or 
otherwise pursuant hereto, Applicant agrees as follows:

Except as otherwise set forth in this Annex I or expressly set forth elsewhere in this 
Agreement, an LOI shall be deemed issued by Bank subject to the same terms and conditions set 
forth herein for Credits, including, without limitation, payment obligations, indemnification 
provisions and limitations of liability benefiting Bank and other Indemnified Persons.  Applicant 
shall be liable for payments made under any LOI on demand and otherwise in accordance with its 
absolute obligation to reimburse the Bank set forth in the Credit Agreement.  Bank shall have the 
right in its sole discretion and without notice to or approval of Applicant, to pay, settle or adjust 
any claim or demand made against or upon Bank in connection therewith without inquiry or 
determination, on Bank’s part, of the circumstances, merits or validity of any claim or demand.  
Applicant shall take whatever steps are necessary to obtain the shipping documents concerning the 
Released Merchandise.  Upon Applicant’s receipt of such shipping documents, Applicant shall 
deliver them to the carrier, duly endorsed by all parties whose endorsement is required by the 
carrier, and obtain from the carrier and deliver to Bank, the LOI and a release of Bank’s liability to 
the carrier.  Bank may make payments against any drawing under the Credit related to an LOI, 
whether or not the drawing shall comply with the terms and conditions of such Credit, without any 
liability whatsoever to Bank.  Applicant expressly acknowledges that Applicant may be required 
to reimburse Bank for payments made by Bank under both the LOI and such Credit with respect to 
the same Released Merchandise.  Applicant shall account by delivering to Bank, immediately 
upon the receipt thereof by Applicant, the proceeds of the sale of the Released Merchandise or the 
documents related thereto in whatever form received (with Applicant’s endorsement where 
necessary) to be applied by Bank to the payment of any drawing under the Credit.  If any proceeds 
shall be notes, accounts, acceptances, or in any form other than cash, they shall not be applied by 
Bank until paid in cash.  Bank shall have the option at any time to sell or discount these items and 
so apply the net proceeds, conditionally upon final payment of these items.  Applicant shall pay all 
charges in connection with the Released Merchandise and shall at all times hold it separate and 
apart from the Property of Applicant and shall definitively show such separation in all its records 
and entries.  Applicant shall at all times keep the Released Merchandise fully insured at 
Applicant’s expense in favor of, and to the satisfaction of, Bank against loss by fire, theft, and any 
other risk to which it may be subject.  Applicant shall deposit the insurance policies with Bank 
upon its demand.  If for any reason any of such policies fail to provide for payment of the loss 
thereunder to Bank as its interest may appear, Applicant hereby (1) assigns and makes the loss 
payable under any of such policies payable to Bank as its interest may appear, (2) assigns to Bank 
all of the avails and proceeds of any and all of such policies, and (3) agrees to accept such avails 
and proceeds in trust for Bank and to forthwith deliver the same to Bank in the exact form received 
(with the endorsement of Applicant where necessary).  Bank shall have no responsibility for the 
existence, quantity, quality, condition, value or delivery of any Released Merchandise or the 
correctness, validity or genuineness of the documents purporting to represent Released 
Merchandise.



EXHIBIT E

FORM OF ACCOUNT CONTROL AGREEMENT



EXHIBIT F

FORM OF INTERCREDITOR AND COLLATERAL AGENCY AGREEMENT



EXHIBIT G

FORM OF SECURITY AGREEMENT



Staff Report 

DATE: February 29, 2024 

TO: Clean Energy Alliance Board of Directors 

FROM: Gregory Wade, Chief Executive Officer 

ITEM 5: Consider Amendment of 2024 Community Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve an Amendment to the 2024 Community Advisory Committee Meeting Schedule. 

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
At the January 25, 2024 Regular Meeting, the Clean Energy Alliance (CEA) Board of Directors (Board) 

approved the 2024 meeting schedule for the Community Advisory Committee (CAC).  Subsequent to the 

Board action, it was brought to staff’s attention that the CAC Chair was not able to make the meetings at 

the day and time that had been approved.  

The amended schedule changes the meeting date from the first Thursday to the second Thursday of each 

even month, with the exception that the first meeting take place in March 2024.  Staff has confirmed 

availability of the Oceanside City Council Chambers, where the CAC meetings are held. 

The chart below reflects the change to the schedule: 

APPROVED MEETING DATE PROPOSED MEETING DATE 

March 7, 2024, 1 p.m. March 14, 2024, 1 p.m. 

April 4, 2024, 1 p.m. April 11, 2024, 1 p.m. 

June 6, 2024, 1 p.m. June 13, 2024, 1 p.m. 

August 1, 2024, 1 p.m. August 8, 2024, 1 p.m. 

October 3, 2024, 1 p.m. October 10, 2024, 1 p.m. 

December 5, 2024, 1 p.m. TBD (either cancel or schedule special meeting) 

Staff has confirmed availability of the Oceanside City Council Chambers for the proposed meeting dates. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The cost of the CAC meetings is included in the adopted FY 2023/24 Budget.  There are no new costs with 

this action. 



February 29, 2024 
CAC Schedule 

Page 2 of 2 

Submitted for Board consideration: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Gregory Wade 
Chief Executive Officer 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

None. 


	CEA JPA Meeting Agenda 02-29-2024
	CEA Board Meeting Minutes
	10-26-23 CEA Board Special Meeting Minutes
	10-26-23 CEA Board Regular Meeting Minutes
	11-9-23 CEA Board Adjourned Meeting Minutes
	01-25-2024 CEA Board Regular Meeting Minutes

	Item 1 - December 2023 Treasurers Report
	Item 2 - CEO Update
	Item 3 - Keyes and Fox Regulatory Report
	Item 3 - Attachment A

	Item 4 -  JPMorgan Amendment
	Item 4 - Attachment A
	Item 4 - Attachment B 
	Item 4 - Attachment C

	Item 5 - CAC 2024  Meeting Schedule Amendment



